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GAFISA S.A.

Corporate Taxpayer’s ID (CNPJ/MF) no. 01.545.826/0001-07
Corporate Registry (NIRE) No. 35.300.147.952
Publicly-held Company

Dear Shareholders,

Below we present for your appreciation the management proposal for the matters on the agenda of the Company’s Annual General
Meeting to be held on April 19, 2013:

1. Review the management accounts and examine, discuss and vote on the financial statements relative to the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2012.

We propose that the management accounts and financial statements for the 2012 fiscal year, as disclosed on March 11, 2013 on
the websites of the Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commission ("CVM") and the BM&FBOVESPA S.A. - Sdo Paulo Stock,
Commodities and Futures Exchange ("BM&FBovespa”) via the Periodic Information System (IPE) and on March 12, 2013 in the

newspapers O Estado de S&o Paulo and the Official Gazette of the State of Sdo Paulo
(“Einancial Statements”) be approved without reservations.

Considering that the Company recorded a loss in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, there is no proposal to be presented
on the distribution of profits, therefore impairing the presentation of information required by Annex 9-1-1I of CVM Instruction no. 481
of December 17, 2009 (“CVM Instruction 481/09"). For the same reason, we propose that no dividends be distributed.

As per Article 9, paragraph Il of CVM Instruction 481/09, the management’s comments on the Company’s financial situation are
detailed in Appendix | of this proposal.

In compliance with the provisions of Article 9, V and paragraph 1, Il of CVM Instruction 481/09, the opinion of the Fiscal Council
and the Audit Committee are available at the Company’s headquarters, on its Investor Relations website (www.gafisa.com.br/ri/)
and on the websites of the BM&FBOVESPA S.A. — Sdo Paulo Stock, Commodities and Futures Exchange
(www.bmfbovespa.com.br) and the Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commission (www.cvm.gov.br).

2. Establishment of the total management compensation for the 2013 fiscal year.

We propose that the total management compensation for the 2013 fiscal year be established at up to R$18,399,696.78 for the
current fiscal year, from January to December of 2013.

As per Article 12 of CVM Instruction 481/09, the information necessary for analysis of the management compensation proposal can
be found in detail in Appendix |l of this proposal.

Please note that the limit proposed above includes fixed and short-term variable compensation for the management, as well as any
benefits provided or supported by the Company. As further clarification, this amount does not include social charges or expenses
associated with the recognition of the fair value of stock options that may be granted by the Company and are only recognized in
the Company’s accounting, incurred under the Stock Option Plan previously approved by the Company's shareholders at General
Meeting.

3




Edgar Filing: Gafisa S.A. - Form 6-K/A

The Company maintains a short-term variable compensation program that is connected to achievement of specific goals that are
established, agreed upon and approved by the Board of Directors at the start of each year. For the 2012 fiscal year, a series of
goals was established, including the following mandatory metrics: (i) operating cash flow; and (ii) leverage (Net Debt + Obligations)
/ (Shareholders’ Equity + Minority Interests). For the 2013 fiscal year, the mandatory metrics will be: (1) leverage (Net Debt +
Obligations) / (Shareholders’ Equity + Minority Interests); and (2) net income.

We also inform that, on the Annual General Meeting held on 2012 was approved a global limit of compensation for management in
the amount of R$17,041,926.40, of which the total amount of R$16,317,927.63 was effectively paid. The total amount of
management compensation proposed in the Annual General Meeting held on 2012 was restated by inflation of the period, resulting
in the proposed amount for 2013.

3. Installation and establishment of the number of members that should compose the Company'’s Fiscal Council.

Considering that the term of office has ended, we propose the installation of the Company’s Fiscal Council. Once installed, in
compliance with the provisions of Article 43 of the Company’s Bylaws, we propose that the Company’s Fiscal Council be composed
of 3 (three) sitting members with an equal number of alternates.

4. Considering that the term of office has ended, election of the members of the Company’s Fiscal Council.

We propose the election of the following members and their respective alternates for a term of office that will end on the date of the
2014 Annual General Meeting, to wit, as sitting members: (i) Olavo Fortes Campos Rodrigues Junior, Brazilian, business
administrator, married, bearer of ID card (RG) no. 9.369.027 issued by SSP/SP and enrolled in the Individual Taxpayer’s Registry
(CPF/MF) under no. 769.488.977-20, resident and domiciled in Sdo Paulo, Sdo Paulo State at Rua Dr. José Maria Whitaker 310,
apto. 4, Edif. Figueira, CEP 05622-001, (ii) Adriano Rudek de Moura, Brazilian, accountant, married, bearer of ID card (RG) no.
13.126.515-5 issued by SSP/SP and enrolled in the Individual Taxpayer's Registry (CPF/MF) under no. 037.059.028-73, resident
and domiciled in Sao Paulo, Sdo Paulo State at Rua Verbo Divino, 1488, 7° andar, CEP 04719-904, and (iii) Luis Fernando Brum
de Melo, Brazilian, economist, single, bearer of ID card (RG) no. 6.064.143.776 issued by SSP/SP and enrolled in the Individual
Taxpayer’s Registry (CPF/MF) under no. 964.918.410-49, resident and domiciled in Sdo Paulo, Sdo Paulo State with offices at Av.
Paulista 2.300, 11¢ andar, Cerqueira César, CEP 01310-300; and as alternates: (i) Marcello Mascotto lannalfo, Brazilian,
economist, married, bearer of ID card (RG) no. 16.994.226-0 issued by SSP/SP and enrolled in the Individual Taxpayer’s Registry
(CPF/MF) under no. 101.947.028-39, resident and domiciled in Sdo Paulo, Sdo Paulo State at Rua Evangelina de Toledo Pizza
Wodianer, 165, casa 1, CEP 04640-055, (ii) Marcelo Martins Louro, Brazilian, business administrator, married, bearer of ID card
(RG) no. 19.994.703 issued by SSP/SP and enrolled in the Individual Taxpayer’s Registry (CPF/MF) under no. 118.319.918-02,
resident and domiciled in Sdo Paulo, Sdo Paulo State at Rua laia 127, CEP 04542-060, and (iii) Laiza Fabiola Martins de Santa
Rosa, Brazilian, economist, single, bearer of ID card (RG) no. 32.677.183-9 issued by SSP/SP and enrolled in the Individual
Taxpayer’s Registry (CPF/MF) under no. 294.953.408-29, resident and domiciled in Sdo Paulo, Sdo Paulo State with offices at
Avenida Paulista 2.300, 112 andar.

4




Edgar Filing: Gafisa S.A. - Form 6-K/A

As per Article 10 of CVM Instruction 481/09, the information relative to the candidates to the position of member of the Fiscal
Council supported by the Company is detailed in Appendix lll of this proposal.

5. Establishment of the total compensation of the Members of the Fiscal Council for the 2013 fiscal year.
We propose that the total compensation for fiscal council members for the 2013 fiscal year be established at up to R$186,000.00.

As per Article 12 of CVM Instruction 481/09, the information necessary for analysis of the management compensation proposal can
be found in detail in Appendix |l of this proposal.

S30 Paulo, March 18, 2013.

The Management

Gafisa S.A.
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APPENDIX |

As per Appendix 24, item 10 of CVM Instruction no. 480 of December 17, 2009

10. MANAGEMENT COMMENTS
10.1.

a) general financial condition and assets
The management believes that Company is one of the leading players in the real estate development market, operating nationally
with a focus on high-quality residential undertakings targeting all income brackets.

The Company’s revenue is largely derived from the development and sale of real estate projects. The Company recognizes the
revenue from these real estate projects during the construction period, based on a financial calculation related to the value of the
project on completion, and not when the sales contracts are signed. On a smaller scale, the Company also generates revenue from
the provision of real estate services, such as construction, technical and real estate management, to third parties. The Company
structures some of its projects through its subsidiaries or jointly controlled affiliates, set up as specific purpose enterprises (SPE).

The Company’s current working capital is sufficient for its present requirements and its cash position, including loans to third
parties, and to meet the financing of all its activities and cover its capital requirement, for at least the next 12 (twelve) months.

The Management understands that the Company has sufficient financial resources and shareholders’ equity to implement its
business plan and comply with its short-to-medium-term obligations.

In the fourth quarter of 2011, we implemented a new operating structure organized by brand, naming the respective executive
officers responsible for delivering results, redefining operations as follows:

e Gafisa: Focus on operations in its core markets, Sdo Paulo and Rio de Janeiro, where the business unit has performed
well due to its experience, accumulated know-how and strong, established supplier network, in addition to conclusion of
projects launched in non-core markets

e Tenda: Temporary reduction of operations until complete control over the financial and operational construction cycle can
be achieved to adjust its business model for new launches under the new structure, which depends on meeting basic
conditions in each strategic market (Sdo Paulo, Rio de Janeiro, Northeast and Minas Gerais): control over the financial
cycle through the launch of contracted projects and sale of units that can be immediately transferred to financial
institutions, control of the construction cycle with the use of aluminum frames to minimize this cycle and ensure greater
standardization, and the procurement of sufficient land bank to ensure operating continuity for projects with minimum
scale; and

e Alphaville: prioritized capital allocation to the business unit, maintaining balance between growth and profitability.

e Corporate: Creation of the Gafisa Service Center (CSG) that is responsible for supporting the brands as they execute their
"middle” operations, including accounts payable, accounts receivable, accounting, collections, and credit analysis, among
others, to allow each brand to focus 100% on operations.

As a result of these changes and reviews, the Company registered adjustments and provisions on the order of R$889.5 million
(31% in Gafisa and 69% in Tenda) distributed among the years of 2010 and 2011 (83% accounted in 2011 and 17% in 2010).
These adjustments and provisions did not impact the Company’s liquidity or its ability to honor its commitments, improved by the
successful execution of these structural and operational changes. The consolidated operational cash flow of R$1.04 billion
exceeded the maximum guidance for 2012 of between R$600.000 and R$800.000 million.
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Throughout 2012, the Company laid the foundations to generate solid, consistent returns for shareholders. The Company has
positioned itself conservatively, prioritizing cash flow and net debt reduction, restructuring the debt profile and reducing launches,
while still generating an appropriate volume of business.

As a result of these initiatives, Gafisa currently enjoys a comfortable cash position that is sufficient to finance our operations and
honor our obligations for 2013. With these actions, the Company is clearly seeing a turnaround in its recent history.

The key indicators of the Company have improved significantly. The Gafisa Group closed 2012 with R$1.68 billion in cash and cash
equivalents, up over the R$983.660 million reported at the close of 2011. The Company’s total debt remained stable at R$4.24
billion, compared to R$4.17 billion in 2011, while net debt fell from R$3.24 billion in the previous year to R$2.56 billion on
December 31, 2012 due to the Company's operating cash flow.

Leverage as measured by debt/shareholders' equity, fell to 0.95x on December 31, 2012, compared to 1.18x on December 31,
2011. Excluding Project Finance, this net debt/equity ratio reached 15%, down 31% over the 46% reported at the close of 2011.

b) capital structure and possibility of share or quota redemption

The Company'’s shareholders’ equity on December 31, 2012 was R$2.692 billion, down 2.0% or R$54.7 million over December 31,
2011.

On December 31, 2012, the Company’s cash position was R$1,681 million. On the same date, Gafisa’s debt and obligations to
investors totaled R$ R$2,559 billion, resulting in a net debt and obligations with investors of shareholders' equity and minority
interests of 95.0%, compared to 118.1% on December 31, 2011.

The Company'’s shareholders’ equity on December 31, 2011 was R$2.7 billion, down 24% or R$885 million over December 31,
2011. This reduction is chiefly due to the R$889.5 million in adjustments, with 31% at Gafisa and 69% at Tenda, distributed among
2010 and 2011 in the proportion of 83% recorded in 2011 and 17% in 2010.

On December 31, 2011, the Company’s cash position was R$983.660 million. On the same date, Gafisa’s debt and obligations to
investors totaled R$ R$3.2 billion, resulting in a net debt and obligations with investors of shareholders' equity and minority
interests of 118.1%, compared to 68.6% on December 31, 2010.

There is no condition for redemption of shares issued by the Company other than those provided by law and there are no
provisions in the Company’s Bylaws regarding the formula for the calculus of the amount of redemption.

The Company obtains financing for its operations by means of its own capital or from third parties, and there is no standards
previously defined for which source shall be adopted for each operation.

c) capacity for payment in relation to the financial commitments assumed

We issued the fifth series of Company debentures in 2008, raising R$250 million, and invested most of the financial resources
raised in the previous fiscal year due to the financial crisis that affected key global markets. On December 31, 2008, we posted a
net debt together with obligations to investors of R$1,247 million, representing 59.8% of shareholders’ equity and minority interests
on the same date.
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We issued the Company’s sixth and seventh series of debentures in 2009, raising R$250 million and R$600 million, respectively, for
the Company. On December 31, 2009, we posted a net debt together with obligations to investors of R$1,998 million, representing
83.8% of shareholders’ equity and minority interests on the same date.

In March of 2012, we issued shares, raising approximately R$1 billion. In November of 2012, we issued the eighth series of
Company debentures, raising R$300 million. On December 31, 2010, we posted a net debt together with obligations to investors of
R$2.466 million, representing 67.9% of shareholders’ equity and minority interests on the same date.

We raised about R$840 million in 2011: R$230 million through Trade Promissory Notes, R$530 million by CCB-I and R$80 million
through creation of paid usufruct over subsidiary dividends. On December 31, 2011, we posted a net debt together with obligations
to investors of R$3.245 million, representing 118.1% of shareholders’ equity and minority interests on the same date.

In 2012, we raised about R$360 million: R$80 million through Trade Promissory Notes and R$280 million by CCB-I. On December
31, 2012, we posted a net debt together with obligations to investors of R$2,559 million, representing 95.0% of shareholders’ equity
and minority interests on the same date.

As a result, we believe that our existing financial resources and operating cash flow generation will be sufficient to meet our liquidity
needs and financial commitments already contracted.

d) sources of financing for working capital and investments in non-current assets used

As and when appropriate, the Company takes out debt with Brazil’'s Housing Finance System (SFH), which offers lower interest
rates than in the private market, and the amortization of which is made through the transfer of clients’ receivables from banks. The
management intends for the Company to continue with its strategy to maintain low debt rates, made up largely of operations with
the SFH, debentures with the federal savings bank, the Caixa Econdémica Federal (CEF), or long-term operations.

The Company’s operations are mainly financed with real estate financing, the securitization of receivables and, in greater part, its
operating cash flow. If necessary, and in accordance with market demand, the Company takes out long-term financing for the sale
of its project developments.

In addition, the Company uses proceeds from debenture issues as a source of working capital (for more details about Company’s
debenture issues please refer to ltem 18.5).

Furthermore, in order to minimize the Company’s working capital requirement and maximize the return, it transfers to banks and
sells on the market its portfolio of receivables from the units already completed.

In 2010, Company once again used the SFH, working capital and resources derived from debentures issues as sources of
financing.

In 2011, Company used SFH, working capital and resources derived from Promissory Notes issuing as sources of financing.

In 2012, Company used SFH, working capital and resources derived from Promissory Notes issuing as sources of financing.

e) sources of financing for working capital needs and investments in non-current assets intended to be used to cover
liquidity shortfalls

10
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The Company does not currently have any approved line of credit for new working capital requirements, as the existing limit has
already been fully drawn down. However, this does not exclude the possibility of structuring or obtaining new lines of credit for
working capital depending on the instruments available and existing market conditions when contracted. The Company’s current
profile of financing for working capital is mainly comprised of debentures, bank credit notes (CCB) and Promissory Notes (NP). For
more information about Company’s indebtedness, please refer to explanatory notes 10 and 11 in the Standardized Financial
Statements and Item 10.1(f) of the Reference Form.

f) levels of indebtedness and debt characteristics

As of December 31, 2012:

Debentures

SFH

Working Capital

Total consolidated debt

% Total

To
Total To Dec/2012 To Dec/2013  To Dec/2014 After 2016
Dec/2015

1,735,903 346,360 529,281 500,000 156,642 203,620
980,667 498,192 341,021 134,931 6,523 0
1,199,776 314,291 429,207 271,154 155,360 29,764
3,916,346 1,158,843 1,299,509 906,085 318,525 233,384
29.6% 33.2% 23.1% 8.1% 6.0%

Debt Breakdown

Debentures
Bradesco
HSBC

Banco do Brasil
Others

Debt Breakdown

As of December 31, 2011:

R$ ‘000

Debentures
SFH
Working Capital

R$ ‘000 %
1,735,903 44%
517,332 13%
231,018 6%
309,523 8%
1,122,570 29%

To
To Dec/2012 To Dec/2013  To Dec/2014 After 2016
Dec/2015
1,899,200 1,899,200
684,642 287,550 136,928 74,763 92,016 93,385
1,171,967 480,506 351,590 138,225 192,203 9,443

11
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Total consolidated debt 3,755,809 2,667,256 488,518 212,988
% Total 71% 13% 6%

284,219 102,828
8% 3%

Debt Breakdown

R$ ‘000
Debentures 1,899,200
Bradesco 601,996
Votorantim 252,622
HSBC 245,476
Banco do Brasil 244,294
Others 512,221

As of December 31, 2010:

To Dec/2011 To Dec/2012  To Dec/2013

Dec/2014
558,708 299,578

247,198 -
805,906 299,578

Debentures 1,879,932 26,532 272,557 722,557
SFH 745,707 548,303 156,760 40,644
Working Capital 664,471 249,600 88,405 79,268
Total consolidated debt 3,290,110 824,435 517,722 842,469
% Total 25% 16% 26%

Y%
50.57%
16.03%

6.73%
6.54%
6.50%
13.64%

After 2015

24% 9%

Debt Breakdown

R$ ‘000
Debentures 1,879,932
Itat Unibanco 383,314
Santander 246,500
Market 307,810
Votorantim 222,450
Banco do Brasil 113,625
Others 136,479

Yo
57.14%
11.65%

7.49%
9.36%
6.76%
3.45%
4.15%
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The Company’s indebtedness on December 31, 2010 was R$3.290 billion, mainly due to the issue of new debentures during 2010.
The Company’s indebtedness on December 31, 2011 was R$3.756 billion, mainly due to the issue of new bank credit notes (CCB).

The Company’s indebtedness on December 31, 2012 was R$3.916 billion, mainly due to the issue of new bank credit notes (CCB)
and Promissory Notes. Among the main metrics used by the Company to calculate the level of its indebtedness is the level of net
debt in relation to shareholders’ equity. On December 31, 2011, this indicator reached 118.1%, falling to 95.0% at the end of
December of 2012. This reduction reflects cash flow in the period, despite the increase in gross debt. The Company’s long-term
goal is to maintain this ratio below 70%.

For more details about Company’s indebtedness as a result of the issuance of debentures, please see item 18.5 below.

g) use limits of contracted financing

During the fiscal years ending on December 31, 2010, 2011 as well as December 31, 2011, the financing contracted by the
Company for construction from the largest banks in Brazil under the scope of the SFH consist of financial resources for exclusive
use in the works of the respective project undertakings. The resources are freed up during the physical and financial development
of the project as required.

The Company’s position in terms to the lines of financing extended by the SFH in December 2010 stood at R$2.4 billion, with an
outstanding balance of R$745.7 million, and in 2011, SFH lending totaled R$2.2 billion with an outstanding balance of R$684.6
million.

On December 31, 2012, Company’s position in terms of the lines of financing extended by the SFH was R$2.8 billion, with an
outstanding balance of R$981 million.

Company has not signed any financial instruments with exposure to variations in the foreign exchange rate.

h) significant alterations in each item of the financial statements

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR

2012 2011 2010
(restated)
Gross operating revenue
Real estate development and sale and exchange 3,992,209 3,470,886 3,858,519
Provision for cancellations 252,993 (301,394) (182,832)
Rendering of construction services - - -
Deductions from gross revenue (291,920) (228,986) (272,637)
11
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Net operating revenue

Operating costs
Real estate development and sale

Gross operating profit

Operating revenue (expense)

Selling expenses

General and administrative expenses

Equity pick-up

Depreciation and amortization

Others

Expenses with impairment of non-financial assets

Gross profit before financial revenue and expense

Financial expenses
Financial revenue

Profit before income tax and social contribution and
attributable to minority shareholders

Expense with income tax and social contribution (current)
Revenue (expense) with income tax and social contribution
(deferred)

Total revenue (expense) with taxes

Net profit before minority interests

12

3,953,282

(2,941,025)

1,012,257

(308,333)
(346,693)

(87,584)
(97,842)

171,805

(287,569)

80,629

(35,135)

(42,753)

1,525

(41,228)

(76,363)

2,940,506

(2,678,338)

262,168

(393,181)
(251,458)

(83,428)
(34,540)
(102,485)

(602,924)

(252,876)

92,973

(762,827)

(73,207)

(69,155)

(142,362)

(905,189)

3,403,050

(2,460,918)

942,132

(266,660)
(236,754)

(33,816)
(12,173)

392,729

(210,202)

128,085

310,612

(11,834)

(10,294)

(22,128)

288,484
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(-) Net profit attributable to minority shareholders (48,141) (39,679) (23,919)
Net profit for the year (124,504) (944,868) 264,565
rating Results related to the Fiscal Years en December 31. 2012 compared with 2011

Gross Revenue from Sales and/or Services

The gross revenue generated from the development and sale of property and swaps totaled R$3.99 billion in the 2012 fiscal year,
an increase of R$521 million or 15% compared with the same period in 2011, while gross revenue was R$3.47 billion.

Deductions from Gross Revenue — Taxes on Property Sales and Services

The deductions from gross revenue related to taxes on property sales and services increased by 27.5%, from R$229 million in the
fiscal year ending on December 31, 2011 to R$292 million in the 2012 fiscal year.

Gross Revenue from Sales and/or Services

Consolidated net revenue for 2012, as recognized by the “PoC” method, increased 34% over 2011 to R$3.95 billion. Net revenue
for 4Q12 was R$920.82 million, down 13% over the R$1.06 billion reported in 3Q12. As compared to revenue of R$351.42 million
in 4Q11, 4Q12 revenue was up 162%. During the quarter, the Gafisa brand accounted for 47% of net revenues, Alphaville for 31%
and Tenda for the remaining 22%.

Cost of Development and Sale of Property

The cost of development and sale of property and physical swap during the 2012 fiscal year totaled R$2.94 billion, up 10% over the
R$2.68 billion during the 2011 fiscal year.

Gross Profit

Gross revenue for the period was R$1,102.3 million, compared to R$262.2 million in 2011. The variation refers to, mostly, the
adjustments in 2011 and the minor participation in projects in non-prioritized location. Gross margin was at 25.6% compared to
8.9% in the previous year.

Selling expenses

Selling expenses in 2012 totaled R$308.333 million, representing an increase of 22% compared to the R$393.181 million posted in
2011. Selling expenses during 2011 represented 8% of net operating revenue, compared to 13% in 2011.

General and Administrative Expenses and Expenses Arising from the Stock Option Plan

General and administrative expenses totaled R$346.693 million in the 2012 fiscal year compared to R$251.458 million in 2011, an
increase of 38% or R$95.235 million, mainly due to: (1) provision for distribution of variable compensation and expenses related to
the stock option plan, representing 49% and 9% of the total annual variation, respectively; (2) other expenses related to services
provided that represented 24% of the annual variation, chiefly expenses with audit services;
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(3) increased administrative expenses relative to the expansion of Alphaville operations as a result of its increased contribution to
the group that represented 11% of the total annual variation.

In 2011, provisions for variable compensation were not constituted, except at Alphaville as performance data for each brand is
measured independently. The amount provisioned in the year refers to variable compensation for 2,300 eligible employees.

With the 2012 results (comfortable liquidity position), we reviewed the Company’s goals for 2013 to balance the management
between profitability, investment and cash flow. Despite the annual bonus payment, eligibility is now based on bi-annual
performance due to the long-term cycle of the real estate business.

Depreciation And Amortization

The depreciation and amortization seen during the 2012 fiscal year totaled R$87.584 million, increasing R$5.1 million or 5% over
the R$83.428 million reported in 2011.

Other Operating Expenses

In 2012, our results reflected a negative impact of R$97.842 million, compared to R$137.025 million in 2011, due to a higher level
of contingency provisions in 2011.

Financial revenue

Despite the increased cash, financial revenue was up R$12,34 million to R$80,63 million at the close of the year as a result of
falling interest rates.

Financial expenses

Net financial expenses totaled R$287.57 million in 2012, compared to R$252.88 million in 2011, up 14% due to the increased
average debt balance (partially offset by the reduced basic interest rate), increased expenses with securitization and increased
bank fees.

Provision for Income Tax and Social Contribution and Deferred Income Tax

Income taxes, social contribution and deferred taxes for 2012 amounted to negative R$41.23 million, compared to R$142.36 million
in 2011 as a result of a reversal of deferred assets in the previous period.

Minority Interests

The stakes of non-controlling shareholders (minorities in subsidiaries in which Company has an investment) increased from
R$39.679 million to R$48.141 million in 2012 or 21%.

Net Profit (Loss)

The Gafisa Group closed 2012 with a net loss of R$124.50 million, compared to a net loss of R$944.87 million in 2011. The net
result was impacted by Tenda and Gafisa projects with lower margins, as well as the increased financial expenses, both of which
were partially offset by the net income of R$197 million reported by Alphaville in the period.

Operating Results related to the Fiscal Years ended December 31, 2011 compared with 2010
Gross Revenue from Sales and/or Services

The Gross Revenue from development and sales of real estate and permutation was of R$3.2 billion in the fiscal year ending on
2011, a reduction of R$506 million or 14% in comparison to the same period of 2010, when the Gross revenue was of R$3.7 billion,
reflecting the impact of elevated costs of the period, specially related to Construtora Tenda S.A., as well as the reversal of
revenues from contract cancellations in the period.
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Deductions from Gross Revenue — Taxes on Property Sales and Services

The deductions from gross revenue decreased by 16%, from R$273 million in the fiscal year ending on December 31, 2010 to
R$229 million in the 2011 fiscal year. This decrease was mainly due to the decrease in revenue as a result of the adjustments
above mentioned in the period.

Net Revenue from Sales and/or Services

Net revenue from sales/or services decreased by 14%, from R$3.4 billion in the 2010 fiscal year to R$2.9 billion in the 2011 fiscal
year. This decline is mainly due to adjustments related to the new strategic repositioning of Gafisa and the new operational model
adopted by Tenda: (i) review of budgets for construction costs; (ii) detailed analysis of receivables of Tenda (provision for contracts
cancellations); (iii) Company’s asset impairment; (iv) provision for fines for delayed construction at Gafisa and Tenda; and (v)
projects cancelled at Construtora Tenda S.A

Cost of Development and Sale of Property

The cost of development and sale of property and physical swap during 2011 fiscal year totaled R$2.8 billion, up 9% over the
R$2.5 billion during the 2010 fiscal year. This increase derives from the increased construction project volume.

Gross Result

Gross profit in 2011 totaled R$262 million, representing a 72% decrease compared to the R$942 million profit reported in 2010.
This decrease can largely be attributed to adjustments of 2011 related to the review of Company’s strategy and new operational
model of Tenda, as mentioned above. This review deteriorated Company’s gross margin for activities in 2011, which declined to
9%, compared to 28% in 2010.

Selling expenses

Selling expenses in 2011 totaled R$393 million, representing an increase of 47% compared to the R$267 million posted in 2010.
Selling expenses during 2011 represented 13.4% of net operating revenue, compared to 7.8% in 2010.

General and Administrative Expenses and Expenses Arising from the Stock Option Plan

General and administrative expenses totaled R$251 million in the 2011 fiscal year compared to R$237 million in 2010, an increase
of 6% or R$14.7 million, below inflation (IPCA - 6.5%) in the period. These expenses were comprised of profit sharing for
employees and management and other administrative expenses.

Depreciation And Amortization

The depreciation and amortization seen during the 2011 fiscal year totaled R$83 million, increasing over the R$34 million reported
in 2010. Depreciation of sales stands accounted for 6% of the expenses in the period.

Other Operating Expenses

In 2011, our results reflected a negative impact of R$79.2 million, compared to R$18.9 million in 2010, primarily due to a higher
level of contingency provisions in the fourth quarter, reflecting a more conservative stance and a write-off of R$57.9 million
(Construtora Tenda S.A.) and R$37.9 million (Gafisa) in expenses related to a lesser appraisal of the land bank, as a result of the
reduced geographic expansion at Gafisa.

Financial revenue
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Financial revenue decreased by R$93 million in the 2011 fiscal year, compared to the R$128 million reported in 2010, a reduction
of 27% in the annual comparison mainly due to lower cash position. The difference is mainly due to the decrease in financial
revenues of 27%.

Financial expenses

Net financial expenses totaled R$253 million in 2011, compared to net financial expenses of R$210 million in 2010, up 20% due to
increased leverage and, therefore, expenses with interest.

Provision for Income Tax and Social Contribution and Deferred Income Tax

Social contribution and income tax in 2011 totaled R$142 million, 543% higher than in 2010, when the same totaled R$22 million.
In the 2011 and 2010 fiscal years, the effective combined rates for income tax and social contribution, calculated as a percentage
of pre-tax profit, were 20.5% and 7.2%, respectively. This variation is due to the provision for full loss constituted over deferred
assets as a result of the failure to realize the deferred income tax and social contribution assets.

Minority Interests

The stakes of non-controlling shareholders (minorities in subsidiaries in which Company has an investment) increased from R$24
million in 2010 to R$40 million in 2011 or 66%.

Net Profit (Loss)

Loss for the 2011 fiscal year was R$945 million, representing a 457% decrease compared to the R$265 million profit reported in
2010.

Operating Results related to the Fiscal Years ended December 31, 2012 compared with 2011 — by Operating Segment

Gafisa S/A. (i) Tenda AUSA Total 2012
Net operating revenue 2,018,100 1,125,670 809,512 3,953,282
Operating Cost (1,572,948) (977,472) (390,605) (2,941,025)
Gross operating profit 445,152 148,198 418,907 1,012,257

Gafisa S/A. (i) Tenda AUSA Total 2011
Net operating revenue 1,821,925 445,982 672,599 2,940,506
Operating Cost (1,601,727) (725,459) (351,152) (2,678,338)
Gross operating profit 220,198 (279,477) 321,447 262,168

(i) Includes all subsidiaries except Construtora Tenda S.A. and Alphaville Urbanismo S.A.
Company - Gafisa Segment
Gross Revenue from Sales and/or Services

Net revenue from sales/or services increased by 11%, from R$1.82 billion in the 2011 fiscal year to R$2.01 billion in the 2012 fiscal
year. In 2012, the Gafisa segment accounted for 51% of the Company’s consolidated net revenue.

16

19



Edgar Filing: Gafisa S.A. - Form 6-K/A

Cost of Development and Sale of Property

The cost of development and sale of property and physical swap during the 2012 fiscal year totaled R$1.57 billion, down 2% over
the R$1.60 billion during the 2011 fiscal year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit in 2012 totaled R$445 million, representing a 102% increase compared to the R$220 million profit reported in 2011. In
2012, gross margin generated by the Company’s property sales increased to 22%, compared to 12% in 2011.

Construtora Tenda S.A.
Gross Revenue from Sales and/or Services

Net revenue from sales/or services increased by 152%, from R$445.9 million in 2011 to R$1.12 billion in the 2012 fiscal year. In
2012, Construtora Tenda S.A. accounted for 22% of the Company’s consolidated net revenue.

Cost of Development and Sale of Property

The cost of development and sale of property and physical swap during the 2012 fiscal year totaled R$977 million, up 35% over the
R$725 million during the 2011 fiscal year.

Gross Profit

The gross profit for the 2012 fiscal year was R$148 million, compared to negative R$279 million in 2011. Margins increased from
-63% in 2011 to 13% in 2012.

Alphaville Urbanismo S.A.
Gross Revenue from Sales and/or Services

Net revenue from sales/or services increased by 20%, from R$673 million in the 2011 fiscal year to R$809 million in the 2012 fiscal
year. In 2012, Alphaville Urbanismo S.A. accounted for 20% of the Company’s consolidated net revenue.

Cost of Development and Sale of Property

The cost of development and sale of property and physical swap during the 2012 fiscal year totaled R$391 million, up 1% over the
R$351 million during the 2011 fiscal year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit in 2012 totaled R$418,2 million, representing a 30% increase compared to the R$321 million profit reported in 2011. In
2012, gross margin generated by the Company’s property sales increased to 52%, compared to 48% in 2011.

Operating Results related to the Fiscal Years ended December 31, 2011 compared with 2010 — by Operating Segment
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Gafisa S/A. (i) Tenda AUSA Total 2011
Net operating revenue 1,821,925 445,982 672,599 2,940,506
Operating cost (1,601,727) (725,459) (351,152) (2,678,338)
Gross operating profit 220,198 (279,477) 321,447 262,168
Gafisa S/A. (i) Tenda AUSA Total 2010
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
Net operating revenue 1,894,498 1,061,588 446,964 3,403,050
Operating cost (1,477,751) (731,991) (251,176) (2,460,918)
Gross operating profit 416,747 329,597 195,788 942,132

(1) Includes all subsidiaries except Construtora Tenda S.A. and Alphaville Urbanismo S.A.

Company - Gafisa Segment

Gross Revenue from Sales and/or Services

Net revenue from sales/or services decreased by 3.8%, from R$1.894 billion in the 2010 fiscal year to R$1.821 billion in the 2011
fiscal year. This decline is related to the reversal of revenues due to cost adjustments. In 2011, the Gafisa segment accounted for
62% of the Company’s consolidated net revenue.

Cost of Development and Sale of Property

The cost of development and sale of property and physical swap during the 2011 fiscal year totaled R$1.6 billion, up 8.4% over the
R$1.5 billion during the 2010 fiscal year. This increase was mainly due to an impairment of development expenses related to the
process of the Company’s land bank acquisition and also reflects review in the estimated costs, leading to reversal of revenues at
the Company, related to construction managed by third parties and discontinued regions.

Gross Profit

O lucro bruto no exercicio de 2011 foi R$220 milhdes, representando uma redugdo de 47,2% em comparagdo com o lucro de
R$417 milhdes no exercicio de 2010. A redugéo no lucro bruto é essencialmente atribuida aos ajustes efetuados em 2011
decorrentes do redirecionamento da estratégia de Gafisa para concentrar suas operagdes nas pragas de Sao Paulo e Rio de
Janeiro. Em 2011, a margem bruta gerada pela Companhia reduziu para 12% em comparagao aos 22% no mesmo periodo em
2010.

Gross profit in 2011 totaled R$220 million, representing a 47.2% decrease compared to the R$417 million reported in 2010. The
decrease in gross profit was essentially driven by the adjustments of 2011 related to the new strategy for Gafisa to concentrate its
operation in Sdo Paulo and Rio de Janeiro. In 2011, gross margin generated by the Company’s reduced to 12% in comparison to

22%, in the same period of 2010. Construtora Tenda S.A.
Gross Revenue from Sales and/or Services

Net revenue from sales/or services decreased by 58%, from R$1.0 billion in 2010 to R$446 million in the 2011 fiscal year. In 2011,
Construtora Tenda S.A. accounted for 15% of the Company’s consolidated net revenue. The main reasons for the decline were (i)
excessive costs of construction; (ii) cancellation of projects; (iii) cancellation of contracts of sold units; (iv) fines for delayed
deliveries; and (v) impairment of assets.
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Cost of Development and Sale of Property

The cost of development and sale of property and physical swap during the 2011 fiscal year totaled R$725.5 billion, up 20% over
the R$731.9 million during the 2010 fiscal year, a decrease of 0.9% in comparison to the previous year.

Gross Profit

The gross loss for the 2011 fiscal year was R$279 million, compared to R$330 million in 2010. Sales margins fell from 27% in 2010
to -63% in 2011 due to adjustments with excessive costs, provisions for cancelled contracts, cancelled projects, cancelled contracts
of sold units, fines for delayed deliveries, and impairment, as previously detailed.

Alphaville Urbanismo S.A.

Gross Revenue from Sales and/or Services

Net revenue from sales/or services increased by 51%, from R$446 million in the 2010 fiscal year to R$672 million in the 2011 fiscal
year. This increase was mainly due to large continuous demand for Alphaville Urbanismo S.A.’s products and recognition of the
revenues derived from sales contracted in previous periods. In 2011, Alphaville Urbanismo S.A. accounted for 21% of the
Company’s consolidated net revenue.

Cost of Development and Sale of Property

The cost of development and sale of property and physical swap during the 2011 fiscal year totaled R$351 million, up 40% over the
R$251 million during the 2010 fiscal year. This increase derives from the increased construction project volume in 2011 as
compared to 2010.

Gross Profit

Gross profit in 2011 totaled R$321 million, representing a 64.2% increase compared to the R$196 million profit reported in 2010.
The increase in gross profit was essentially driven by higher gross revenue from the large number of projects. In 2011, gross
margin increased to 48%, compared to 44% in 2010. This increase is explained by the higher sales margins to the extent that we
have recognized revenues from projects launched in previous years.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

2012 2011 2010
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 627,137 137,598 256,382
Securities, guaranteed investments
and restricted credit 1,054,151 846,062 944,766
Accounts receivable from
development and services 2,915,253 3,962,574 3,704,709
provided
Property for sale 2,130,195 2,049,084 1,707,892
Other accounts receivable and other
items 245,105 111,072 178,305
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Prepaid expenses and others
Inventory (Properties for Sale)

Derivatives
Total current assets

Non-current assets
Long term receivables

Accounts receivable from development and services provided
Property for sale

Related party transactions
Derivatives

Other accounts receivable and other

items

Investments in subsidiaries
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Liability and shareholders’ equity

Current liability
Loans and financing

Loans and financing — reclassified
from long-term

20

63,694
173,931

9,224
7,218,690

976,253
330,488

76,002

10,443
182,185

1,575,371

46,846
230,087
276,933

1,852,304

9,070,994

2012

812,483

73,532
93,188

7,735
7,314,358

863,874
798,206

104,059

143,850
1,909,989

52,793
229,484
282,277

2,192,266

9,506,624

2011

843,283

292,260

21,216

6,813,270

1,247,265
498,180

71,163

120,107
1,936,715

68,977
221,829
290,806

2,227,521

9,040,791

2010

797,903
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Debentures

Debentures — reclassified from long-
term

Obligations for property purchases
and advances to clients

Material and service providers
Taxes and contributions

Wages, social charges and interest
Minimum mandatory dividends

Provision for judicial rulings and
commitments

Obligations with investors and others
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Loans and financing
Debentures

Obligations for property purchases
and advances to clients

Deferred income tax and social
contribution

Provision for judicial rulings and

commitments
Obligations with investors and others
Total non-current liabilities

Shareholders’ equity
Capital stock
Treasury shares

Capital reserve and stock option

grant
Profit reserve
Accumulated profit (loss)
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346,360

572,111
167,008
259,160
105,372

13,389

58,570
590,137
2,879,590

1,367,960
1,389,543

91,706

81,477

149,790

418,561
3,499,037

2,735,794
(1,731)

36,964
0
(226,523)

303,239

1,595,961

610,555
135,720
250,578
75,002
11,774

34,875
662,692
4,815,939

721,067

177,135

83,002

134,914
827,473
1,943,591

2,734,157
(1,731)

18,076

(102,109)

26,532

420,199
190,461
230,888
72,154
102,767

14,155
149,873
2,004,932

612,275
1,853,399

177,860

13,847

124,537
621,768
3,403,686

2,729,198
(1,731)

295,879
547,403
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Fiscal Year En December 31, 2012 com

Cash and Equivalents — Cash and Banks, Marketable Securities

2,648,473
98,621
2,747,094

9,506,624

2011 rren

3,570,749
61,423
3,632,172

9,040,791

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents on December 31, 2012 totaled R$1.68 billion, compared to R$984 million on December

31, 2011, an increase of R$698 million, or 71%. This increase was mainly due to cash flow in the period.

Accounts receivable from development and services provided — Current and Non-Current

The following tables show the client accounts receivable from development and the sale of Company property, as well as the

receivables to be appropriated, and the maturity of the Company’s portfolio:

(in R$ million)

Real estate development

and sale clients

Current
Non-current

(in R$ million)
Receivables for
appropriation

Total receivables

22

2012
2,915

976
3,891

2012

4,039

7,930

On December 31,
2011
3,962
864
4,826

On December 31,

2011

4,686

9,612

2010
3,705

1,247
5,091

2010

4,113

9,204
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(in R$ million) On December 31,

As of
Receivables maturity as of December 31, 2012 Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Total 7,930.5 4,701.7 1,417.8 799.5 2275 784.0

On December 31, 2012, the balance of clients by real estate development totaled R$3.9 billion, compared to R$4.8 billion on
December 31, 2011. This increase is mainly the result of cash anticipation via receivables securitization operations and the
reduced volume of launches in the period.

All the balances of accounts receivable presented herein are adjusted to present value, as required by Technical Pronouncement
CPC 12 “Adjustment to present value.”

Property for Sale — Current and Non-Current

The balance of property for sale was comprised as follows in the periods indicated:

12/31/2012 12/31/2011 12/31/2010
Land bank 975,989 1,209,400 854,652
(-) Provision for land bank realization (7,663) (50,049) -
(-) Adjustment to present value (6,213) (8,183) (20,343)
Property under construction 936,436 1,181,950 924,066
Cost of property in recognition of provision for cancelled 181,592
394,830 174,774
contracts (Note 5 (i))
Completed units 380,542 119,342 272,923
2,460,683 2,847,290 2,206,072
Current 2,130,195 2,049,084 1,707,892
Non-current 330,488 798,206 498,180

On December 31, 2012, the balance of properties for sale, both current and non-current, totaled R$2.5 billion, compared to R$2.9
billion on December 31, 2011. At the close of 2012, 12% of total inventory was represented by finished units, while units under
construction and units up to 30% complete represented 26% of total units. We will continue to focus on inventory reduction, chiefly
at Gafisa, which accounts for 55% of final inventory.

Other accounts receivable - Current

The balance of other accounts receivable held by the Company on December 31, 2012 stood at R$245 million, 121% more than in
the same period in 2011. This increase was chiefly due to the increased construction volume.
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On December 31, 2012, the balance of intangible assets totaled R$230 million, compared to R$229 million on December 31, 2011.

Deferred income tax and social

contribution

On December 31, 2012, the balance of income tax and social contribution was R$81 million, down 2% over the R$83 million on
December 31, 2011. Liabilities are presented net of assets.

Liabilities

Loans, Financing and Debentures - Current and Non-Current

The Company'’s total level of indebtedness on December 31, 2012, was R$3.916 billion, an increase of 2% over the balance of
R$3.755 billion on December 31, 2011. This increase was mainly due to the increased average debt balance.

The table below shows the development of net indebtedness and obligations with investors in the Company:

Total Debt

(in R$ ‘000)

Transaction Type
Bank Credit Note - CCB
Promissory Notes
Project Finance (SFH)

Debt assumption from

Rate

1.30% to 2.20% + CDI
25% to 126% + CDI
TR + 8.3% to 12.68%

incorporation of subsidiary debt TR 12%

and others

Current

Non-current

Progra/lssuances Principal - R$ Annual Compensation

3rd program/1st
issuance -5th
issuance (i)

6th issuance (i)
7th issuance (iii)
8th issuance/1st
issuance(v)

8th issuance/2nd
issuance (v)

1st issuance (Tenda)

250,000 120% do CDI
100,000 CDI + 1,30%
600,000 TR + 10,09%

288,427 CDI + 1,95%

11,573 IPCA + 7,96%
600,000 TR + 9,54%

2012
1,118,553
80,159
980,667

1,064

2,180,443
812,483
1,367,960

Due Date

May 2013/ May 2018
August 2014
December 2017

October 2015

October 2016
October2015

Balance in
2011
937,019
231,068
684,642

3,881

1,856,610

1,135,543
721,067

2010
664,471

745,707

1,410,178
797,903
612,275

Consolidated

2012

129,569
137,763
601,200

291,956

13,411

2011

253,592
124,851
601,234

293,819

12,680
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562,004
1,735,903

346,360
1,389,543

Obligations for property purchases and advances to clients — Current and Non-Current

24

613,024
1,899,200

1,899,200
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The Company’s obligations for the purchase of property and client advances totaled R$664 million on December 31, 2012, a
decrease of 16% over the same period in 2011. Of this total, 86% or R$572 million mature in the short term. The R$92 million
maturing in the long-term is fully related to land bank acquisition.

The following table shows the development of obligations for the purchase of properties and client advances, as well as its
distribution between the short and long terms.

Balance of obligations for the acquisition of property and client advances

12/31/2012 12/31/2011 12/31/2010
Current 572,111 610,555 420,199
Non-current 91,706 177,135 177,860
Total 663,817 787,690 598,059

Material and service providers

On December 31, 2012, the balance of payables due to material and service providers was R$167 million, up 23% over the R$136
million on December 31, 2011. The increase in this obligation is due to the rise in real estate construction volume.

Taxes and contributions - Current

The balance of taxes and social contributions (current) on December 31, 2012 was R$259 million, which corresponds to an
increase of 3% compared with the balance on December 31, 2011 of R$251 million. This increase reflects the expansion in the
Company’s operations.

Income tax and social contribution — current and non-current

On December 31, 2012, the balance of deferred income tax and social contribution in current and non-current liabilities was R$340
million, up 2% over the R$334 million on December 31, 2011.

Provision for Contingencies - Current and Non-Current

The Company and its subsidiaries are parties in legal actions and administrative processes in various courts and with several
government bodies, as a result of normal business operations, involving tax, labor, and civil matters, among other issues. The
Company, based on information from its legal advisers, analysis of the pending lawsuits and, when concerning labor cases, based
on its prior experience in terms of the amounts claimed, made a provision considered sufficient to cover the estimated losses as a
result of the claims being made.

The table below shows the evolution of the Company’s provisions for contingencies:

Total
Consolidated Civil Tax Labor Consolidated
Balance on December 31, 2010 102,828 12,108 23,756 138,692
Supplementary provision 22,874 4,379 30,649 57,902
Payments and reversal of unutilized provision (11,525) (635) (14,645) (26,805)
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Balance on December 31, 2011 114,177 15,852 39,760 169,789
Supplementary provision 51,696 837 42,399 94,932
Payments and reversal of unutilized provision (27,258) (2,019) (27,084) (56,361)
Balance on December 31, 2012 138,615 14,670 55,075 208,360

The provision for contingencies related to civil processes on December 31, 2012, in the amount of R$139 million, also include the
cases in which Company was named as the successor in existing lawsuits in which the original debtor is a former shareholder of
Cimob Companhia Imobilidria, among other group companies. The plaintiff alleges that Company should be held responsible for
Cimob’s debts.

The Company is appealing all these decisions, believing that the Company’s inclusion in the lawsuits is legally unreasonable, thus
aiming to release its amounts and ensuring recognition that it cannot be held responsible for the debt of a company with which it
has no ties. The Company has won similar actions previously, definitively determining that it is not responsible for the debts of
Cimob Companhia Imobiliaria The final ruling on the Company’s appeal, however, cannot be foreseen at this time.

Other accounts payable — Current and Non-current

On December 31, 2012, the balance of other accounts payable was R$273 million, down 35% over the R$417 million on December
31, 2011.

Shareholders’ equity
The Company’s shareholders’ equity on December 31, 2012 was R$2.69 billion, down 2% over December 31, 2011.
Other accounts

Other accounts on the Company’s balance sheet not discussed in this analysis varied in the normal course of business or are of
little importance in terms of the consolidated balance sheet.

Balance Sheet relative to the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011 compared to 2010 Current assets
Cash and Equivalents — Cash and Banks, Marketable Securities

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents on December 31, 2011 totaled R$984 million, compared to R$1.2 billion on December
31, 2010, a reduction of R$217 million, or 18%. This reduction was mainly due to cash burn in the period and debt amortization.

Accounts receivable from development and services provided — Current and Non-Current

The following tables show the client accounts receivable from development and the sale of Company property, as well as the
receivables to be appropriated, and the maturity of the Company’s portfolio:
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(in R$ million) On December 31,
Real estate development 2011 2010 2009
and sale clients
(restated)
Current 3,962 3,705 2,009
Non-current 864 1,247 1,768
4,826 4,952 3,777
(in R$ million) On December 31,
Receivables for
appropriation 2011 2010 2009
(restated)
4,686 4,113 3,139
Total receivables 9,512 9,204 6,916
(in R$ million) On December 31,
As of
Receivables maturity as of December 31,
2011 Total 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Total 9,512.6 3,962.6 3,220.9 1,418.4 224.3 686.5

On December 31, 2011, the balance of clients by real estate development totaled R$4.8 billion, compared to R$5.1 billion on
December 31, 2010. The 5% decline was mainly attributed to a significant increase in cancelled contracts, as client receivables
return to the inventory. Receivables from services and construction in 2011 totaled R$11 million, compared to R$60 million in 2010,
representing a reduction of 81%, due to the completion of some projects carried out for third parties.

All the balances of accounts receivable presented herein are adjusted to present value, as required by Technical Pronouncement
CPC 12 “Adjustment to present value.”

Property for Sale — Current and Non-Current

The balance of property for sale was comprised as follows in the periods indicated:

12/31/2011 12/31/2010 12/31/2009
(restated)
Land bank 1,209,400 854,652 744,200
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(-) Landbank Impairment (50,049) - -
provision

(-) Adjustment to present (8,183) (20,343) (11,962)
value

Property under construction 1,181,950 924,066 895,085
Cost of units in the provision

recognition for cancelled 394,830 174,774 -
contracts (Note 5(i))

Completed units 119,342 272,923 121,134
Current 2,847,290 2,206,072 1,748,457

Non-current

On December 31, 2011, the balance of properties for sale, both current and non-current, totaled R$2.9 billion, compared to R$2.2
billion on December 31, 2010. This increase was due to the increased number of units under construction and a larger land bank.
At the close of 2011, 10% of total inventory was represented by finished units, while units under construction and units up to 30%
complete represented 20% of total units. We will continue to focus on inventory reduction, chiefly at Gafisa, which accounts for 57%
of final inventory.

Other accounts receivable - Current

The balance of other accounts receivable held by the Company on December 31, 2011 stood at R$111 million, 38% less than in
the same period in 2010. This increase was mainly due to the provision for potential cancelled contracts and projects cancelled due
to technical or financial unviability.

Intangible assets

On December 31, 2011, the balance of intangible assets totaled R$229 million, compared to R$222 million on December 31, 2010.
Amortization totaled R$10 million for CIPESA Empreendimentos Imobiliarios S.A.

Deferred income tax and social contribution

On December 31, 2011, the balance of deferred income tax and social contribution was R$83 million, up 499% over the R$14
million on December 31, 2010. Liabilities are presented net of assets. The increase is due to asset impairment.

Liabilities
Loans, Financing and Debentures - Current and Non-Current

The Company’s total level of indebtedness on December 31, 2011, was R$3.8 billion, an increase of 14% over the balance of R$3.3
billion on December 31, 2010. This increase was mainly generated by loans linked to project financing, reflecting Company’s
capacity to finance its ongoing projects and increasing its leverage.

The table below shows the development of net indebtedness in the Company:

Total Debt
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(in R$ ‘000)

Transaction Type

Bank Credit Note - CCB

Promissory Notes
Project Finance (SFH)

Debt assumption from incorporation of

subsidiary debt and others

Current

Non-current

Program/Issuances

2nd program/1st

issuance — 4th
issuance

3rd program/1st
issuance — 5th

issuance (i)

6th issuance (i)

7th issuance (iii)
8th issuance /1st
issuance (v)

8th issuance /2nd
issuance (v)

18t issuance (Tenda)

(iv)

Current

Non Current

Principal - R$

240,000

250,000

250,000

600,000

288,427

11,573
600,000

Edgar Filing: Gafisa S.A. - Form 6-K/A

Rate

1.30% to 2.20% + CDI
25% to 126% + CDI
TR + 8.3% to 12.68%

Annual

Compensation

CDI + 2% to
3.25%

107.20% do CDI

CDI + 2% to
3.25%
TR + 10.20%

CDI + 1.95%

IPCA + 7.96%
TR + 8.22%

TR 12%

Due Date

September 2011

(early paymento on -
September 2010)

June 2013

June 2014

December 2014

October 2015

October 2016
April 2014

Balance on December 31,

2011
937,019
231,068
684,642

3,881
1,856,610
1,135,543

721,067

12/31/2011

253,592

124,851
601,234

293,819

12,680

613,024
1,899,200

1,899,200

Obligations for property purchases and advances to clients — Current and Non-Current

2010
664,471

745,707

1,410,178
797,903
612,275

Consolidated

12/31/2010

253,355

109,713
598,869

293,661

11,898

612,435
1,879,931

26,532

2009
736,736

467,019

1,203,755
678,312
525,443

01/01/2010

198,254

252,462

260,680
595,725

611,256
1,918,377

122,377
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The Company’s obligations for the purchase of property and client advances totaled R$788 million on December 31, 2011, an

increase of 9% over the same period in 2010. Of this total, 77% or R$661 million mature in the short term. The R$177 million
maturing in the long-term is full related to land bank acquisition.

The following table shows the development of obligations for the purchase of properties and client advances, as well as its
distribution between the short and long terms.

Balance of obligations for the acquisition of property and client advances

31/12/2011 31/12/2010 31/12/2009
Current 610,555 420,199 475,409
Non-current 177,135 177,860 146,401
Total 787,690 598,059 621,810
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Material and service providers

On December 31, 2011, the balance of payables due to material and service providers was R$136 million, down 29% over the
R$191 million on December 31, 2010. The reduction in this obligation is due to the maintenance of the volume of Company’s
property construction projects.

Taxes and contributions - Current

The balance of taxes and social contributions (current) on December 31, 2011 was R$251 million, which corresponds to an
increase of 30% compared with the balance on December 31, 2010 of R$231 million. This increase reflects the expansion in the
Company’s operations.

Deferred income tax and social contribution — current and non-current

On December 31, 2011, the balance of deferred income tax and social contribution in current and non-current liabilities was R$83
million, up 499% over the R$14 million on December 31, 2010. This variation is due to losses related to the SPE and the net loss.

Provision for Contingencies - Current and Non-Current

The Company and its subsidiaries are parties in legal actions and administrative processes in various courts and with several
government bodies, as a result of normal business operations, involving tax, labor, and civil matters, among other issues. The
Company, based on information from its legal advisers, analysis of the pending lawsuits and, when concerning labor cases, based
on its prior experience in terms of the amounts claimed, made a provision considered sufficient to cover the estimated losses as a
result of the claims being made.

The table below shows the evolution of the Company’s provisions for contingencies:

Total
Consolidated Civil Tax Labor Consolidated
Balance on December 31, 2010 102.828 12.108 23.756 138.692
Supplementary provision 22.874 4.379 30.649 57.902
Payments and reversal of unutilized provision (11.525) (635) (14.645) (26.805)
Balance on December 31, 2011 114177 15.852 39.760 169.789

The provision for contingencies related to civil processes on December 31, 2011, in the amount of R$114 million, include the cases
in which Company was named as the successor in existing lawsuits in which the original debtor is a former shareholder of Cimob
Companhia Imobiliaria, among other group companies. The plaintiff alleges that Company should be held responsible for Cimob’s
debts.

The Company is appealing all these decisions, believing that the Company’s inclusion in the lawsuits is legally unreasonable, thus
aiming to release its amounts and ensuring recognition that it cannot be held responsible for the debt of a company with which it
has no ties. The Company has won similar actions previously, definitively determining that it is not responsible for the debts of
Cimob Companhia Imobiliaria The final ruling on the Company’s appeal, however, cannot be foreseen at this time.

Other accounts payable — Current and Non-current

On December 31, 2011, the balance of other accounts payable was R$471 million, up 42% over the R$279 million on December
31, 2010. This variation is mainly due to provisions in the amount of R$135 million.
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Shareholders’ equity
The Company’s shareholders’ equity on December 31, 2011 was R$2.7 billion, down 25% or R$3.6 million over December 31, 2010.
Other accounts

Other accounts on the Company’s balance sheet not discussed in this analysis varied in the normal course of business or are of
little importance in terms of the consolidated balance sheet.

Cash Flow

The table below summarizes that Company’s cash flow for the fiscal years indicated:

Fiscal years ended December 31,

(in R$ ‘000)
2012 2011 2010
Cash Flow
Operating 650,945 (808,711) (1,079,643)
Investment (322,894) (6,921) 122,888
Financing 161,488 696,848 920,197
Total 489,539 (118,784) (36,558)

Cash Flow relative to the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011

Operating activities

In 2012, net cash used in operations totaled R$651 million, compared to negative R$809 million in 2011.
Investment activities

The net cash used in investment activities, including the acquisition of assets, equipment and new investments, was negative
R$323 million in 2012.

Financing activities

The net cash generated by financing activities in 2012 totaled R$161 million, compared to R$697 million in 2011. This decline is
explained by increased receivables credit assignment.

Cash Flow relative to the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011 compared to 2010
Operating activities

The net cash used in operations in 2011 totaled R$809 million, compared with negative R$1.1 billion in 2010, mainly due to the
increase in provisions for doubtful accounts in the amount from R$1.1 million in 2010 to R$106 million in 2011.

Investment activities

The net cash used in investment activities, including the acquisition of assets, equipment and new investments, was positive R$8
million in 2011.
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The Company’s disbursements during 2011 were largely related to the investments made in assets, mostly land bank for future
developments, and equipment in the amount of R$(90) million, compared to the R$(63) million registered in 2010, an increase in
securities redemption in the amount of R$2.5 billion in 2011, compared to R$2.1 billion in 2010 and the investment in marketable
securities of R$(2.4) billion in 2011, compared to negative R$(1.9) billion in 2010.

Financing activities

The net cash generated by financing activities in 2011 totaled R$705 million, compared to R$920 million in 2010. This decline is
explained by increased receivables credit assignment.

10.2.

a) the company’s operating results

Description of any significant revenue items

The Company’s revenues come mainly from the development and sale of real estate properties. To a lesser extent, it also earns
revenue from providing real estate services, such as construction, technical and real estate management to third parties.

2012 2011 2010
Development, sale of real estate
properties and services of
construction to third parties 3,992,209 3,470,886 3,858,519
Provisions for terminations 252,993 (301,394) (182,832)
Deductions of net income (291,920) (228,986) (272,637)
[Total of liquid revenue 3,953,282 2,940,506 3,403,050

Factors that materially affected the operating results

The net operating revenue for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, was 12.6% higher than that of the previous year, at
R$3,403.1 million, due to the expansion of the Company’s operations and the recognition of revenues from sales effected in prior
periods.

The net operating revenue for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, was 13.6% lower than that of the previous year, at
R$2,940.6 million, due to detailed review of the Company’s operations and its strategy defined in the second half of 2011, which
includes, among other measures, detailed review of all construction budgets for its conclusion and review of the entire client
portfolio of Construtora Tenda S.A. to confirm adequacy to financial institutions’ requirements.

The net operating revenue for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 was 34.4% higher than that of the previous year, at
R$3,953.3 million, due to the recognition of revenue derived from sales contracted in previous periods and consolidation of the
Company’s operating strategy defined in 2011. The revenue recognized in 2011 was negatively impacted by construction budget
and cost review, as well as the review of the entire client portfolio of the Tenda brand.

b) changes in revenue attributable to variations in prices, exchange rates, inflation, changes in volumes or the
introduction of new products and services

The Company recognizes revenue from real estate developments according to their construction, based on a financial calculation
of project completion and not at the moment that the sale contract is signed. The main impacts on revenue variations between the
2010, 2011 and 2012 fiscal years are changes in sales volumes and the Company’s introduction of new products and services, as
well as a detailed review of the Company’s operations and strategy in 2011.
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The Company’s 34.4% revenue variation in 2012 as compared to 2011 is partially due to increased sales during previous periods.
The revenue recognized in 2011 was negatively impacted by the construction budget and cost review, as well as the review of the
entire client portfolio of the Tenda brand.

The Company recognizes the revenue from real estate developments according to construction based on a financial calculation of
project completion, not at the moment that the sale contract is signed. The primary impacts on variations in revenue between the
2009, 2010 and 2011 fiscal years are changes in sales volumes and the Company’s introduction of new products and services, as
well as the detailed review of the Company’s operations and strategy in 2011.

The Company’s revenue reduction of 13.6% in 2011 compared to the revenues from the same period in 2010 is mainly due to the
detailed review of all construction budgets for their conclusion and the review of the entire client portfolio of Construtora Tenda S.A.
to confirm their adequacy to the financial institutions’ requirements. In addition, as a consequence of the operating and strategy
review, the Company has chosen to temporarily reduce the Tenda brand’s operations until we are able to operate efficiently under
the segment’s guideline of production at competitive costs (using aluminum frame technology) and immediate transfer promptly
after sales of clients to the financial institution.

The Company’s 12.6% revenue variation in 2010 as compared with 2009 is partially due to the 23.3% increase in sales during said
periods. Likewise, the Company’s 73.7% revenue variation in 2009 as compared with 2008 is partially due to the 26% increase in
sales during said periods.

R$ ‘000 2011 2010 2009 2011 vs 2010 2010 vs 2000
Contracted Sales 2,633,104 3,352,288 4,006,380 -21% -16%
Launches 2,951,161 3,526,298 4,491,835 -16% 21%

Net revenue 3,953,282 2,940,506 3,403,050 34% -14%

c) impact of inflation, variation in the prices of the company’s main inputs and products, exchange ratesand interest
rates on the company’s operating and financial results

As mentioned in item 5.1 of the Reference Form, the main indexers used in Company’s business plan are the INCC, IGP-M and
CDI: INCC: (National Building Cost Index): most of the Company’s costs and all its revenue portfolio from unfinished projects are
adjusted according to this index.

IGP-M: (General Market Price Index): all of the Company’s revenue portfolio from completed projects is adjusted according to this
index.

CDI: (Interbank Deposit Certificate): all of the Company’s financial investments and roughly 50% of total indebtedness are pegged
to the CDI.

Exchange rates: the Company does not have any debts or amounts receivable denominated in foreign currency.
Furthermore, none of the Company’s significant costs are denominated in foreign currency.
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10.3. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND IMPACTS ON THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND RESULTS:

a) introduction or disposal of operations

The Company is active in practically all the income segments of buyers on the Brazilian housing market. To this end, it has a
business platform that is suitable for executing its future plans and it currently has no intention of introducing or disposing of any
operations.

b) establishment, acquisition or disposal of shareholdings

On December 30, 2009, the Company’s incorporation of all shares of Construtora Tenda S.A. traded on the BM&FBOVESPA — Séao
Paulo Stock, Commodities and Futures Exchange was approved, with Construtora Tenda S.A.’s shares being traded until February
8, 2010.With this merger, the Company now owns 100% of the total and voting capital of Construtora Tenda S.A. As a result, a
capital stock increase of R$388.0 million was carried out and a capital reserve of R$60.8 million was constituted.

On May 28, 2010, the Company's incorporation of all shares issued by Shertis Empreendimentos e Participagdes S.A., whose
principal asset is an equity holding representing 20% of the capital stock of Alphaville Urbanismo S.A., was approved. The purpose
of this merger was to enable the implementation of the second stage of the investment program provided for under the Investment
Agreement and Other Covenants executed by the Company and Alphaville Participagdes S.A. on October 2, 2006 to increase the
Company’s share of Alphaville Urbanismo S.A.’s to 80%. As a result of this merger, Shertis Empreendimentos e Participa¢des S.A.
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the issue of 9,797,792 new common shares to Alphaville Participacdes
S.A., previously a shareholder of Shertis Empreendimentos e Participagdes S.A., occasioned a capital stock increase of R$20.3
million.

c) exceptional events or operations

There were no exceptional events or operations.

10.4.

a) significant changes in accounting practices

Pronouncements (new or revised) and interpretations adopted starting in 2012 or applicable as of January 1, 2013
Pronouncements (new or revised) and interpretations adopted starting in 2012

The Company adopted all pronouncements (new or revised) and interpretations issued by the CPC that were in force on December
31, 2012.

Regarding the adoption of the pronouncements and interpretations listed below, which became effective as of January 1, 2012,
these pronouncements and interpretations had no impact on the Company's separate and consolidated financial statements as at
December 31, 2012. They are:

® CPC 17 (R1) — Construction Contracts - CVM Resolution 691 of November 8, 2012;

® CPC 18 (R1) - Investment in Subsidiaries and Affiliates - CVM Resolution 688 of October 4, 2012;
e PC 30 (R1) — Revenues - CVM Resolution 692 of November 8, 2012;
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® CPC 35 (R2) — Separate Statements - CVM Resolution 693 of November 8, 2012;

e CPC 40 (R1) — Financial Instruments: Disclosure - CVM Resolution 684 of August 30, 2012;-

e ICPC 08 (R1) — Accounting of proposed dividend payment - CVM Resolution 683 of August 30, 2012; and-

e ICPC 09 (R1) — Individual, separate and consolidated financial statements and application of the Equity Method - CVM
Resolution 687 of August 4, 2012.
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Pronouncements (new or revised) and interpretations applicable to fiscal years starting as of January 1, 2013

The Pronouncements (new or revised) and interpretations listed below, issued by the CPC and resolved on by the CVM, have
mandatory application for the fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2013. They are:

e CPC 18 (R2) - Investment in Subsidiaries, Affiliates and Joint Ventures - CVM Resolution 696 of December 13, 2012;
e CPC 19 (R2) — Joint Ventures - CVM Resolution 694 of November 23, 2012;

e CPC 33 (R1) — Benefits and employees - CVM Resolution 695 of December 13, 2012;

e CPC 36 (R3) — Consolidated Statements - CVM Resolution 698 of December 20, 2012;

e CPC 45 - Disclosure of shareholdings in other entities - CVM Resolution 697 of December 13, 2012; and

e CPC 46 - Fair value measurements - CVM Resolution 699 of December 20, 2012.

The Company is not an early adopter of these pronouncements (new or revised) and interpretations for its separate and
consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2012.

Based on preliminary analysis conducted to date, Management estimates that the adoption of CPCs 19 (R2) and 36 (R3) will
significantly impact the Company's consolidated financial statements in 2013 as certain investments in joint ventures will no longer
be proportionally consolidated and will be accounted for under the equity method.

As required by CPC 23 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Correction of Errors, in its consolidated
financial statements for 2013, the Company will adopt CPCs 19 (R2) and 36 (R3) retroactively (adjusting the comparative balances
of 2012) and the management, based on preliminary analysis conducted to date, identifies below its best estimate of the possible
impact on balances presented in 2012.

Impact of adoption 2012 balances, after
Balance of CPC 19 (R2) and adoption of CPC 19
presented in 2012 CPC 36 (R3) (R2) and CPC 36 (R3)
Balance sheet
Current assets 7,218,690 (1,118,030) 6,100,660
Non-current assets 1,575,371 (112,698) 1,462,673
Investments - 574,798 574,798
Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets 276,933 - 276,933
Total assets 9,070,994 (655,930) 8,415,064
Current liabilities 2,879,590 (399,751) 2,479,839
Non-current liabilities 3,499,037 (256,179) 3,242,858
Total liabilities 6,378,627 (655,930) 5,722,697
Shareholders’ equity 2,692,367 - 2,692,367
Total liabilities and shareholders’
equity 9,070,994 (655,930) 8,415,064
Income Statement
Net operating revenue 3,953,282 (383,752) 3,569,530
Operating costs (2,941,025) 293,443 (2,647,582)
Operating revenue (expense) (840,452) 18,123 (822,329)
Equity pick-up - 58,200 58,200
Financial results (206,940) 6,830 (200,110)
Income tax and social contribution (41,228) 7,156 (34,072)
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Net profit for the year

Cash flow
Operating activities
Investment activities
Financing activities
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(48,141)
(124,504)

650,945
161,488
(322,894)

695,734
(309,281)
(504,966)

(48,141)
(124,504)

1,346,679
(147,793)
(827,860)
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Except for the potential impacts resulting from the adoption of CPC 19 (R2) and CPC 36 (R3) identified above, Management
estimates that the adoption of the other pronouncements (new or revised) and interpretations should not significantly impact the
Company's separate and consolidated financial statements and in 2013.

b) Material effects of the changes in accounting practices

There were no material effects arising from the changes in accounting practices for fiscal years ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010.

c) reservations and emphasis in the auditor’s report

The report of the independent auditors on the financial statements for the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2012 emphasized the
fact that the separate (parent company) and consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the accounting
practices adopted in Brazil, as stated in Note 2.1 to the financial statements. The consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with the IFRS standards applicable to real estate development entities also consider Guidance OCPC 04 published by
the Accounting Pronouncements Committee which addresses recognition of revenue for this sector. Certain issues regarding the
meaning and application of the concept of continuous transfer of risk, benefits and control in the sale of residential units will be
analyzed by the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC). Furthermore, due to the project to publish a
revised standard for revenue recognition, IFRIC is discussing this matter, arguing that the concept of revenue recognition is
addressed in the standard currently under discussion. Thus, it is expected that the matter be finalized only after publication of the
revised standard for revenue recognition.

The report of the independent auditors on the financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 emphasized the
fact that the separate (parent company) and consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the accounting
practices adopted in Brazil, as stated in Note 2 to the financial statements. The consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with the IFRS standards applicable to real estate development entities also consider Guidance OCPC 04 published by
the Accounting Pronouncements Committee which addresses recognition of revenue for this sector. Certain issues regarding the
meaning and application of the concept of continuous transfer of risk, benefits and control in the sale of residential units will be
analyzed by the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC). The results of this analysis could mean that
real estate developers will have to revise their accounting practices regarding revenue recognition. Additionally, as described in
Note 2.1.3, the financial statements as at December 31, 2010 were adjusted for certain items to recognize adjustments to net
operating income and related tax effects arising from the review of construction budgets, imputed to the 2010 fiscal year.

The report of the independent auditors on the financial statements for the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2010 emphasized the
fact that the separate (parent company) and consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the accounting
practices adopted in Brazil, as stated in Note 2 to the financial statements. The consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with the IFRS standards applicable to real estate development entities also consider Guidance OCPC 04 published by
the Accounting Pronouncements Committee which addresses recognition of revenue for this sector, as explained in greater detail
in Note 2.4. Certain issues regarding the meaning and application of the concept of continuous transfer of risk, benefits and control
in the sale of residential units will be analyzed by the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC). The
results of this analysis could mean that real estate developers will have to revise their accounting practices regarding revenue
recognition.
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The Independent Auditors’ Special Review Report on the Quarterly Information (ITR) for June 30, 2010 emphasized the preparation
of the Quarterly Information (ITRs) in accordance with the accounting practices adopted in Brazil that were in effect on December
31, 2009, but not including CPC Technical Pronouncements, Interpretations and Guidance that came into effect, mandatorily, in
2010 and modify the accounting practices adopted in Brazil, pursuant to CVM Resolution no. 603 of November 10, 2009. Moreover,
the Independent Auditors’ Special Review Report of the Quarterly Information (ITR) for June 30, 2010 states that the statements of
income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flow for the quarter and half ended on June 30, 2009 were reviewed by other
independent auditors, who issued a Special Review report without reservation, on July 31, 2009. This relates to the management’s
decision to change its independent auditors, for strictly commercial reasons, as communicated to the market in a Notice to the
Market disclosed on August 18, 2009. That change was also conducted with the consent of the previous independent auditors.

10.5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES OF THE COMPANY:

The consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 were prepared in
accordance with the generally accepted accounting practices in Brazil (BRGAAP), which include the Brazilian Securities and
Exchange Commission (CVM) rules and the pronouncements, interpretations and guidelines of the Accounting Pronouncements
Committee (CPC). Specifically, the consolidated financial statements are in compliance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) applicable to real estate entities in Brazil, including Orientation OCPC 04 - Application of Technical Interpretation
ICPC 02 to Brazilian Real Estate Entities regarding the recognition of revenue from this sector and involves matters relating to the
meaning and application of the concept of continuous transfer of risks, benefits and control in the sale of real estate units.

Certain issues regarding the meaning and application of the concept of continuous transfer of risk, benefits and control in the sale
of residential units will be analyzed by the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) as requested by some
countries, including Brazil. Furthermore, due to the project to publish a revised standard for revenue recognition, IFRIC is
discussing this matter, arguing that the concept of revenue recognition is addressed in the standard currently under discussion.
Thus, it is expected that the matter be finalized only after publication of the revised standard for revenue recognition. The results of
this analysis could mean that real estate developers will have to revise their accounting practices regarding revenue recognition.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared based on the historical cost, except as otherwise stated, as described in the
main accounting practices summary below. The historical cost is normally based on fair value of the compensation paid in
exchange for assets.

Judgments. estimates and accounting premises
(i) Judgments

The preparation of the Company’s separate and consolidated financial requires that management make certain judgments and
estimates, as well as adopt premises that affect the values presented for revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the amount
of contingent liabilities, on the base date of the financial statements. Assets and liabilities subject to estimates and premises include
the useful life of a fixed asset, allowance for doubtful accounts and cancellations, allowance for construction delay fines, provision
for a reduction in recoverable value (impairment), deferred asset taxes, provision for tax, labor and civil contingencies and the
measurement of budgets for projects and financial instruments.

(i) Estimates and premises

The main premises related to the sources of uncertainty regarding future estimates and other important doubts about estimates on
the date of the balance sheet and that could result in different values to those booked, are discussed below:

a) Impairment of non-financial assets
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Management reviews, on annual basis or whenever a specific event occurs, the accounting value of the assets to evaluate events
or changes in the economic, operating or technological conditions that might indicate deterioration or loss of recoverable value.
Upon identification of impairment and if the net book value exceeds its recoverable value, a provision is created for devaluation,
adjusting the net book value to the recoverable value. Those losses are entered into the fiscal year’s result upon their identification.
The impairment test of intangible assets with undefined useful life and premium for expectation of future profitability is carried out at
least once a year or when the circumstances indicate loss by devaluation of the accounting value.

The book value of an asset or cash-generating unit is defined as the highest between the useful value and the net selling value.

To calculate the useful value of the asset, the future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate before
taxes that reflects the weighted average capital cost for the industry wherein the cash-generating unit operates.

The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include reorganization activities that the Company
has still not committed to, or significant future investment that would improve the asset base of the cash generating unit subject to
the test. The recoverable value is sensitive to the discount value used in the discounted cash flow method, as well as the future
expected cash receivables and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.

The net sales value is determined, whenever possible, based on a firm sales agreement in a transaction under commutative bases
between knowing and interested parties, adjusted by expenses attributable to the sale of the asset or, when there is no firm sales
agreement, based on the market price from an active market, or on the prices of the most recent transaction with similar assets.

b) Inventories for sale

The properties for sale are stated at cost of construction, which does not exceed their net realizable value. In the case of buildings
under construction, the portion in inventory corresponds to the cost incurred for units not yet sold.

The cost of properties for sale includes expenses incurred in acquiring land, construction (including foundation, structure, finishing
and costs of construction materials), own and outsourced labor costs, and financial costs directly related to the projects.

The land can be acquired for in single or several cash installments, exchanged for real estate units of the building to be
constructed, exchanged for finished units or units under construction of other projects or exchanged for receivables from future
sales ventures. The land cost for the exchanged units consists of the estimated cash sale value, which is the fair value recorded in
return for advances from exchange clients.

Interest on loans and financing directly linked to projects funded through the Housing Finance System and other lines of funding
whose resources are used to finance the construction and land acquisition are capitalized during the development and construction
phases and are appropriated to the result in the proportion of units sold.

The Company must, by policy, conduct annual testing for units under construction and completed units, comparing the unit cost of
construction with the sales value of units in inventory. The premises normally used for calculating the recoverable value of the
assets are based on the expected cash flows, economic viability of real estate projects that demonstrate the recoverability of
assets, or market value, all discounted to present value.

The classification of land between current assets and non-current assets is performed by the Management based on the expected
term for the launch of real estate projects. The Management periodically reviews the estimates of launches of real estate projects.

c¢) Transactions with stock-based payments

The Company measures the cost of transactions to be settled with shares with employees based on the fair value of the equity
instruments on the date they are granted. The estimated fair value
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of payments made with shares requires the use of a valuation model more suited to the granting of such equity instruments and
that depends on the terms and conditions they are offered under. This also requires the definition of more adequate data for the
valuation model, including the useful life of the option, volatility, dividend yield and corresponding premises.

d) Provision for lawsuits

The Company recognizes a provision for ongoing/pending tax, labor and civil cases. The estimate of the probability of loss includes
the evaluation of all the evidence available, the legal hierarchy, available jurisprudence, the most recent and pertinent decisions in
the courts and their relevance to the ruling in question, as well an opinion from external counsel. The provisions are revised and
adjusted to take any changes in circumstances into account, such as the statute of limitations, completion of tax audits or additional
exposure identified based on new matters or court rulings. The settlement of the transactions involving these estimates may result
in values different than those estimated as a result of the imprecision inherent in the process of determining their value. The
Company revises its estimates and premises at least annually.

e) Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet cannot be obtained from the relevant asset
market, it is determined using technical evaluation methods, including the discounted cash flow method.

The data for these methods is based on those practiced in the market, as and when possible. However, when this is not feasible,
discretion is required to establish the fair value. This judgment includes considerations about the data used such as, for example,
interest rate, liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in the premises concerning these factors may affect the fair value of the
financial instruments presented.

f) Budgeted Project Costs

The total budgeted costs, mainly comprised of the costs incurred and expected to be complete when the construction work is
concluded, are regularly revised during the course of the project and the adjustments based on that review are reflected in the
Company’s results. The effect of these reviews on the estimates affects the result, according to Technical Pronouncement CPC 23
—Accounting Policies, Change in Estimates and Correction of Errors.

f) Taxes

There are uncertainties concerning interpretation of complex tax regulations and about the value and time of future tax results. The
Company and its subsidiaries are subject, in the normal course of business, to investigations, audits, lawsuits and administrative
proceedings in tax and labor matters. Depending on the subject of the investigations, lawsuits or administrative proceedings filed
against the Company and subsidiaries, we may be adversely impacted, irrespective of the actual final result.

g) Realization of the Deferred Income Tax

The initial and following analyses of the realization of deferred income tax occur when is it probable that the taxable profit of the
next years will be available for offsetting the deferred tax asset based on results forecasts prepared and based on internal
assumptions and future economic scenarios that enable their total or partial use if full credit is constituted.

A summary of the financial information related to Company’s main accounting practices is shown below.
Revenue and expense recognition

(i) The revenue and costs related to the real estate development units sold and not concluded of are appropriated to the result
throughout the construction period according to the following procedures:

(a) For payments made in installments for completed units, the result is appropriated when the sale is made, independent of the
contractual term for these receivables.

(b) For sales of incomplete units, the following procedures are observed:
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e The cost incurred (including the cost of land and other expenses directly related with inventory formation) corresponding to

the units sold is fully appropriated in the result. For units not yet sold, the cost incurred is appropriated to inventory.

e The percentage of cost incurred for the units sold (including the cost of land) is calculated in relation to their total budgeted
cost, with this same percentage applied to the revenue from units sold, adjusted for the terms and conditions defined in
the sales contracts, thus determining the volume of revenue to be recognized directly proportional to cost;

e The amounts of sales revenue recognized which are higher than the values effectively received from clients are booked
under “Accounts Receivable from services provided” in current or long-term assets; The amounts received related to the
sale of units which are higher than the recognized revenue values are booked under the item: “Obligations for property
purchases and client advances”;

e The interest and monetary restatement over the balance of accounts receivable after the keys are delivered, as well as the
adjustment to present value of the balance of accounts receivable are appropriated to the result of contracted sales and
property sales as and when incurred, observing the accrual basis of accounting for the fiscal years — ‘pro rata temporis’;

e The financial charges on accounts payable arising from the acquisition of land and directly related to construction
financing are capitalized and registered to inventory of properties for sale and appropriated to the cost incurred with units
under construction until completion, observing the same appropriation criteria of the real estate development cost for the
units sold under construction, by deferred taxes, assets and liabilities;

e The tax levied and deferred on the difference existing between the real estate revenue and the accumulated revenue
subject to taxation are calculated and included in the accounting upon recognition of this revenue difference.

Other revenue and expenses, including advertising and publicity, are booked in the result when incurred.

(i) Construction services provided

Revenue derived from real estate services provided are recognized as the services are rendered and are linked to the activity of
construction management for third parties and technical consulting.

(iii) Swap operations

A land swap is intended for the receipt of third party land for settlement by delivery of apartments or the transfer of installments
from sales of real estate units. The value of the land acquired by the Company and its subsidiaries is determined based on the fair
value of the real estate units to be delivered. The fair value of the land is registered under liabilities as a component of the land
bank of properties for sale at the time of acquisition, in a contra account to advances from clients. The revenues and costs derived
from swap operations are appropriated into the result throughout the construction period, as previously described in item (b).

(iv) ICPC 02 — paragraphs 20 and 21

In compliance with the requirements of the abovementioned ICPC, the amounts of revenue recognized and of incurred costs are
shown in the income statement and advances received under the item “Obligations for real estate purchases and advances from
clients.”

Consolidation of Financial Statements

Company’s consolidated financial statements include the statements of Gafisa, its direct and indirect subsidiaries and its joint
ventures. Control over these entities is held when the Company has the power to control its financial and operating policies and is
capable of attaining benefits and is exposed to risk from its activities. The subsidiaries and joint ventures are fully and proportionally
consolidated, respectively, as of the date when full or shared control begins, until the date it ceases to exist. As of December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010 the consolidated financial statements include full consolidation of the following companies, respectively:
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Share %
2012 2011 2010
Gafisa and subsidiaries (*) 100 100 100
Construtora Tenda and subsidiaries (*) 100 100 100
Alphaville Urbanismo and subsidiaries (*) 80 80 80

The accounting practices have been applied consistently in all subsidiaries and joint ventures included in the consolidated financial
statements and the fiscal year of these companies coincides with that of the Company.

10.6. INTERNAL CONTROLS ADOPTED TO ENSURE THE RELIABILITY OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

a) efficiency of such controls, indicating possible flaws and the steps taken to rectify them

The Company’s Management, and especially the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial and Investor Relations Officer, is
responsible for implementing and maintaining a suitable internal control structure for the preparation of the financial statements.

The internal controls over the preparation of the Financial Statements are evaluated to ensure a reasonable level of confidence as
to the reliability of the accounting information and the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with Brazilian
accounting practices for outside disclosure. The Company’s internal controls over the preparation of the financial statements include
policies and procedures that: (i) reflect precisely and appropriately the Company’s transactions and asset disposal; (ii) provide a
reasonable degree of confidence that the transactions are recorded in such a way as to enable the preparation of the financial
statements in accordance with Brazilian accounting practices and that the Company’s receipts and payments are in strict
compliance with the authorizations granted by the Company’s management; and (iii) provide a reasonable degree of confidence
regarding the timely prevention or detection of any unauthorized acquisition, use or disposal of Company assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Due to their inherent limitations mentioned in item 10.6 (b) of this Reference Form, the Company’s internal controls over the
preparation of the Financial Statements could fail to identify or prevent errors. By the same token, any forecast assessment of their
future effectiveness is subject to the risk that the controls could become inadequate due to changing circumstances, or that the
level of compliance of the Company’s policies and procedures could diminish.

The Company’s Management performed an assessment of the internal controls on the preparation of the Financial Statements as at
December 31, 2011, based on the criteria established in the Internal Control —Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission - COSO, and, according to said methodology, concluded that, as of
December 31, 2011, the Company’s Internal Control structure for the preparation of the Financial Statements was considered to be
ineffective.

Finally, it should be pointed out that the Company meets all the corporate governance requirements of the BM&FBOVESPA’s Novo
Mercado and Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
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b) shortcomings and recommendations regarding internal controls mentioned in the independent auditor’s report

The Management lists below the shortcomings identified and recommendations regarding the internal controls mentioned in the
independent auditor’s report with respect to the financial statements for the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2011:

Shortcoming Identified

Controls and analysis over cash and cash
equivalents

The Company has certain controls to perform
the analysis on the characterization and
respective classification of certain investments
between cash and cash equivalents and
marketable securities. However, we identified
the need to improve these controls, since the
management interpreted that the accounting
classification was different from that
mentioned in the standard CPC 3 (R2) -
Statement of cash flows.

Effects of the business combination on
earnings per share

The auditor’s report that the Company has
made transactions of acquisition of shares in
certain companies in previous years some
involving a business combination, such as
Alphaville Urbanismo S.A. (“AUSA”). In this
particular transaction, which occurred in 2007,
60% of the share capital of AUSA was acquired
with a commitment to acquire the remaining
40% in 5 years after the initial purchase. There
was an option to settle the obligation in cash
or through a Company share issue. Therefore
there was no fair value of the obligation to be
recognized. However, due to the likelihood of
settlement of the obligation through a
Company share issue, potential shares to be
issued should be part of the calculation for
determination of diluted earnings per share, as
stipulated by the CPC 41 - Earnings per share.
On December 31, 2011, the effect of these
potential shares to be issued in the calculation
of diluted earnings per share was null, due to
the presentation of loss for the year
(antidilutive effect), however, the potential
number of shares issued totaled more than 70
million, which could significantly impact the
earnings per share should the Company record

Recommendation

The Company should improve its monitoring
controls over its accounting characterization
and classification of transactions involving
investments of any kind. These controls should
be done by transaction and on the date they
occur, and should be initiated by the person
responsible for the transaction and evaluated
by the accounting department. The specific
recommendation is for the accounting
department to proceed with reconciliation of
figures presented and criticize them in the
light of CPCs 03 (R2), 26 (R1) and 38, as to
classification and ratings made by those
responsible for the transactions.

The Company must improve its monitoring
controls and identification of potential
transactions and instruments that could be
classified in the determination of the
calculation of diluted earnings per share, as
well as improvement of its controls in the
event of future acquisition transactions with a
business combination, evaluating all aspects
involved in the transaction, including possible
embedded derivatives to avoid the risks
outlined above.
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Controls and analysis over budgeted cost We recommend that the Company improve
and assess the possibility of creating

The Company applies a control consisting of  additional controls to mitigate budgeted costs

periodic review of the budgeted costs in monitoring and reflect them in a timely

relation to costs incurred by assessing the manner in case of periodic adjustments that

overall balance of project costs, but without = may occur and have been classified as a

the individualized monitoring by input group change in estimate. Additionally, we

and / or service (family). During the fourth recommend that these controls also present
quarter of 2011, the Company revisited the improvements regarding revision by family
budgeted costs of its projects in progress and and group of inputs, also so that there is
identified extemporaneous adjustments in specific work for the internal audit department
some projects, which should have been on the review of budgets on a regular and
charged to the year 2010 and had not been constant basis, since the possible existing risks
identified through the Company's internal can directly affect the economic and financial

controls in effect at that date. As a result of situation of the Company.
these adjustments in budgets the Company’s
financial statements for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2010 have been restated as
required by CPC 23 - Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Error
Correction, because it directly affected the
margin percentage calculated for the
determination of revenue, which is determined
by the criterion of percentage of completion
(POC) as per CPC 17 - Construction Contracts
and CPC 30 - Revenue, specifically ICPC 02 -
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
and OCPC 04 - Application of Technical
Interpretation ICPC 02 for Brazilian real estate
entities. The effects on the Company’s net
results for the fiscal years 2010 and 2011 were
R$151,485 and R$639,482, respectively.

Improvements in the process of financial The Company must improve the process of
statement closing closing its financial statements and its

respective controls already in place to
Some controls that properly designed in the  constantly maintain a qualitative evolution in
risk matrix and were being operationalized in information being disclosed by the Company,
the process of closing the Company's financial and also to consolidate this information so that
statements were detected. it is reliable and can be used for decision
making by users of these financial statements.
However, some deficiencies in controls, as well Also, observing the procedures above and
as some areas for improvement, were others that may assist in the closing of the
identified and should be improved in order to financial statements and corporate
avoid risk of incorrect presentation of the governance add value to the Company and
financial statements in light of CPC 26 (R1) andgenerating information with higher quality,
other CPCs corresponding to minimum clarity and assertiveness.
disclosure required in accounting, in addition
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to process improvements that could bring
efficiency gains and cost savings in the
process of closure of the financial statements.
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The Management was made aware of the shortcomings identified and respective recommendations and introduced a specific
action plan addressing each of those shortcomings, which were all resolved during 2012.

It is important to note that the report from the independent auditors on internal controls for 2012 will only be presented to the
Company upon review and opinion on financial statements in USGAAP.

10.7. FACTORS RELATING TO ANY PUBLIC OFFERING OF MARKETABLE SECURITIES:

a) how the proceeds from the offering were used
The resources from Company’s follow-on stock offering in 2007 were allocated to land bank formation, expanding the Company’s
activities, forming partnerships, providing working capital and covering the costs in relation to the offering.

The resources from the debenture issues were allocated to reinforcing working capital, that is, to finance the construction of
residential units in real estate developments.

The proceeds from the Company’s follow on stock offering settled on March 29, 2010, were used for land bank acquisition, working
capital, forming partnerships, making strategic acquisitions and launching new real estate developments.

The resources from the Company’s Promissory Notes issued in 2011 were allocated to reinforcing the Company’s working capital.

b) whether there were any significant diversions between the proposed allocation disclosed in the respective offering
prospectus and the effective allocation of the proceeds

There was no significant diversion between the proposed allocation disclosed in the respective prospectus and the effective
allocation of the proceeds.

c) in the event of any significant diversions, the reasons for such

Not applicable, as there were no significant diversions between the proposed allocation disclosed in the respective prospectus and
the effective allocation of the proceeds.

10.8. SIGNIFICANT ITEMS NOT SHOWN IN THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

a) assets and liabilities held by the company, directly or indirectly, that do not appear on the balance sheet

The Company does not have any material assets or liabilities that are not reflected in this form and in the Company’s financial
statements and the notes thereto.
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b) other items not shown in the financial statements
The Company does not have any other items that are not shown in its financial statements.
10.9. REGARDING EACH ITEM NOT SHOWN IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, AS INDICATED IN ITEM 10.8:

a) how such items altered or could alter the revenue, expenses, operating results,
net financial expenses or other items in the company’s financial statements
As explained in item 10.8, above, there are no items that are not shown in the financial
statements.

b) nature and purpose of the operation

As explained in item 10.8, above, there are no items that are not shown in the financial
statements.

c) nature and amount of obligations assumed and rights generated for the
company as a result of the operation

As explained in item 10.8, above, there are no items that are not shown in the financial
statements.

10.10. KEY ELEMENTS OF THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS PLAN:

a) investments (including a quantitative and qualitative description of investments in course and that are foreseen,
sources of investment financing and significant divestments that are in course or that are foreseen)

i. quantitative and qualitative description of investments that are in course or are foreseen

The Company’s net cash in 2012, which was used for investment, including the acquisition of land bank and equipment and
undertaking new ventures, was negative R$322.9 million, mainly due to investments in property and equipment in the amount of
R$114.8 million. Net cash in 2011 was negative R$6.9 million.

The Company’s net cash in 2011, which was used for investment, including the acquisition of land bank and equipment and
undertaking new ventures, was negative R$6.9 million, mainly due to investments in property and equipment in the amount of
R$105.6 million. Net cash in 2010 was R$6.9 million.

The Company’s net cash in 2010, which was used for investment, including the acquisition of land bank and equipment and
undertaking new ventures, was positive R$122.9 million, mainly due to the follow-on offering carried out during the year, a net
inflow of debt funding and the freeing up of restricted cash resources. Net cash in 2009 was R$762.2 million.

The Company’s disbursements during 2012 related mainly to investment in land bank, sales stands, software, and improvements,

and totaled R$114.8 million, compared to R$105.6 million in 2011, and an increase in the level of restricted cash for loan
guarantees in the amount of R$208.1 million in 2011, compared to a reduction in the level of restricted cash of R$98.7 million in
2011.

Company’s disbursements during 2011 related mainly to investment in the land bank, mainly land for future developments, and
equipment in the amount of R$105.6 million, compared to R$63.5 million in 2010, and a reduction in the level of restricted cash for
loan guarantees in the amount of R$98.7 million in 2011, compared to a reduction in the level of restricted cash of R$186.3 million
in 2010.

The Company’s disbursements during 2010 related mainly to investment in land bank, principally land for future developments, and
equipment in the amount of R$63.5 million, against R$45.1 million in 2009, and there was reduction in the level of restricted cash
for loan guarantees of R$186.3 million in 2010, compared to an increase of R$717.1 million in 2009.
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ii. sources of investment financing

The Company relies on resources from the sale of treasury stock, the abovementioned corporate fundraising, debentures issues
and lines of credit from the SFH (National Housing Finance Scheme).

iii. significant divestments that are in course or are foreseen

No significant divestments are in course or foreseen.

b) previously disclosed acquisitions of plant, equipment, patents or other assets that can materially affect the
company’s production capacity

There have been no acquisitions of plant, equipment, patents or other assets that can materially affect the Company’s production
capacity.

c) new products and services

There are no new products or services.

10.11. OTHER FACTORS MATERIALLY IMPACTING THE COMPANY’S OPERATING PERFORMANCE THAT HAVE NOT BEEN IDENTIFIED
OR DISCUSSED IN OTHER ITEMS IN THIS SECTION.

All significant information relevant to this subject has been disclosed in the items above.
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APPENDIX 1l
As per Appendix 24, item 13 of CVM Instruction no. 480 of December 17, 2009
13. MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION

13.1. Compensation practice and policy of the Board of Directors, the statutory and
non statutory Executive Board, the Fiscal Council, the Statutory Committees and
the Audit, Risk, Finance and Compensation Committees, covering the following
aspects:

a. Objectives of the compensation policy or practice:

The compensation policy of the Company for its managers, including members of the Board of
Directors, statutory and non-statutory Directors, members of the Fiscal Council, in line with
the best corporate governance practices, aims to attract and retain the best professionals in
the market. Compensation is established based on market research and is directly linked to
the alignment of the interests of the executives in question and those of the Company's
shareholders.

In the case of the Directors, the existence of a variable short-term and long-term incentives
(the later in the form of grant of stock option plans) practice permits the sharing of the
Company's risks and results with its main executives, being characteristic of a transparent
policy and aimed at achieving long-lasting results and the perpetuity of the Company.

b. Breakdown of compensation, indicating:
i description of compensation elements and the objectives of each one
a) Board of Directors

The members of the Board of Directors are entitled to a fixed compensation, which is
established in accordance with market criteria and aims to attract professionals who add
value to the results of the company; and to the stock options program, based on the Company
shares.

b) Executive Board

The members of the statutory and non-statutory Executive Board are entitled to fixed and
variable compensation, this last composed of a tranche of short-term cash bonuses and a
long-term incentive tranche, referring to the stock option plan, based on the Company shares.
The amounts paid in fixed compensation are normally below market standards, thus
permitting the Company to concentrate a significant part of the total compensation in the
form of short and long-term variable incentives, which means that the Directors share risks
and results with the Company, so providing a greater alignment of interests between the
Company's executives and its shareholders.

The objective of the short-term variable compensation is to reward the results achieved for
the year if the targets stipulated for the period have been reached. By the same token,
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long-term incentives, based on stock options, aims at providing reward for results achieved
over a longer period (generally more than 2 years. This policy aims to align the interests of
the executives with those of the shareholders.

In addition to fixed and variable compensation, the Company offers its statutory directors
health plan benefits and life insurance.
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It is important to emphasize that the Company has a Compensation Committee that analyses
the strategy for fixed and variable compensation to be adopted, the models for granting of
stock option models and the recommendations of corresponding beneficiaries of the plan, for
subsequent approval by the Board of Directors.

c) Fiscal Council

The members of the Fiscal Council, in addition to mandatory reimbursement for necessary
travel and lodging expenses as a result of their function, are entitled only to a fixed
compensation based on the legal minimum.

d) Committees

All the members of the Company's Committees are managers or employees, and do not
receive specific compensation for the fact that they participate on the Committees.

ii. Proportion of each element in the total compensation

In the case of the Fiscal Council and the Board of Directors, fixed compensation corresponds
to 100% of the total compensation, as previously mentioned.

In the case of the Executive Board (both statutory and non-statutory), fixed compensation
corresponds to approximately 30% of the total compensation, while the variable
compensation approximately corresponds to the remaining 70%. Of the tranche referring to
variable incentives, the part referring to the stock option plan (long term) represents
approximately 60% while the part referring to the bonuses (short term) represents
approximately 40%.

These percentages may vary due to changes in the results presented by the Company in the
period, given the component of shared risks and results which exists in the variable
compensation tranche.

fil. Methodology for the calculation and readjustment of each of the compensation
elements

The amount of compensation paid by the Company to its managers and employees are
periodically compared with those in the market, based on research carried out by external
specialist consultants, so that they can measure their competitiveness and evaluate the
possible need to carry out any adjustments to some of the compensation components. The
researches involve all positions in the Company'’s structure and include companies that can or
cannot be from the same segment and that has all or some of the following characteristics:
similar presence as Gafisa, publicly-held company, national capital, high level of corporate
governance and good practices of compensation and human resources.

iv. Reasons which justify the compensation breakdown
The Company adopts a compensation breakdown model, which concentrates a significant
tranche of the total compensation into variable components (both short and long-term), which

is part of its policy of sharing risks and results with its main executives.
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c. Main performance indicators that are taken into consideration in the
determination of each compensation element:

For the determination of all the compensation items, the performance of the employee and
his individual targets are taken into consideration, in accordance to what was achieved in
comparison to the proposition and agreed for the year. Variable compensation is directly
linked to the indicators contained in the Company's Scorecard, which is approved by the
Board of Directors and which contains defined targets for the period, such as for example
leverage, cash flow, EBITDA and sales volume, among others.

d. How compensation is structured to reflect the evolution in performance
indicators:

Any changes to the compensation items is directly linked to the performance of the individual
and that of the Company and the reaching of targets in the period in question, while salary
increases, the variation in salary multiples received in the form of bonuses and the quantity of
options granted under the option plan are all directly linked to the performance demonstrated
in the evaluated period.

e. How compensation policy or practice is aligned with the short, medium and
long-term interests of the Company:

The practice adopted by the Company with regard to the various components of the total
compensation is directly aligned to the short, medium and long-term interests of the
Company. Fixed compensation reflects compensation below market practices, but, as the
cycle in the segment is medium and long term, the Company believes that a significant
portion of compensation should be remitted to these periods, fully in line with the Company
performance monitoring and, therefore, reaffirming the sharing of risk and results between
executives and the Company.

f. Existence of compensation supported by subsidiaries, controlled companies, or
direct or indirect controlling shareholders:

There is no compensation supported by subsidiaries, controlled companies, or direct or
indirect controlling shareholders of the company.

g. Existence of any compensation or benefit linked to the occurrence of any
particular corporate event, such as the sale of control of the Company:

There is no compensation or benefit linked to the occurrence of any particular corporate
event, such as the sale of control of the Company.

13.2. Concerning the compensation recognized in the results of the last 3 financial
years and expected for the current financial year, for the Board of Directors, the
statutory Executive Board and the Fiscal Council:

Year 2010 Board of Directors Total
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Fiscal Statutory
Council Executive

Board
Number of members 1) 5.67 3.00 5.00 13.67
Fixed annual compensation (2 955,100 136,800 2,820,223 3,912,123
- Pro-Labore 955,100 136,800 2,630,000 3,721,900
- Direct or indirect benefits NA NA 190,223 190,223
- Compensation for participation on committees NA NA NA NA
- Other NA NA NA NA
Annual variable compensation NA NA 2,796,388 2,796,388
- Bonus (3) NA NA 2,796,388 2,796,388
- Profit-sharing NA NA NA NA
- Compensation for participation on committees NA NA NA NA
- Commission NA NA NA NA
- Other NA NA NA NA
Postemployment benefits NA NA NA NA
Severance package NA NA NA NA
Compensation based on stock NA NA 3,786,878 3,786,878
Total (R$) ¥ 955,100 136,8009,403,488 10,495,388

Notes:

1. The number of members of each body corresponds to the annual average of the number of
members of each body measured on a monthly basis.

2. The amounts stated as fixed annual compensation for the Board of Directors and the Fiscal
Council are the amounts effectively paid to all members of the Board of Directors and the
Fiscal Council in 2010.

3. The amounts stated of bonus correspond to the amounts paid.

The information contained in the presented Financial Statements refers to the pro-labore of
the Board of Directors, Fiscal Council and Statutory Executive Board.
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Statutory

Fiscal Executive
Year 2011 Board of Directors Council Board Total
Number of members (1) 8.00 3.00 5.92 (®) 16,92
Fixed annual compensation 1,473,408 136,800 3,497,192 5,107,400
- Pro-Labore (2) 1,473,408 136,800 3,294,333 4,904,541
- Direct or indirect benefits NA NA 202,859 202,859
- Compensation for participation on committees NA NA NA NA
- Other NA NA NA NA
Annual variable compensation NA NA 0 0
- Bonus (3 NA NA 0 NA
- Profit-sharing NA NA NA NA
- Compensation for participation on committees NA NA NA NA
- Commission NA NA NA NA
- Other NA NA NA NA
Postemployment benefits NA NA NA NA
Severance package NA NA NA NA
Compensation based on stock 229,425 NA 8,253,567 8,482,992
Total (R$) ® 1,702,833 136,80011,750,75913,590,392

Notes:

1. The number of members of each body corresponds to the annual average of the number of
members of each body measured on a monthly basis.

2. The amount presented as pro-labore does not include payroll charges.

3. There was no payment of bonus related to the Company'’s results for the fiscal year of
2011.

4. The amounts presented as compensation based on stock reflect the account at cost
realized in 2011, related to all programs granted to the Board of Directors and Statutory
Executive Board, in accordance to pricing models of Binomial (traditional stock option plans)
and Monte Carlo (restricted stock option plans).

5. The information contained in the presented Financial Statements refers to the pro-labore
and benefits (whenever applicable) of the Board of Directors, Fiscal Council and Statutory
Executive Board.

6. The Statutory Financial and Investor Relations Officer of the Company accumulated, in the
period, both positions along with the position of Superintendent Officer of Alphaville
Urbanismo S.A., a controlled company. Therefore, his position is included in the number of
members of the Statutory Executive Board but he received his pro labore in 2011 for the
position he occupied in the controlled company, not for the position in the Company.
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Year 2012

Number of members (1)

Fixed annual compensation

- Pro Labore (2)

- Direct or indirect benefits

- Compensation for participation on committees
- Others

Annual variable compensation

- Bonus (3)

- Profit-sharing

- Compensation for participation on committees
- Commission

- Others

Postemployment benefits

Benefits as a result of leaving the company

Compensation based on shares 4
Total (R$) ®

Notes:

Fiscal

Board of Directors Council

9.00
1,791,001
1,772,352

18,649
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA

410.051

2.201.052

3.00
137,940
137,940

NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA

Statutory
Executive
Board Total
5.83 17.83
3,923,539 5,852,480
3,709,999 5,620,291
213,540 232,189
NA NA
NA NA

10,603,388 10,603,388
10,603,388 10,603,388

NA NA
NA NA
NA NA
NA NA
NA NA
NA NA

6.330.745 6.740.796

137.94020.857.67123.196.663

1. The number of members of each body corresponds to the annual average of the number
of members of each body measured on a monthly basis.

2. The value stated as pro-labore does not include payroll charges.

3. The amount stated as bonus is an estimate based on previous calculations of achieved
goals are still under revision and pending approval of the Board of Directors

4. The amounts presented as compensation based on shares reflect the account at cost
realized in 2012, related to all programs granted to the Board of Directors and Statutory
Executive Board, in accordance to pricing models of Monte Carlo (traditional stock option
plans) and Binomial (restricted stock option plans). The Board’s Program, granted in 2011,
expired in 2012 (see item 13.4), however an amortized expense was recorded in this year.

5. The information described in the Financial Statements presented are related to
pro-labore and benefits (when applicable) of Board of Directors, Fiscal Council and Statutory

Executive Board.
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Statutory

Fiscal Executive
Year 2013 - Forecast Board of Directors Council Board Total
Number of members 1) 9.00 3.00 7.00 19.00
Fixed annual compensation 1,890,721 186,000 5,024,600 7,101,322
- Pro-Labore (2) 1,852,416 186,000 4,707,500 6,745,916
- Direct or indirect benefits 38,305 NA 317,100 355,406
- Compensation for participation on committees NA NA NA NA
- Others NA NA NA NA
Annual variable compensation NA NA 11,484,375 11,484,375
- Bonus NA NA 11,484,375 11,484,375
- Profit-sharing NA NA NA NA
- Compensation for participation on committees NA NA NA NA
- Commission NA NA NA NA
- Others NA NA NA NA
Postemployment benefits NA NA NA NA
Benefits as a result of leaving the company NA NA NA NA
Compensation based on shares 3 NA NA 5.625.084 5.625.084
Total (R$) 1,890,721 186,00022.134.05924.210.780

Notes:

1. The number of members of each body corresponds to the annual average of the number of
members of each body measured on a monthly basis.

2. The value stated as pro-labore does not include payroll charges.

3. The amounts presented as compensation based on shares reflect the account at cost to be
realized in 2013, related to all programs granted to the Statutory Executive Board, in
accordance to pricing models of Monte Carlo (traditional stock option plans) and Binomial
(restricted stock option plans).

13.3. Concerning the variable compensation in the last 3 financial years and that
expected for the current financial year for the Board of Directors, the statutory
Executive Board and the Fiscal Council:

Board of Fiscal Statut
Council
Directors (1) (1) Executive
\bers (2) 5.67 3.00 5.00
nt set under the compensation plan NA NA 0
INts set under the compensation plan 3 NA NA 6,930,C
under the compensation plan - targets having been reached NA NA 5,250,C
vized value ® NA NA 2,796,3
1 results NA NA
nt set under the compensation plan NA NA NA
INnts set under the compensation plan NA NA NA
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under the compensation plan - targets having been reached NA NA
nized value NA NA
Note:

1. The Board of Directors and Fiscal Council are not eligible for variable compensation.

2. The number of members of each body corresponds to the annual average of the number of
members of each body measured on a monthly basis.

3. The amounts presented for maximum amounts set under the compensation plan take into
consideration 132% of reach over bonus target value.

4. The amounts presented for maximum amounts set under the compensation plan take into
consideration 100% of reach over bonus target value.

5. Amounts effectively paid.
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Board of Fiscal Statutc
Council

Directors (1) (1) Executive

bers (2) 8.00 3.00 5.92
Nt set under the compensation plan NA NA 0
Ints set under the compensation plan 3 NA NA n.a

under the compensation plan - targets having been reached NA NA 7,000,0
nized value ) NA NA 0

1 results NA NA

Nt set under the compensation plan NA NA NA
INts set under the compensation plan NA NA NA
under the compensation plan - targets having been reached NA NA NA
nized value NA NA NA

Note:

1. The Board of Directors and Fiscal Council are not eligible for short-term variable
compensation.

2. The number of members of each body corresponds to the annual average of the number of
members of each body measured on a monthly basis.

3. As from 2011, there is no maximum limit for reaching targets regarding bonus payment.

4. The amounts presented for maximum amounts set under the compensation plan take into
consideration 100% of reach over bonus target value.

5. No bonus payment was made from 2011 results.

Board of Fiscal Statuto
Council
Directors (1) (1) Executive |
bers (2) 9.00 3.00 5.83
1t set under the compensation plan NA NA 0
nts set under the compensation plan 3 NA NA NA
under the compensation plan - targets having been reached NA NA 10,603,3
results NA NA
1t set under the compensation plan NA NA NA
nts set under the compensation plan NA NA NA
under the compensation plan - targets having been reached NA NA NA

Note:

1. The Board of Directors and Fiscal Council are not eligible for short-term variable
compensation.

2. The number of members of each body corresponds to the annual average of the number of
members of each body measured on a monthly basis.

3. As from 2011, there is no maximum limit for reaching targets regarding bonus payment.

4. The amount stated as expected is an estimate based on previous calculations of achieved
goals which are still under revision and pending approval of the Board of Directors.
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Board of Fiscal Statut
Council()

cast Directors (1) Executive
ers (2) 9.00 3.00 7.0C
 set under the compensation plan ® n.a n.a 0
ts set under the compensation plan ) n.a. n.a. n.a
Inder the compensation plan - targets having been reached ® n.a. n.a. 11,484,
results
L set under the compensation plan n.a. n.a. n.a.
ts set under the compensation plan n.a. n.a. n.a.
Inder the compensation plan - targets having been reached n.a. n.a. n.a.

Note:

1. The Board of Directors and Fiscal Council are not eligible for short-term variable
compensation.

2. The number of members of each body corresponds to the annual average of the number of
members of each body measured on a monthly basis.

3. As from 2011, there is no maximum limit for reaching targets regarding bonus payment.

13.4. Concerning the compensation plan based on shares for the Board of Directors
and the statutory Executive Board, in force at the end of the financial year and
envisaged for the current financial year:

a. General terms and conditions:

Within the scope of the Company Stock Option Plan, employees and managers
(“beneficiaries”) are eligible to receive call options on ordinary shares issued by the Company.
In principle, all managers and employees are eligible to participate in the call option plan,
seeing that currently 65 people, among the managers and employees, hold stock options in
the Company, taking all the option plans together.

The first Stock Option Plan was approved at the Annual General Meeting held on April 30,
2002, ratifying the terms and conditions approved by the Board of Directors as a meeting held
on April 3, 2000 (“Option Plan 2002"). There are no further plans for options to be granted
under the Option Plan 2002, whose conditions are not applicable to the granting of options
currently carried out by the Company.

At a General Shareholders Meeting on February 3, 2006 a second share option plan was
approved (“Option Plan 2006”), and at a General Shareholders Meeting on June 18, 2008, a
third option plan was approved for shares issued by the Company (“Option Plan 2008").
Option Plan 2006 and Option Plan 2008 establish similar terms and conditions to each other,
the most important difference being the possibility instituted by Option Plan 2008 of the
granting of options in the form of Restricted Stock Options, as explained further on in this
report. Option Plan 2008 is applicable to options currently granted by the Company, the
general conditions of which are described below.
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The Plan (thus considering Option Plan 2006 and Option Plan 2008, without distinction, except
where otherwise indicated) is managed by the Board of Directors, which has wide-reaching
powers in terms of its organization and option granting, observing the limits imposed by the
Plan. The Board of Directors is responsible for the granting of options, establishing the specific
terms and conditions applicable to each granting of A Options as part of option programs
(“Programs”), in which may be defined: (i) the beneficiaries; (ii) the total number of shares in
the Company that are the object of the options granted, and their division into lots; (iii) the
exercise price; (iv) the lock-up period during which the option may not be exercised, the
periods for the exercising A Options and the limits dates for the total or partial exercising of
the option and on which the option rights expire; (v) restrictions on the availability of shares
received by the exercising of the option; and (vi) targets related to the performance of the
employees, managers or the Company. The Board of Directors may also opt to delegate its
functions to a specific Committee. Currently, the Compensation Committee is responsible for
analyzing and recommending all the actions related to compensation and long term
incentives, for approval of the Board of Directors.
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The Beneficiaries covered by the options granted must sign a Contract for the Granting of
Options with the Company (“Option Contracts”), by which the Beneficiaries have the option of
buying lots of shares issued by the company, in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the corresponding Plan and Program. The option contracts may include specific conditions
applicable to a particular Beneficiary.

The general rule is that the option exercise price will be equivalent to the average trading
value of the shares over 30 days of trading on BM&FBOVESPA S.A. (the stock exchange of Sao
Paulo) prior to the option granting date ("market value”), with the possibility of applying
monetary correction or interest to this figure, as decided by the Board of Directors for each
program. Option Plan 2008 introduced the possibility of the Board of Directors authorizing
differentiated options to particular Beneficiaries (“B Options”) for the exercise price of
R$0.01. The exercising of B Options, if granted, will be always conditional and proportional to
the previous exercising of the other options in Option Plan 2008 and authorized for each
Beneficiary (“A Options”, whose exercise price will always be calculated in accordance with
Market Value) and during the course of the lock-up period, of a minimum of 2 years counting
from the date of the respective option granting date. Other conditions May be established for
each Program (see item “h” below, description of programs with regard to appreciation
targets). With this, Option Plan 2008 introduced the possibility of the granting of options in a
new format, known as “Restricted Stock Options”, under which B Options, inextricably linked
to A Options, serve as an adjustment factor in the initial granting of A Options, so that the
effective gain of the beneficiaries will depend on the performance by the Company over the
medium and long term.

Under Option Plan 2006, 2 programs were approved, respectively at meetings of the Board of
Directors on March 23, 2006 (“Program 2006”) and February 9, 2007 (“Program 2007").

Under Option Plan 2008, 8 programs were approved, respectively at meetings of the Board of
Directors on May 9, 2008 (“Program 2008”), and June 26, 2009 (“Program 2009"”), December
17, 2009 (“Program Il 2009”), August 4, 2010 (“Program 2010"), March 31, 2011 (“Program
2011”), July 13, 2011, in which 2 Programs were approved (“Program Il 2011” and “Council
Program 2011"”), and August 20, 2012 (“Program 2012"”). The Program 2008, Program 2009,
Program 2010 and Program Il 2011 were all divided into 2 grants, with distinct conditions for
each, described in the items below, where indicated. Program 2012 was divided into 3 grants,
also with distinct conditions for each, described in the items below, where indicated.

All the Programs approved under Option Plan 2006, as well as the first option grant under
Program 2008, the two option grants under Program 2009, the first option grant under
Program 2010 and the first option grant under Program Il 2011, second and third option
grants under Program 2012 were carried out in accordance with a conventional option grant
model, which is to say, options were only granted whose exercise price corresponds to the
Market Value of the Company's shares. This model was also used | the Board Program 2011,
in which options were granted to the members of the Board of Directors. While the second
granting of Program 2008, Program Il 2009, the second granting of Program 2010, Program
2011, the second granting of Program Il 2011 and the first option grant under Program 2012
followed the Restricted Stock Option model, so that each beneficiary received both A Options
and B Options.
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The options granted to the members of the Statutory Executive Board under Program 2006,
under Program 2009, under the first granting of Program 2010 and under the first granting of
Program Il 2011 were replaced in their entirety by options granted under Program 2012,
through the signing of corresponding Contracts with the Company.

In this way, no member of the Statutory Executive Board is currently a beneficiary of the
Program 2006, Program 2007 Program 2008, or Program 2009, first granting of Program 2010
or first granting of Program 1l 2011. It should also be observed that no member of the
Statutory Executive Board is a beneficiary of the second granting of Program 2010, or
Program 2011.

The options of the Board Program 2011 expired. According to the rules of this Program, it
would have been necessary the exercise at least 20% of the options of the allotment
incorporated in 2012 for the allotments not incorporated to be extinct. Thus, currently, the
members of the Board of Directors are not beneficiaries in any Stock Option Plan of the
Company.

Furthermore, as a result of the incorporation of the shares issued by Construtora Tenda S.A.
by the Company, as approved at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on December 30,
2009, certain of options granted by Construtora Tenda S.A. were assumed by the Company,
under the terms set at the meeting of the Board of Directors held on January 4, 2010. With
this, the Board of Directors approved a further 3 Programs, these being Special Stock Option
Program |, Special Stock Option Program Il and Special Stock Option Program Ill (“Special
Programs”). Each of the Special Programs has specific conditions which seeks to reconcile the
conditions of the plan with the need to maintain an economic balance of the options granted
to the beneficiaries of the corresponding programs of Construtora Tenda S.A., in such a way
that their conditions reflects, in so far as is possible under the terms of the plan, the
corresponding conditions previously applicable to the beneficiaries when they exercised their
roles at Construtora Tenda S.A.. Special Program | and Special Program Ill carried out option
grants which essentially reflect conventional option models.

While Special Program Il carried out 2 grantings with partially distinct conditions, with both
following the Restricted Stock Option model, which was also adopted by Construtora Tenda
S.A. for certain of their option grants. The difference between these grants is due to the fact
that certain Beneficiaries before being beneficiaries under the Tenda Plan, were beneficiaries
of the Company itself, having exercised roles in the then subsidiary Fit Residencial
Empreendimentos Ltda., which was incorporated by Tenda in 2008, resulting in the migration
of these beneficiaries to the Tenda option plan. So that the conditions of the options that had
been granted to these beneficiaries under the Restricted Stock Option model could be
preserved, and additional lot of B Options were granted to them when they migrated to the
Tenda plan, with a lock-up period and reflecting the respective B Options to which each of
them would have the right to exercise in the first company, and because they had previously
exercised A Options granted by the Company. With the incorporation of the shares of
Construtora Tenda S.A. by the Company and the further migration as a result, the conditions
applicable to the beneficiaries of Restricted Stock Options were incorporated in the second
granting of Special Program Il, which contains to Option B lots, with separate and distinct
lock-up periods.
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It should also be observed that, as a result of the beneficiaries leaving Special Programs | and
Il, the options that were not exercised in accordance with the rules of the Plan and the
decisions by the Board of Directors, became extinct. This being the case, Special Programs |
and Il are no longer in force.

With regard to the exercise price of the options to be granted by the Special Programs, the
criteria of Market Value will not be used for the traditional options or for A Options: in order to
reflect the conditions previously applicable to beneficiaries of the programs of Construtora
Tenda S.A. who switched to the Company, the exercise price will be used that was applicable
under the corresponding program of Construtora Tenda S.A. (which reflected the market value
of the shares in that company), adjusted for the swap ratio for the shares established for the
incorporation of the shares in Construtora Tenda S.A. by the Company.

b. Principal objectives of the plan:

The Company's stock option plans have the aim of: (1) encouraging expansion and success in
the development of its corporate objectives, permitting the beneficiaries to acquire shares,
encouraging their integration into the Company; (2) attracting top level managers and
employees to provide their services, offering them the additional advantage of becoming
shareholders in the Company on potentially differentiated terms; and (3) aligning the interests
of the top level managers and employees with the interests of the Company's shareholders.

c. The way in which the plan contributes to these objectives:

In providing the possibility of employees and managers becoming shareholders of the
Company under potentially differentiated conditions, it is expected that they will have a
strong incentive to effectively commit themselves to the creation of value and exercise their
roles in a manner integrated with the interests of the Company's shareholders, corporate
objectives and expansion plans, thus maximizing profit. The offering of stock A Options also
encourages Beneficiaries, as a result of the commitment of their own funds, to seek
appreciation in the shares, without, however, compromising the sustainable growth, equally
relevant in view of the grant model adopted. Furthermore, this type of model results in the
sharing of the risks and gains of the Company, through the appreciation of the shares
acquired under the stock option plan.

Additionally, the model adopted is expected to be an efficient mechanism for retaining
managers and key employees, basically because of the shared results of appreciation in the
Company's shares.

d. How the plan is inserted into the Company's compensation policy

The Company Plan currently in force builds in a policy of concentrating the incentives of
top-level managers and employees in variable components, linked to the performance of the
Company. In fact most of the compensation is concentrated in incentives which aimed to
share risks and results with the Company's main executives. As explained in item 13.1 above,
the option plans are directly linked to this alignment of interests.

e. How the plan outlines the interests of the managers with those of the Company
over the short, medium and long term
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The options granted on the basis of the plans have different mechanisms, which permit the
alignment of the interests of the managers over different time horizons.
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Division into annual lots and the existence of lock-up differentiated lock-up periods (see item
“h” below) means that the Beneficiaries commit themselves to the constant appreciation of
the Company's shares over the short, medium and long term. The Beneficiary has the
incentive, for the short term, of exercising A Options at prices that are lower in relation to
market value, encouraging him constantly strive to achieve appreciation in the shares.

Additionally, the existence of periods during which the shares cannot be sold (lock-up periods)
(see item “I” below), also modulate the incentives of the Beneficiary for a longer period: the
shares that are subject to the exercising of A Options are only available for sale after this
period, so that the Beneficiary will only see a gain in his shares if the Company's share value
continues to appreciate up to the end of this period, when they may be sold.

In certain cases (item “h”), it is required that the Beneficiary earmarks a minimum amount of
the value received by him in annual bonus to the exercising of options, or yet that acquires a
minimum amount of options every year, under penalty of extinguishment of future options.
The Company believes that this requirement permits the alignment of interests both in the
short as well as long term, because it involves the commitment of the Beneficiary's own funds
to shares in the Company, which may only be sold after a given period of time.

With regard to the Restricted Stock Option model, under which options granted to the
beneficiaries are divided into A Options and B Options, a structure of distinct incentives is
created to align the interests of the managers and employees with those of the Company. A
Options, whose exercise price reflects Market Value, usually comprise one lot and are
exercisable over a relatively short time horizon, generating a financial commitment by the
Beneficiary over the short term. The corresponding shares are subject to a period of
unavailability, modulating the alignment of interests over the medium-term.

The mechanism for the exercising of B Options, in turn, is way of adjusting the gain in which
the Beneficiary can realize, depending on the Company's performance over a longer time
horizon, thus aligning the interests of the Beneficiary over a longer period. The exercising of
B Options will be obligatorily: (i) subject to a minimum lock-up period of 2 years, with the
possibility of being divided into annual lots; (ii) proportional to the number of A Options
exercised, linking the short with the long term, while the possibility of exercising B Options
will depend on the commitment shown by the Beneficiary in the exercising of A Options; and
(ifi) under the terms of the options granted up to now, subject to an adjustment in accordance
with variation in the market value (“Appreciation ”) on the shares of the Company between
the date of the program and the exercising of B Options, with dividends and interest-on-equity
added per share (appreciation criteria - item “h” below). With this, it is expected that the
Beneficiary will have an interest in generating a return and creating value, in such a way that
the total gain for him will depend directly on the Company’s performance, and therefore the
gain obtained by its shareholders: B Options, necessarily linked to A Options, represent an
adjustment mechanism, whereby the total number of shares which can be acquired by the
Beneficiary will be adjusted in the future, the better the Company's performance over the long
term, the higher the figure.

f. Maximum number of shares covered

The maximum quantity of shares that maybe subject to the granting of options, taken
together for all the Company's plans, is equivalent to 5% of the paid-up capital, already taking
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into account the effect of dilution as a result of the exercising of all the options. On the date of
this document, this amount corresponds to 21,661,489 ordinary shares issued by the

Company.
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g. Maximum number of options that will be granted

Each option guarantees the beneficiary of the right to acquire one ordinary share in the
Company. This being the case, the quantity of options granted is linked to the limits of dilution
described in item “f” above. On the date of this document, this amount corresponded to
9,742,400 options.

h. Conditions for the acquisition of shares

As a general rule, the options granted under the conventional granting model, as well as A
Options granted under the Restricted Stock Option model, must be acquired at an exercise
price equivalent to Market Value, with this price being subject to monetary correction and
interest, as stipulated by the Board of Directors for each Program. For the Special Programs,
due to the absorption of the options granted by Construtora Tenda S.A. before the
incorporation of its shares by the Company, however, the exercise price is equivalent to the
exercise price previously applicable to Construtora Tenda S.A. (which would reflect the market
value of the shares issued by that company), duly adjusted in accordance with the share swap
ratio established in the Protocol and Justification for the Incorporation of the Shares of
Construtora Tenda S.A. by the Company.

B Options, when granted, may always be acquired at an exercise price of R$0.01, and
because they are options that represents an adjustment factor applied to the total benefit
which can eventually be received by the Beneficiary, the following conditions apply: (i) a
minimum lock-up period of two years must be observed; (ii) the exercising of B Options are
conditional on the number of A Options previously exercised; and (iii) the number of B
Options exercisable is adjusted in accordance with the variation in the Market Value of the
Company, in addition to the dividends and interest-on-equity paid, between the date of the
program and the date of the exercising of B Options (“Appreciation”). In the Programs
approved under the Restricted Stock Option model up to the present day, with the exception
Special Program Il, B Options were granted with an adjustment factor in the proportion of until
2 B Options for every A Option, in the case of key employees of the Company, and in the
proportion of until 3 B Options for each A Option, in the case of the Company Directors. These
adjustment proportions will be reduced to 1.5 and 2.5, respectively if the Appreciation should
be less than 10%, being applied in full if the Appreciation is over 20%, and proportionally if
the Appreciation is between 10% and 20%.

A number of B Options to be received by the former beneficiaries of Restricted Stock Options
of Construtora Tenda S.A. take into account the A Options already exercised by them
previously, and the corresponding terms of the Option Contract celebrated with the Company,
it being ensured that after the application of this adjustment factor and the application of the
share swap ratio as part of the Share Incorporation, each beneficiary will receive a maximum
of 3 B Options for each A Option in the first option grant; and with regard to the second grant,
in which B Options will be divided into 2 lots, a maximum of 1.44 B Options for each A Option
in the first lot, and a maximum of 3 B Options for each A Option in the second lot. These
quotients will vary in accordance with the Appreciation obtained, in the same proportion as
mentioned above, depending on whether the benefit is a director or a key employee.

In Program 2006, the options for each beneficiary were initially divided into 7 annual lots,
each one respectively exercisable from March 1, 2007, and on the subsequent anniversaries
of this date. Also, the Beneficiary is obliged to earmark a minimum percentage of the value
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received in annual bonus in the exercising of options, independent of the Program through
which they were granted, with failure to do so meaning the loss to the right to exercise all the
options in subsequent lots. This percentage, initially 70% of the bonus, was reduced to 50%
as a consequence of a decision by the Board of Directors, at a meeting held on August 4,
2010, to make the options more attractive, and thus encourage the commitment of the
Beneficiaries to exercise them.
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In Program 2007, the options of each Beneficiary were divided into 5 equal annual lots, each
one of these exercisable respectively from March 1, 2008, and on subsequent anniversaries of
this date. Also, the Beneficiary is obliged to earmark at least 70% of the value received by
him in annual bonus to the exercising of options, independently of the Program under which
the options were granted, with failure to do so meaning the loss of the right to exercise or the
options in subsequent periods.

In the first granting of Program 2008, the options for each Beneficiary are divided into 5 equal
annual lots, with the first lot exercisable from April 1, 2009, and on subsequent anniversaries
of this date. Also, the beneficiary is obliged to earmark at least 70% of the value received in
annual bonus by him in the exercising of options, independently of what program the options
were granted under, with failure to do so resulting in the loss of the right to exercise all the
options in subsequent lots.

In the second option grant of Program 2008, A Options are the object of one lot, which could
be exercised up to June 8, 2008; after this date, A Options not exercised, expired. The
Beneficiary is obliged to earmark at least 25% of the value in annual bonus received by him to
the exercising of options. The B Options only become exercisable from May 9, 2011, when
they can be exercised for a period of 30 days, if all the conditions described above are met.

In Program 2009, depending on the grant which they belong to, the options of each
Beneficiary were initially divided into 4 or 5 annual lots, each of them exercisable from June
26, 2011, for June 26, 2010, and on the subsequent anniversaries of these dates. At a
meeting on August 4, 2010, the Board of Directors decided to regroup these options,
respectively, into 3 or 4 annual lots, observing the initial lock-up periods. The Beneficiary is
obliged to earmark a minimum percentage of the amount received by him in annual bonus to
the exercising of options, independently of the Program under which they are granted, with
failure to do so resulting in the loss of the right to exercise all the options in subsequent lots.
This percentage, initially 70% of the bonus, was reduced to 50% of that amount as a result of
a decision by the Board of Directors, at a meeting on August 4, 2010, with the aim of making
the options more attractive, and encouraging the Beneficiary to exercise them.

In Program 1l 2009, A Options are exercisable between April 1, 2010 and June 30, 2010, after
which they become extinct. B Options are divided into 3 annual lots, each of which is
exercisable respectively from December 17, 2011, and on subsequent anniversaries of this
date, for a period of 30 days. B Options are also subject to the conditions described above.

In the first granting in Program 2010, the options of each Beneficiary are divided into 5 equal
annual lots, the first lot being exercisable from May 5, 2011, and the others being exercisable
on the subsequent anniversaries of this date. Also the beneficiary is obliged to earmark at
least 50% of the value received by him in annual bonus in the exercising of options,
independently of the program under which the options were granted, with failure to do so
resulting in the loss of the right to exercise all the options in subsequent lots.

In the second granting of Program 2010, A Options are exercisable between August 4, 2010
and September 30, 2010, after which they become extinct. B Options are divided into 3
annual lots, each one of them exercisable, respectively, from August 4, 2012, and on
subsequent anniversaries of this date, for a period of 30 days, after which they become
extinct. The exercising of B Options is also subject to the conditions described above.
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For the Special Programs | and lll, structured in accordance with the conventional option grant
model, the options for each Beneficiary are divided into 5 equal annual lots, with the first lot
exercisable, respectively, from April 1, 2010 and September 1, 2010, and on the subsequent
anniversaries of these dates. Also the Beneficiary is obliged to earmark at least 70% of the
value received by him in annual bonus to the exercising of options, independently of under
which program the options were granted, with failure to do so resulting in the loss of the right
to exercise all the options in subsequent lots.

Special Program Il, as already mentioned, held 2 grants under different conditions, both,
however, being in accordance with the Restricted Stock Option model. In the first grant of
Special Program II, A Options are the object of one lot, with an exercise period up to April 30,
2010. After this date, A Options not exercised became extinct. B Options only become
exercisable from May 11, 2012, when they can be exercised for a period of 30 days, provided
the conditions described above have been fulfilled.

In the second grant of Special Program I, A Options are the object of one lot, with an exercise
period up to April 30, 2010; after this date Options not exercised became extinct. B Options
are divided into 2 lots, exercisable respectively from May 11, 2011 and May 11, 2012, always
for a period of 30 days, after which the options expire, and also observing the conditions
described above.

In Program 2011, A Options are exercisable between April 01, 2011 and June 01, 2011, after
which they become extinct. B Options are divided into 3 annual lots, each one of them
exercisable, respectively, from April 01, 2013, and on subsequent anniversaries of this date,
for a period of 30 days, after which they become extinct. The exercising of B Options is also
subject to the conditions described above.

In Council Program 2011, the options for each Beneficiary are divided into 3 equal annual lots,
with the first lot exercisable from July 13, 2012, and on subsequent anniversaries of this date.
Also, the beneficiary is obliged to earmark at least 20% of the shares available in the

exercisable lot, with failure to do so resulting in the loss of the right to exercise all the options.

In the first granting of Program Il 2011, the options for each Beneficiary are divided into 4
equal annual lots, with the first lot exercisable from July 13, 2012, and on subsequent
anniversaries of this date. Also, the beneficiary is obliged to earmark at least 50% of the
value received in annual bonus by him in the exercising of options, independently of what
program the options were granted under, with failure to do so resulting in the loss of the right
to exercise all the options in subsequent lots.

In Program 1l 2010, A Options are exercisable between April 13, 2011 and August 12, 2011,
after which they become extinct. B Options are divided into 3 annual lots, each one of them
exercisable, respectively, from July 13, 2013, and on subsequent anniversaries of this date,
for a period of 30 days, after which they become extinct. The exercising of B Options is also
subject to the conditions described above.

Under the first 2012 Program Grand, A Options are exercisable between May 1, 2013 and May
30, 2013 for executive officers and between May 1, 2014 and May 30, 2014 for all others,
after which they will be cancelled. For executive officers, B Options are divided into 3 annual
lots, each of which is exercisable, respectively, as of August 20, 2014 and on the subsequent
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anniversaries of this date for a period of 30 days, after which they will be cancelled. In all
other cases, all of the B Options will be exercisable as of August 20, 2014 for a period of 30
days, after which they will be cancelled. The exercise of B Options is nonetheless subject to
the conditions above.
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Under the second 2012 Program grant, the options of each Beneficiary are divided into 3
annual lots, the first of which is exercisable as of May 1, 2013 and the remainder of which on
the subsequent anniversaries of this date. Beneficiaries are furthermore required to allocate
at least 50% of the amount received as an annual bonus to the exercise of options, regardless
of the program under which they were granted, or shall lose the right to exercise all options in
subsequent lots.

Under the third 2012 Program grant, the Beneficiary s options are dividing into 4 equal annual
lots, the first of which is exercisable as of 2014 and the remaining lots, on the subsequent
anniversaries of this date. To receive this grant, the Beneficiary must, in addition to the
minimum mention in the paragraphs above, allocate 20% or 30% of the amount received as
annual bonus to the purchase of Company shares on the market. In this case, the Company
will grant 2 times of 2.5 times the number of shares acquired by the Beneficiary as stock
options.

i. Criteria for the fixing purchase or exercise price

As a general rule, the exercise price of the options must be equivalent to the average price of
the Company's shares over the last 30 trading days on BM&FBOVESPA S.A. Sao Paulo stock
exchange (“Market Value”), and which may have monetary correction applied based on the
variation in price indices to be determined by the Board of Directors, as well as interest
added, in accordance with the determinations of the Board of Directors for each Program. This
price is deducted from dividends and interest-on-equity paid per share of the Company from
the date the A Options are granted to their effective exercise date.

It is understood that the setting of the exercise price to market value is necessary to better
align the interests of the Beneficiaries in generating value for the Company's shareholders:
gains on the B Options being obtained to the extent that the Company's shares appreciate in
the market. The possibility of interest being added exists because the exercise price
represents a minimum rate of return, so that the Beneficiaries receive a gain only in the case
of the shares guaranteeing a minimum return, at the criteria of the Board of Directors.

It is important to observe that the exercise price of the conventional options is subject to
monetary correction, generally by the IGP-M index, and also the addition of interest, usually
3% to 6% per year. With the objective of making the exercising of the options more attractive
and to retain executives over the long term, the Board of Directors decided on August 4,
2010, that he terms of monetary correction and interest added for the Programs would be
applied up to May 6, 2010.

The deduction of interest-on-equity and dividends is a way of guaranteeing that the
Beneficiaries participate in the results obtained by the Company during the period, seeing
that they have already been granted options, but have not yet become shareholders, because
of the design of the particular program (lock-up periods). On the other hand, it ensures that
the results will only be received by the Beneficiary if he remains of the Company and
exercises his options, becoming an effective shareholder.

B Options granted under the Restricted Stock Option model may be exercised at the price of
R$0.01, but are mandatorily linked to A Options. The exercise price is justified in so far that

the B Options act an adjustment factor in the number of shares that the Beneficiary will have
the right to acquire over the long term (and consequently the possible total capital gain that
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he will receive). And this necessarily depends on the initial disbursement referring to the A
Options, adjusted in accordance with the performance of the Company, and therefore in
accordance with the gains provided to its shareholders.
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Exceptionally for the Special Programs, the exercise price was fixed as a function of the
exercise price previously established for the corresponding Beneficiaries in accordance with
the respective program of Construtora Tenda S.A., and the swap ratio set for the incorporating
of the shares of Construtora Tenda S.A. by the Company. It should be pointed out that the
exercise price previously applicable under the plan of Construtora Tenda S.A. reflected the
market value of the shares of that company, having been adjusted with the object of
maintaining the economic characteristics previously applicable to the corresponding
Beneficiaries.

j- Criteria for the fixing of the option exercise period

Under Program 2006, Program 2007, the 1st options granted in Program 2008, the 1st options
granted in Program 2010, Special Program | and Special Program lll, the options for each
Beneficiary are divided into 5 equal annual lots, each one of these being respectively
exercisable from a particular date (March 1, 2007 for Program 2006; March 1, 2008 for
Program 2007; April 1, 2009 for the 1st options granted under Program 2008; May 5, 2011 for
the 1st options granted under Program 2010; April 1, 2010 for Special Program |; and
September 1, for Special Program Ill) and on the subsequent anniversaries of this date. The
division of the options into lots meets the objectives of tying the Beneficiary to the company,
and aligning short, medium and long-term interests. The options in each annual lot may be
exercised within a period of 10 years from the moment they become exercisable, this period
being reduced to 3 years if the Beneficiary does not use the obligatory tranche destined from
his annual bonus. The period of 10 years signifies an opportunity for the Beneficiary to have
longer time interval in which to choose the most appropriate moment to commit his funds,
offering in counterparty the effective commitment of his bonus.

For the second set of options granted under Program 2008, the A Options were put together in
one lot, with an exercise period of 30 days, running to June 8, 2008; after this date, A Options
not exercised expired. This time limit was established as a way of tying in the Beneficiary and
demonstrating commitment to the Company. The B Options only become exercisable on May
9, 2011, and only in proportion that the Beneficiary has previously exercised his A options,
these being exercisable within a period of 30 days, in accordance with the methodology
described in item “h” above. The existence of a longer lock-up period for the B Options is
justified because of the period necessary to verify the Company's performance over the long
term, which necessarily results in an adjustment in the number of B Options exercisable, and
therefore in the adjustment of the total number of shares that the Beneficiary will be entitled
to over that time horizon. With respect to the exercise period of 30 days for the B Options, it is
believed that this period is reasonable seeing that the exercising of the options has already
been planned by the Beneficiary, representing the end of the program in question.

Under Program 2009, depending on the option grant to which they belong, the options of each
Beneficiary were initially divided into 4 or 5 annual lots, each being exercisable, respectively,
from June 26, 2011 or June 26, 2010, and on the subsequent anniversaries of these dates.
These options were respectively regrouped into the annual lots of 3 and 4 in accordance with
a decision by the Board of Directors on August 4, 2010. The division of the options into lots
meets the objective of tying in the Beneficiary and aligning short, medium and long-term
interests, as already stated. The options in each annual lot may be exercised within a period
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of 10 years from the time the B Options become exercisable, with this period being reduced to
3 years if the beneficiary does not use the obligatory tranche of his bonus.

While in the case of Program Il 2009, the A Options may be exercised between April 1, 2010
and June 30, 2010, after which they become extinct. As mentioned above, this time limit has
been established to tie in the Beneficiary and demonstrate his commitment to the Company.
The B Options are divided into 3 annual lots, each one of these exercisable, respectively, from
December 17, 2011, and on subsequent anniversaries of this date, being exercisable for
period of 30 days after which they become extinct, and only in the proportion that the
beneficiary has previously exercised his A Options. The lock-up periods for the exercising of
the B Options are fixed observing the same criteria and fundamentals described above in
relation to the second series of options granted under Program 2008.
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With regard to the second set of options granted under Program 2010, the A Options may be
exercised between August 4, 2010 and September 30, 2010, after which they become extinct.
As mentioned above, this time has been established as a way of tying in the Beneficiary and
demonstrating his commitment to the Company. The B Options are divided into 3 annual lots,
each one of which are exercisable, respectively, from August 4, 2012, and on subsequent
anniversaries of this date, exercisable for a period of 30 days after which they become
extinct, and only in the proportion that the beneficiary has previously exercised his A Options.
The lock-up periods for the exercising of the B Option are fixed observing the same criteria
and fundamentals described above with regard to the 2nd set of options granted under
Program 2008.

Under Special Program Il, the A Options are the object of one lot, which for both grants, can
be exercised up to April 30, 2010; after this date A Options not exercised expire. This time
limit was established as a way of tying in the Beneficiary and demonstrating his commitment
to the Company. The case of the first option grant, B Options only become exercisable on May
11, 2012, and can be exercised within a period of 30 days, and only in proportion that the
Beneficiary has previously exercised his A Options. The existence of a longer lock-up period
and an exercise period of only 30 days for the B Options is justified for the reasons already
cited above for the second set of options granted under Program 2008. While in the case of
the second grant, the B Options will be divided into 2 annual lots, exercisable and only in the
proportion to which the beneficiary has previously exercised his A Options, always during a 30
day period, respectively from May 11, 2011, and May 11, 2012, dates which represents
lock-up periods of 2 and 3 years, if we consider the date when the options were granted at
Construtora Tenda S.A., before their switchover to the Company. The existence of a longer
lock-up period and an exercise period of only 30 days for the B Options is justified by the
reasons already outlined above for the second set of options granted under Program 2008,
there being the existence of an additional lot of B Options with a relatively shorter lock-up
period, justified by the previous migration from the plan for the Beneficiaries subject to the
second grant under Special Program Il, as explained in item “a” above.

In Program 2011, A Options are exercisable between April 01, 2011 and June 01, 2011, after
which they become extinct. As mentioned above, this time limit was established as a way of
tying in the Beneficiary and demonstrating his commitment to the Company. B Options are
divided into 3 annual lots, each one of them exercisable, respectively, from April 01, 2013,
and on subsequent anniversaries of this date, for a period of 30 days, after which they
become extinct, and only in the proportion that the Beneficiary has previously exercised his A
Options. The lock-up periods for the exercising of the B Options are fixed observing the same
criteria and fundamentals described above with regard to second granting of Program 2008.

Under the first granting of Program Il 2011, the options for each Beneficiary are divided into 4
equal annual lots, with the first lot exercisable from July 13, 2012, and on subsequent
anniversaries of this date. The division of the options into lots meets the objective of tying in
the Beneficiary and aligning short, medium and long-term interests. The options in each
annual lot may be exercised within a period of 10 years from the time they become
exercisable, with this period being reduced to 3 years if the Beneficiary does not use the
obligatory tranche of his bonus. The period of 10 years signifies an opportunity for the
Beneficiary to have longer time interval in which to choose the most appropriate moment to
commit his funds, offering in counterparty the effective commitment of his bonus.
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Under the second granting of Program Il 2011, the A Options may be exercised between July
13, 2011 and August 12, 2011, after which they become extinct. As mentioned above, this
time limit was established as a way of tying in the Beneficiary and demonstrating his
commitment to the Company. B Options are divided into 3 annual lots, each one of them
exercisable, respectively, from July 13, 2013, and on subsequent anniversaries of this date,
for a period of 30 days, after which they become extinct, and only in the proportion that the
Beneficiary has previously exercised his A Options. The lock-up periods for the exercising of
the B Options are fixed observing the same criteria and fundamentals described above with
regard to Program 2008.

Under Board Program 2011, the options for each Beneficiary are divided into 3 equal annual
lots, with the first lot exercisable from July 13, 2012, and on subsequent anniversaries of this
date. The division of the options into lots meets the objective of tying in the Beneficiary and
aligning short, medium and long-term interests. The options in each annual lot may be
exercised within a period of 10 years from the time they become exercisable, with this period
being reduced to 3 years if the Beneficiary does not exercise at least 20% of the shares
contained in the lot available for the exercising. The period of 10 years signifies an
opportunity for the Beneficiary to have longer time interval in which to choose the most
appropriate moment to commit his funds.

Under the first 2012 Program grant, A Options are exercisable between May 1, 2013 and May
30, 2013 for executive officers and between May 1, 2013 and May 30, 2014 for all others,
after which time they will be cancelled. As explained above, this period was established as a
means of linking the Beneficiary to demonstrated commitment to the Company. For executive
officers, B Options are divided into 3 annual lots, each of which is exercisable, respectively, as
of August 20, 2014 and the subsequent anniversaries of this date, for a period of 30 days,
after which they will be cancelled, and only in the proportion that the Beneficiary has
previously exercised A Options. The vesting periods for B Options are established according to
the same criteria and fundamentals described above regarding the second 2008 Program
grant.

Under the second and third 2012 Program grands, the options of each Beneficiary are divided
into 3 annual lots and 4 equal annual lots, respectively. For the second grant, the first lot is
exercisable as of May 1, 2013 and the remaining lots, on the anniversary of this date. For the
third grant, the first lot is exercisable as of 2014 and the remaining lots, on the anniversary of
this date. The division of the options in lots meets the goals of linking the Beneficiary and
aligning his or her short, medium and long term interest to those of the Company. The options
of each annual lot may be exercised for a period of 10 years as of their vesting date, which
will be reduced to 3 years should the Beneficiary fail to use the portion of the mandatory
allocation of his or her bonus (only for the second grant). This 10 year period provides an
opportunity for the Beneficiary to have a longer period to choose the best time to apply his or
her resources to offset the effective allocation of his or her bonus.

k. Method of settlement
In general, the shares corresponding to the options exercised by the Beneficiaries are issued,
while the corresponding capital increase, always within the authorized capital limit, is ratified

by the Board of Directors. The Company also uses the shares held in treasury to supply shares
for options exercised.
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Under the programs approved up to the date of this Reference Form, the general rule is that
the exercise price be paid in cash, at the time of the subscription or purchase of the
corresponding shares.

I. Restrictions on the transfer of shares

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on July 13, 2011, all the restrictions to share
transfer were eliminated as a consequence of the grant of stock options under conventional
model. Thus, all shares acquired by the Beneficiaries of the Plan, within the ambit of Program
2006, Program 2009, Granting 1 and Program 2010 will be free and clear for the transfer at
any time. It is important to notice that the remaining grants under conventional model, such
as first granting of Program 1l 2011, Board Program 2011, and second and third granting of
Program 2012, the options were granted with no restrictions to the shares of the current
exercise.

In case of options granted under the model Restricted Stock Options, the A Options are
subject to lock-up. The second granting of Program 2008 and Special Program Il have a
lock-up term of 2 years, counted from the day of subscription or acquisition of the shares. In
Program Il 2009, the shares subscribed or acquired as a result of exercising the A Options
could not be alienated by the beneficiary until December 17, 2010 (1 year counted from the
day of Program Il 2009), notwithstanding the date of acquisition. In the second granting of
Program 2010, Program 2011 and second granting of Program Il 2011, the rule is similar: the
lock-up period for the shares of A Option is of 1 year counted from the date of the respective
Program (respectively: August 4, 2011, April 1, 2012 and July 13, 2012), notwithstanding the
date of acquisition of the shares.

Under the first 2012 Program Grant, A Options may only be exercised in the period from May
1 to May 30, 3013 for executive officers and between May 1 and May 30, 2014 for all others.
In all cases, there is no lock-up period after the exercise of A Options, which were granted in
2012.

The shares subscribed or acquired as a result of the exercising of the B Options are not
subject to any lock-up date.

m. Criteria and events which, when they occur, would result in the suspension,
alteration or extinction of the option plan

The Option Plans for 2008 and 2006 may be altered or made extinct by the Board of Directors.
Notwithstanding the powers of the Board of Directors, no decision may alter: (i) the limit of
the number of shares which are the object of the plan; and (ii) the rights and obligations
acquired by the beneficiary, related to any existing options granted under Option Plans 2008
and 2006.

Additionally, in the case of the dissolving, transformation, incorporation, merger, demerger or
reorganization of the Company, under which the Company does not remain as an entity, or if
it does remain as an entity, no longer has its shares traded on the stock exchange, the
options may be transferred to the company of succession, or have their lock-up periods
brought forward for exercising during a given period.
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n. Effects of a manager leaving the governing bodies of the Company on his rights
under the share-based compensation plan

Under the terms of Option Plans 2008 and 2006, if a Beneficiary leaves the Company this will
have the following effects on the options granted to him, depending on his reason for leaving:
(i) if there is just cause for his dismissal, all the options not exercise will become extinct; (i) if
there is no just cause for dismissal, or if the employee resigns voluntarily or opts to take
retirement, the options already exercisable may be exercised within a period of 30 days, with
the other options becoming extinct; (iii) in the case of the death or permanent disablement of
the Beneficiary, all the options may be exercised by the Beneficiary or his successors within a
period of 180 days. In all these cases, except for death or permanent disability, the
restrictions on the transfer of shares to which they apply will remain in force.
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The Board of Directors has the power to determine the treatment to be given to B Options
granted to the Beneficiary under Option Plan 2008, in the event of leaving at the behest of the
Company, provided there is no just cause for dismissal. Under the Programs approved under
the Restricted Stock Option model, the Board of Directors has established rules for the
advance exercising of the B Options, in proportion to the period in which the Beneficiary
remained in the carrying out of his functions at the Company and observing the other
conditions for the exercising of the B Options contained in Option Plan 2008 and the
respective Programs.

Also, on August 4, 2010, the Board of Directors decided to establish the possibility of bringing
forward the lock-up period date for all the options that had been granted to members of the
statutory Executive Board (but not any other beneficiary of the plan), for an exercise period of
180 days, whenever the corresponding director is dismissed, without any just cause, for a
period of 1 year counting from the relevant “corporate events”. Such corporate events are as
follows: (i) operations involving corporate reorganization of the Company in which its
shareholders’ equity comes to represent less than 50% of the shareholders’ equity of the
resulting company; (ii) the acquisition, by any person or group, of a stake equivalent to 30%
or more of the Company's paid-up capital; (iii) the obligatory public offering of shares of the
Company, under the terms of Brazilian Corporation Law or the regulations of Novo Mercado;
and (iv) a voluntary public offering for the purchase of shares in the Company which results in
the acquisition of the majority of its paid-up capital. With this, it is expected that the members
of the statutory Executive Board will not be unduly prejudiced by virtue of the occurrence of a
relevant corporate operation, preventing the options from being lost as a result of the
operations, which could imply a change in control of the Company. Thus, with continuing
expectations for the future exercising of the options, the alignment of the interests of the
Beneficiaries is maintained, while retaining the best talent.

In meeting held on July 13, 2011, the Board of Directors deliberated to extent this possibility
to any options granted ot to be granted, to Executive Directors and members of Board of
Directors of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary Construtora Tenda S.A.

The possibility of bringing forward the lock-up date for options, referred to in the paragraph
above, is also applicable in the event of the Company being dissolved.
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13.5. Shares or quotas directly or indirectly held, in Brazil or in other countries,
and other securities convertible into shares or quotas, issued by the Company, its
direct or indirect controlling shareholders, subsidiaries or companies under
common control, by members of the Board of Directors, or the statutory executive
board, or the Fiscal Council, grouped by body, on the date of the ending of the last
financial year:

Shares Issued by the Company (1D(2)

12.30.2012
Ordinary shares Total shares
Board of Directors 375,813 0.09% 375,813 0.09%
Fiscal Council 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
Executive Board 1,206,931 0.28% 1,206,931 0.28%
Total shares 433,229,779 100% 433,229,779 100%
12.30.2011
Ordinary shares Total shares
Board of Directors 1,281,546 0.30% 1,281,546 0.30%
Fiscal Council 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
Executive Board 1,164,394 0.27% 1,164,394 0.27%
Total shares 432,699,559 100% 432,699,559 100%
12.31.2010
Ordinary shares Total shares
Board of Directors 3,033,493 0.74% 3,033,493 0.74%
Fiscal Council 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
Executive Board 2,380,076 0.55% 2,380,076 0.55%
Total shares 431,515,375 100.00% 431,515,375 100.00%

(1) All the shares are held directly.

(2) Possible discrepancies identified under this item compared to the Consolidated Form
referring to Art. 11 of CVM Instruction no. 358/02, dated September 30, 2009, as filed with the
IPE system, are due to the fact that two new Board members of the Company were elected at
an Extraordinary General Meeting held on October 14, 2010.
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13.6. Concerning the compensation based on shares recognised in the results in
the last 3 financial years and expected for the current financial year, for the Board
of Directors and statutory Executive Board:

Financial B_oard of .
Year 2010 Dlreiiz)tors Statutory Executive Board
Plans 2001 2002 2006 2006 2007 ® 2009
b) Numberof 5 55 30f5 40f5  40f5 1lof5  na. 5
Members
c) In relation
to each
granting of
stock options
gDraatr?tiorTg n.a. 4/20/2001 (20 4/30/2002 (3) 3/31/2006 2/3/2006 n.a. 6/26/2009
Number of
options n.a. 1,470,000 480,000 1,680,028 3,000,000 n.a. 5,400,000
granted
4 years
10% at the 10% at the (25% each
Term for moment of moment of > years S years year) or 4
options to signing the signing the (14.28%  (14.28% years (after
b n.a. or 28.58%or 28.58% n.a. 2 years,
ecome contract and contract and
: each each 20% and
exercisable 18% every 18% every 40%
year year year) year) 6 0N
subsequent
years)
Time limit for
ter;(eercising of n.a. 10 years 10 years 10 years 10 years n.a. 10 years
options
Time limit on
the
Fﬁfmcet'ons n.a. None None 1 year 1 year n.a. 1 year
transfer of
shares
Weighted
average price
for the
exercising of
each group of
options
n.a. R$3.64 R$6.31 R$12.87 R$3.36 n.a. R$8.34
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-open at the

beginning of

the financial

year (2)

-lost during

the financial n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
year

-exercised

during the n.a. R$4.07 R$6.60 R$13.49 R$3.51 n.a. R$8.74
financial year

-expired

during the n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.
financial year
d) Fair value
of options on
the date of
granting

e) Potential
dilution in the
event of all
the options
granted being
exercised (6)

n.a. R$2.75 (2 R$4.62 3) R$9.25 R$2.51 n.a. R$8.53

n.a. 0.34% 0.11% 0.39% 0.70% n.a. 1.26%

Note: amounts do not reflect the adjustments as a result of the share split approved at the
EGM held on 02.22.2010

(1) The Board of Directors does not have stock option plans

(2) Addendum of February 24, 2006

(3) Addendum of February 24, 2006

(4) Addendum of February 24, 2006

(5) Plan substituted by Plan 2009

(6) Dilution based on the total number of shares as at 12/31/2010

o OBS.: The Program 2010, approved on August 4, 2010, does not make provision for any
granting of options to the Board of Directors or the Statutory Executive Board.
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R$7.71 R$3.47 R$6.26
n.a n.a. n.a.
n.a n.a n.a
n.a n.a. n.a.

R$7.71 R$2.75 (2 R$4.62 (3)

0.18% 0.34% 0.11%

R$13.14

n.a.

n.a

R$13.14

R$9.25

0.39%

R$3.39

n.a.

R$3.39

R$3.39

R$2.51

0.69%

n.a.

n.a.

n.a.

n.a.

n.a.

R$8.39

n.a.

Nn.a

R$8.39

R$8.53

1.25%

R$7.
(Conven
and Rest
Program

A shal
R$0,
(Restri
Progre
Type B s

n.a

R$7.

n.a

R$7.
(Conven
and Rest
Program

A shal
R$0,
(Restri
Progre
Type B s

2.07

amounts do not reflect the adjustments as a result of the share split approved at the EGM held on 02.22.20:

e Board of Directors had its first stock option plan on July 13, 2011

dendum of February 24, 2006

dendum of February 24, 2006

dendum of February 24, 2006

103



Edgar Filing: Gafisa S.A. - Form 6-K/A
n substituted by Plan 2009

ution based on the total number of shares as at 12/31/2010

1 2010 there was no grant of new programs to Statutory Executive Board or Board of Directors

70

104



Financial Year
2012

Plans
b) Number of
Members
c) ¢) In relation to
each granting of
stock options
Date of granting

Quantity of options

granted

Term for options to 3 years (33%, 33% and
become exercisable

Time limit for the
exercising of
options

Time limit on the
restrictions for the
transfer of shares
Weighted average
price for the
exercising of each
group of options
-open at the
beginning of the
financial year
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Board of Directors (1)

9.00

7/13/2011

800,000

34%)

10 years

n.a.

R$ 7.71

Statutory Executive Board

20113
6.00

7/13/2011

1,340,000 (Options A

+ Options B)

Options B - 4

years(0%, 30%, 30%

and 40%)

30 days

Options A: 1 year
Options B: n.a.

Options A: R$ 7.71
Options B: R$ 0.01

20123
6.00

8/20/2012
2,236,000

(Restricted Stock Options
Program Options A + B)
and 2,810,000
(Conventional Program)
Restricted Stock Options:
Program 9 months for

Options A and 4 years (0%,

30%, 30%, 40%) for
Options B

Conventional Program
3 years (50%, 30% and
20%)

Restricted Stock Options
Program: 30 days

Conventional Program:10
years

n.a.

Restricted Stock Options
Program:

Options A: R$2.73

Options B: R$0.01
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Conventional Program:

R$2.73
-lost during the
. . n.a n.a n.a.
financial year
'exerC'Sed. during n.a. R$ 7.71 n.a.
the financial year
e e Rs T
Restricted Stock Options
Program:

Options A: R$2.73
d) Fair value of
options on the date R$ 7.71
of granting

Options A: R$7.71

Options B: R$0,01 Options B: R$0.01

Conventional Program:
R$2.73

e) Potential dilution
in the event of all
the options granted
being exercised (3
(1) The Board of Directors 2011 Program expired during the year of 2012. No option was
exercised.

0.18% 0.31% 1.16%

(2) The options granted to the Statutory Executive Board under Program 2006, Program 2009,
Program 2010 and first granting of Program Il 2011 were replaced by options granted under
Program 2012

(3) Dilution based in the total amount of shares on 12/31/2012

Financial Year
2013 - Forecast Board of Directors Statutory Executive Board
Plans 2011 2012
b) Number of

Members n.a. 6.00 7.00

c) In relation to

each granting of

stock options

Date of granting n.a. 7/13/2011 8/20/2012
2,236,000

Number of options 1,340,000 (Options A (Restricted Stock Options

granted n.a. + Options B) Program Options A + B)
and 2,810,000

(Conventional Program)

Term for options to n.a. Options B - 4 years Restricted Stock Options

become exercisable (0%, 30%, 30% and Program: 9 months for
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Time limit for the
exercising of
options

Time limit on the
restrictions for the
transfer of shares
Weighted average
price for the
exercising of each
group of options

-open at the
beginning of the
financial year (3

-lost during the
financial year
-exercised during
the financial year
-expired during the
financial year

d) Fair value of
options on the date
of granting

e) Potential dilution
in the event of all
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n.a.

n.a.

n.a.

n.a

n.a.

n.a

n.a.

na.

40%)

30 days

Options A: 1 year

Options B: n.a.

Options B: R$ 0.01

n.a
R$ 0.01

n.a

Options A: R$ 7.71
Options B: R$0.01

0.31%

Options A and 4 years (0%,
30%, 30%) for Options B

Conventional Program: 3
years (50%, 30% and 20%)
Restricted Stock Options
Program: 30 days

Conventional Program: 10
years

n.a.

Restricted Stock Options
Program:

Options A: R$2.73

Options B: R$0.01

Conventional Program:
R$2.73

n.a.
n.a.

Na.

Restricted Stock Options
Program:

Options A: R$2.73

Options B: R$0.01

Conventional Program:
R$2.73
1.16%
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the options granted
being exercised (5

(1) Dilution based in the total amount of shares on 12/31/2012
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13.7. Information with regard to options held open by the Board of Directors and
the Statutory Executive Board at the end of the last financial year:

Financial Year 2012 Board of Directors (1)

Plans

b) Number of Members
c) Options still
unexercised

i) Number of shares

ii) Date in which they will
become exercisable

iii) Maximum time limit
for the exercising of
options

iv) Time limit on the
restriction to the share
transfer

v) weighted average
price for the exercising

vi) Fair value of the
options on the last day of
the financial year

9.00

n.a.

n.a.

n.a.

n.a.

n.a.

n.a.

Statutory Executive Board

2011
6.00

1,005,000
(Restricted Stock
Options Program —

Options B)

7/13/2013 (30% of
total volume of
options granted)

30 days

n.a.

R$0.01

R$0.01

2012
6.00

2,236,000 (Restricted
Stock Options
Program - Options A
+ B) and 2,810,000
(Conventional
Program)
5/01/2013 (Restricted
Program - Options A
and 50% of total
volume of options
granted in the
Conventional
Program)

8/20/2014 (Restricted
Program - Options B —
30% and following
anniversaries 30%
and 40% of the total
granted)

30 days (Restricted
Program - Options B)
and 10 years for the
options of the
Conventional Program

n.a.

R$2.73 (Conventional
Program and Options
A of Restricted
Program)

R$0.01 (Options B of
Restricted Program)
R$ 2.73 (Conventional
Program and Options
A of Restricted
Program)
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R$0.01 (Options B of
Restricted Program)
d) Exercisable options
i) number of shares n.a n.a. n.a.
i) maximum time limit
for the exercising of n.a n.a. n.a.
options
iii) time limit on the
restriction to the share n.a n.a. n.a.
transfer
iv) weighted average
price for the exercising
v) fair value of the
options on the last day of n.a n.a. n.a.
the financial year
vi) fair value of the total
options on the last
business day of the
financial year

n.a n.a. n.a.

Nn.a n.a. n.a.

(1) The Program 2011 of the Board of Directors has expired during 2012. No option was
exercised.

(2) Programs replaced by Program 2012. In case of Program 2011, only the conventional
granting was replaced; the granting of the Restricted program remained active.

13.8. Concerning the options exercised and shares delivered referring to the
share-based compensation for the Board of Directors and Statutory Executive
Board, in the last 3 financial years, the table below has been with the following
content:

Financial Year 2010

Program (year) (@

b) Number of members

c) Regarding exercised options:

i) number of shares

ii) weighted average exercise price

iii) Total value of the difference between exercise price and the market value of the shares related to
exercised options

d) Regarding delivered shares, please inform: (3)

i) number of shares

ii) weighted average acquisition price

iii) Total value of the difference between the acquisition price and the market value of the acquired s

Note: Amounts do not reflect the adjustments as a result of the share split approved at the
EGM held on 02.22.2010
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(1) The Board of Directors does not have stock option plans.
(2) Term of the plan is 15 years.

(3) Under the model adopted by the Company all the shares exercised are delivered.
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Financial Year 2011

Program (year)

b) Number of members

c) Regarding exercised options:

i) number of shares

ii) weighted average exercise price

iii) total value of the difference between exercise price and market value of the shares related to the
exercised options

d) Regarding delivered shares, please inform: (1)

i) number of shares

ii) weighted average acquisition price

iii) total value of the difference between the acquisition price and market value of the acquired share

Note: Amounts do not reflect the adjustments as a result of the share split approved at the EGM held

(1) Under the model adopted by the Company all the shares exercised are delivered.

Financial Year 2012

Program (year)

b) Number of members

c) Regarding exercised options:

i) number of shares

ii) weighted average exercise price

iii) total value of the difference between exercise price and market value of the shares related to the
exercised options

d) Regarding delivered shares, please inform: (1)

i) number of shares

ii) weighted average acquisition price

iii) total value of the difference between the acquisition price and market value of the acquired share

(1) Under the model adopted by the Company all the shares exercised are delivered.
(2) The Program 2011 of the Board of Directors expired during 2012. No option was exercised.

(3) The options granted to the Statutory Executive Board under Program 2006, Program 2009, Progra
of Program Il 2011 were replaced by options granted under Program 2012
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13.9. Information needed for the comprehension of the data disclosed in items 13.6
to 13.8 (including the pricing method for the value of shares and options):

Brief Description of the Formats for the Granting of Options

A. Traditional options (granted under Option Plan 2006, and Option Plan 2008, in the 1st set of
options granted under Program 2008; Program 2009; in the 1st set of options granted under
Program 2010, and Special Program |, Special Program Ill, in the 1st set of options granted
under Program Il 2011 and Board Program 2011 e and second and third granting of Program
2012)

Under this traditional option granting model, the options granted to each beneficiary are
divided into annual option lots, whose right to exercise is acquired annually.

Every year, the Beneficiary must earmark a minimum percentage of his annual bonus to the
exercising of the option lot in force in order to be able to acquire the right to exercise options
in subsequent lots (in other words, for the lots to be incorporated). If the bonus is not
allocated to the exercising of options, the future lots (not yet incorporated) of all the Programs
will become extinct. Based on the partial exercising of options of a given incorporated lot, the
Beneficiary has a period of 10 years to exercise his options partially or in full. In the case of
the Beneficiary not allocating his bonus in the manner required by the corresponding
Program, this time limit is reduced to 3 years, in the case of the lots already incorporated.

The exercise price, equivalent to the Market Value of the shares (with the exception of Special
Program | and Special Program lll, for which the exercise price is equivalent to the price
applicable to the corresponding program launched by Construtora Tenda S.A. which has the
objective of switching the program to the Company as a result of the absorption of the shares
of Construtora Tenda S.A. into the Company, as a function of the share swap ratio established
by the aforementioned share incorporation), for the options granted up to May 6, 2010,
updated in accordance with the General Prices Indicator (IGP-M), with interest added which
may vary between 3% and 6% a year (depending on the specific program) and deducting
interest on equity and dividends paid in the period. The rules relating to monetary correction
and the incidence of interest, ceased to apply from May 6, 2010 for existing programs,
following a decision by the Board of Directors taken on August 4, 2010.

After the exercising of the options, the beneficiary must respect the minimum lock-up period
for the shares acquired. This period, for the options granted under the traditional model up to
July 13, 2011, was of 1 year following the exercising of the options and the acquisition of the
corresponding shares. The rules related to the restriction of transfer of the shares acquired
are no longer applied in the existing Programs from the decision date of the Board of Directors
in a meeting held on July 13, 2011.

B. Restricted Stock Options (granted under Option Plan 2008, in the 2nd set of options granted
under Program 2008, under Program Il 2009, in the 2nd set of options granted under Program
2010, under Special Program Il, under Program 2011 and in the 2nd set of options granted
under Program Il 2011 and the 15t set of options granted under Program 2012)
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The options granted are divided into A Options and B Options. The lot of A Options is
incorporated (that is to say, they become exercisable) over the short term, and is available for
exercising during a brief period at an exercise price equivalent to the Market Value of the
shares (except in the case of Special Program Il, for the reasons indicated above, as well as
for Special Program | and Special Program lll, if they are approved). The B Options have an
exercise price equivalent to R$0.01 each. The B Options become exercisable after a lock-up
period of 3 years counting from the date of granting, in the case of Program 2008. While for
Program Il 2009, Program 2010, Program 2011 and in the 2nd set of options granted under
Program Il 2011, the B Options are divided into 3 annual lots, available for exercising within 2,
3 and 4 years counting from the date of granting, respectively. For the 1st set of options
granted under Special Program Il, the B Options became available for exercising from May 11,
2012, which represents a lock-up period of a little over 2 years counting from the date of their
granting by the Company. While in the 2nd set of options granted under Special Program Il,
the B Options were divided into 2 lots, available for exercise respectively from May 11, 2011
and May 11, 2012, which signifies respective lock-up period of approximately 1 year and 2
years, always counting from the date of granting by the company. Under the first 2012
Program Grant, B Options are divided into 3 annual lots, vested in 2, 3, and 4 years counted
from the grant date for executive officers; in all other cases, B Options are vested in a period
of 2 years counted from the grant date.

The quantity of B Options available for exercise is determined by the following factors:
* Quantity of A options exercised, under the terms described in item 13.4 above, and

* Variation in the appreciation targets of Company's shares in the period counting from the
date of granting to the date of affective exercising of the B Options.

The lock-up period after the exercising of the A Options, is 2 years counting from the date of
the B Options being exercised, in the case of Program 2008 and Special Program Il, and 1 year
counting from the date of the Program (independent of the date of exercising of the A
Options), under Program Il 2009, under Program 2010, under Program 2011 and in the 2nd
set of options granted under Program Il 2011. Under the first 2012 Program Grant, there are
no restrictions to the sale of shares after exercise of A Options, as these were granted on
August 20, 2012 and may only be exercised in the periods from May 1, to May 30, 2013 for
executive officers and between May 1 and May 30, 2014 for all others. There are no
restrictions, in any case, on the sale of shares acquired as a result of the exercising of the B
Options.

a. Pricing model

The models used by the Company for the pricing of the options granted to its managers and
employees are of the binomial model for the traditional options and the Monte Carlo model for
the format of the Restricted Stock Options.

Binomial Model

The model is based on the premise that the behavior of the share price in future periods can
be approximated into two possible trajectories: one ascending and the other descending. In

this way it is built on a “tree” of trajectories for the share price. The ascending factor and the
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descending factor are determined based on the volatility of the share and the interval of time
between the steps of the “tree”. The trajectories for the share price are determined up to the
expiry date.

In parallel, the “tree” is also constructed representing the value of the option for each period.
The value of the option is determined backwards, which is to say starting from maturity. At
the end of period, it is the owner of the option's decision whether to exercise it or not.

Monte Carlo Model

The Monte Carlo simulation is a popular alternative method, which allows the incorporation of
various sources of uncertainty. This method comprises the execution of a number of steps: (1)
determining the processes of uncertainty and the generation of inputs based on a sample of
the distributions of the entry variables, (2) the carrying out of mathematical operations with
inputs so as to generate outputs, (3) repeating the previous steps n times, so as to obtainn
outputs, and (4) through the results obtained, calculating statistical data, such as average and
standard deviation.
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The calculation algorithm for the Monte Carlo simulation consists of calculating the value of
the option on its due-date for every trajectory, so as to obtain an average of the values. The
value of the option at the starting time is given by the present value of the average found.

Bearing in mind that for the options granted under the Restricted Stock Option format, the
quantity of B Options depends on the quantity of A Options exercised, as well as the
application of a multiplier adjustment calculated as a function of the variation of the
Appreciation targets for the Company's shares, the Monte Carlo method was adopted in the
pricing of the options under the format mentioned.

b. Data and assumptions used in the pricing model, including the weighted average
share price, the exercise price, expected volatility, life of the option, expected
dividends and interest rates free of risk

Date of calculation

According to Technical Pronouncement CPC 10 - Payment Based on Shares, the options must
be valued on their respective granting date (in this case, the date of the approval of the
corresponding Program).

Weighted average share price

The price of the Company's shares considered as the basis for the calculation of the
respective options, is Market Value based on the calculation of the exercise prices, except, as
previously mentioned, for the approval of the Special Program.

Exercise price

* Traditional options granted:

The exercise price for the options granted under the traditional format has been corrected in
accordance with the variation in the IGP-M index, with interest of 3% to 6% a year added up to
May 6, 2010. So as to incorporate this contractual condition, the exercise price has been
corrected periodically during the binomial “tree”, so that at the moment of exercising, the
value paid out refers to the corrected amount, up until the corresponding rules were applied.
The inflation index curve was obtained from the Reference Rates published by the
BM&FBOVESPA S.A. - Sao Paulo stock exchange, having been interpolated for the respective
due dates. The method adopted was linear interpolation.

*  Options granted under the Restricted Stock Option format:

The exercise price for the options granted under the Restricted Stock Option format is: (i)
calculated based on Market Value for A Options and (ii) R$0.01 for B Options, without
monetary correction over time.

Expected volatility

117



Edgar Filing: Gafisa S.A. - Form 6-K/A

For the calculation of expected volatility annualized standard deviation was used taking the
natural logarithms of the historic daily variations in the Company's share price
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Option term
* Traditional options granted:

For options granted following the traditional format, if the Beneficiaries allocate a percentage
of their annual bonus for the acquisition of shares of a particular lot, the contractual period for
the exercising of the options in this lot is 10 years counting from the date that the B Options
become exercisable, in other words after their lock-up period, which may vary according to
the Program in question. If a percentage of the bonus is not allocated, the lots already
incorporated (that is to say, which are exercisable) will have a period of 3 to be exercised.

*  Options granted under the Restricted Stock Option format:

For these option grants, the life of the options was obtained based on the contractual period
of the option lock-up period (that is to say, based on the options that become available in the
financial year), bearing in mind that under the Restricted Stock Option, format, the options are
of the European type, that is to say exercisable only from a given date, and for a relatively
short period. For more information referring to the life of options granted in accordance with
the Restricted Stock Option format, see the other sub-items in Item 13.

Dividends expected (dividend yield)

The dividend yield represents the ratio between the dividend paid per share in a given period,
and the price of the share in the market. This variable was calculated based on the historic
distribution of dividends and interest-on-equity by the Company.

Interest rate free of risk

The interest rates free of risk had been obtained from the Brazilian Central Bank and referred
to the Selic (Special System for Settlement and Custody) rate on the respective option
granting dates.

c. Methods used and the premises assumed for the incorporation of the expected
effects of advance exercising

It can be observed empirically that options are exercised by their owners before the end of
the life of the option, in the case of traditional options. This behavior is due to various
reasons, such as for example, personal liquidity requirements and the impossibility of hedge
protection.

In this regard, the Company, so as to incorporate this peculiarity, adopts the assumption that
the options will be exercised from the moment that the lots become exercisable, that is to say
have been incorporated, following the end of the respective lock-up period. In this way, the
option life adopted in the calculations varies between 1 and 5 years, in accordance with the
number of lots and the corresponding lock-up period is in which the options are divided,
seeing that the Beneficiaries may not exercise options of any type before the end of the
lock-up period. In addition to this, for option pricing purposes options exercised in advance as
a result of the death or permanent disability of the Beneficiary, or corporate events, have not
been considered.
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d. Method for the determination of expected volatility

For the calculation of expected volatility, the annualized standard deviation has been used of
the natural logarithms of the daily historic variations in the Company's share price.

e. If there is any other characteristic of the option that has been incorporated in
the measuring of its fair value

Vesting period

During the vesting period, options may not be exercised by the Beneficiaries. For options
granted under the traditional format, this condition was included in the calculations with
respect to options of the European type (which can only be exercised from a certain date)
while they have not yet been incorporated. After their incorporation, the options become of
the American type (that is to say, exercisable at any moment until the extinction date).

Restrictions on sale ("lock-up")

Contractually speaking, for A Options granted under the Restricted Stock Option model there
is a restriction that exists on the sale of shares acquired to the exercising of options. This
restriction, also known as lock-up, varies between 1 and 2 years, in accordance with the
specific conditions of each Program.

This restriction implies the reduction in the value of the shares for the Beneficiary considering
that the shares are illiquid at the time of exercising the options. So as to take these
characteristics into account, a discount has been applied due to lack of liquidity in the share
price under the “protective put” method. According to this method, the value of a European
type put option with a period equal to the lock-up period is calculated, assuming volatility and
interest rates free of risk identical to those used in each plan. The value arrived at for this put
option is therefore divided by the value of the share price on the date of granting, so that
there is a percentage discount. This discount is finally applied to the option, reducing its
respective value.

This methodology is no longer applicable to the traditional programs, as, under the terms of
the Meeting of the Board of Directors held on July 13, 2011, all restrictions for the transfer and
sale were released from this date for the shares already acquired and shares that might be
acquired, in such Programs.

13.10. Information on the pension plan in force offered to members of the Board of
Directors and statutory Executive Board:

Not applicable, considering that no pension plans have been offered either to members of the
Board of Directors or statutory directors.

13.11. Compensation, in the last 3 financial years, of the Board of Directors, the
Statutory Executive Board and the Fiscal Council

Fiscal
ar 2010 Board of Directors Council Statutory Executive Bo:
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mber of members 5.67 3.00 5.00
ue of the highest individual compensation/year (1) 242,100 45,600 2,479,913
ue of the lowest individual compensation/year (2) 161,400 45,600 1,453,309
rage value of individual compensation/year (3) 168,547 45,600 1,842,653
e:

Considers the highest individual annual compensation effectively received, considering all the members, an
L the member with the highest compensation has remained for 12 months with the governing body.
Considers the lowest individual annual compensation effectively received, only including members who hav
n with the governing body for 12 months, excluding those remained for a shorter period.

Total amount of compensation paid divided by the number of members declared for the period.
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Fiscal
ar 2011 Board of Directors Council Statutory Executive Bo:
mber of members 8.00 3.00 5.92
ue of the highest individual compensation/year (1) 293,062 45,600 2,679,168
ue of the lowest individual compensation/year (2) 129,478 45,600 1,539,857
rage value of individual compensation/year (3) 212,854 45,600 1,942,100

e:

Considers the highest individual annual compensation effectively received, considering all the members, an
L the member with the highest compensation has remained for 12 months with the governing body.
Considers the lowest individual annual compensation effectively received, only including members who hav
n with the governing body for 12 months, excluding those remained for a shorter period.

Total amount of compensation paid divided by the number of members declared for the period.

amounts presented above refer to fixed compensation (Board of Directors, Fiscal Council and Statutory
cutive Board), short-term variable Statutory Executive Board) and long-term incentives, based on stock opti
1s (Board of Directors and Statutory Executive Board).

Fiscal
r 2012 Board of Directors Council Statutory Executive Bo:
mber of members 9.00 3.00 5.83
ue of the highest individual compensation/year (1) 320,824 45,600 6,123,879
ue of the lowest individual compensation/year (2) 224,056 45,600 3,165,013
rage value of individual compensation/year (3) 244,561 45,980 3,575,601

e:

Considers the highest individual annual compensation effectively received, considering all the members, an
L the member with the highest compensation has remained for 12 months with the governing body.
Considers the lowest individual annual compensation effectively received, only including members who hav
n with the governing body for 12 months, excluding those remained for a shorter period.

Total amount of compensation paid divided by the number of members declared for the period.

amounts presented above refer to fixed compensation (Board of Directors, Fiscal Council and Statutory
cutive Board), short-term compensation (Statutory Executive Board) and long-term incentives, based on stc
ion plans (Board of Directors and Statutory Executive Board). In the latest, the amounts presented are
arding the accounting costs calculated in the year of 2012, of existing programs in 12.31.12.

13.12. Contractual arrangements, insurance policies or other instruments which
structure mechanisms of compensation or indemnification for managers in the
event of dismissal from their post or retirement (including the financial
consequences for the Company):

None.
13.13. Percentage of total compensation of each body recognized in the result of
the company referring to members of the Board of Directors, the Executive Board

or the Fiscal Council who are related parties to the controlling shareholders,
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directly or indirectly, as defined by the accounting rules covering this subject:

None.

13.14. Values recognized in the Company's results as compensation of members of
the Board of Directors, Executive Board or Fiscal Council, grouped by body, for any
reason which is not a function of which they occupy, such as for example,
commissions and consulting services or services provided:

None.
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13.15. Values recognized in the result of the controlling shareholders, direct or
indirect, of companies under common control and subsidiaries of the company, in
the compensation of members of the Board of Directors, the Executive Board or the
Fiscal Council of the Company, grouped by body, specifying the amount of these
values attributed to such individuals :

None.

13.16. Other relevant information:

Compensation Based on Shares

The values presented as long-term incentives, based on stock options programs reflect the
accountant costs of all programs granted until the date of this Reference Form that are being
amortized in the year of 2012 (tables of 2012) and 2013 (tables of 2013 and, therefore
presented in our financial statements. These amounts are calculated in the moment of grant
through Binomial model (traditional Stock Option Plans) and Monte Carlo (Restricted Stock
Option Plans) and the calculated costs are amortized during its duration (usually 4 years).

The amounts presented do not represent the gains realized by the beneficiaries, since, as

mentioned above, it is calculated in the moment of granting and not adjusted by the behavior
of market, vesting rules, etc.
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APPENDIX II1

(As peritems 12.6 to 12.9 of Appendix 24 of CVM Instruction No. 480 of December 17, 2009)

12.6. Candidates to Fiscal Council nominated by Company’s management:

The Company’s management proposes the election of the following members to Fiscal

Council, whose key data are as follows:

d) Tax ID

)
b) o©) (CPF) or e) .
ame Age Profession Passport Position Election
Date
number
FISCAL COUNCIL
| Proposal
avo to be
;;fg’s 51 Business Tax1D r(](éPF/MF) Sitting submitted
rigues Administrator 769.488 977-20 member to AGM to
nior be held on
13/4/2013
Proposal
to be
riano Tax ID (CPF/MF) Sittin submitted
lek de 50 Accountant no memb?ar to AGM to
oura 037.059.028-73 be held on
13/4/2013
Proposal
uis to be
' Tax ID (CPF/MF) . submitted
?::ngeo 33 Banker no rr?(letrﬂrt])ger to AGM to
elo 964.918.410-49 be held on
13/4/2013
Proposal
to be
rcello Tax ID (CPF/MF) Alternate submitted
scotto 45 Economist no member to AGM to
nalfo 101.947.028-39 be held on
13/4/2013
Proposal
to be
rcelo . Tax ID (CPF/MF) submitted
rtins 42 Adligiiligsrsastor no ?#t:r;nt?é(ra to AGM to
Uro 118.319.918-02 be held on
13/4/2013

g) Date of

Investiture Office

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

Not
applicable

h) Termi

Positions Controlli

If
elected,
term of

office
until
AGM
2014

If
elected,
term of

office
until
AGM
2014

If
elected,
term of

office
until
AGM
2014

If
elected,
term of

office
until

AGM

2014

If
elected,
term of

office
until
AGM
2014

) Other

Holds no
other
position in
Company

Holds no
other
position in
Company

Holds no
other
position in
Company

Holds no
other
position in
Company

Holds no
other
position in
Company

j) Electec

the

Sharehol

Candidze
indicatec
the
Managen
of Comp

Candidzc
nominate
Compa
Managen

Candidze
nominate
Compa
Managen

Candidze
nominate
Compa
Managen

Candidze
nominate
Compa
Managen
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Proposal If Candidze
to be elected, nominate
) Holds no
Tax ID (CPF/MF) submitted term of Compa
. Alternate Not : other
32 Economist no member to AGM to abolicable office osition in Managen
294.953.408-29 be held on 2PP until R O8
13/4/2013 AGM pany
2014

12.7. Members of statutory committees, audit committee, risk committee, finance
committee and compensation committee:

Not applicable.
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12.8. Regarding each of the candidates to the Fiscal Council:
a) Resumes:
Sitting Members

Olavo Fortes Campos Rodrigues Junior. He began his career at Arthur Andersen in the areas of
auditing and consulting. He has professional experience in the management of companies in
the services, manufacturing and retail industries, working for Carrefour, Pepsi-Cola and Alcoa
Brazil and Argentina. In the past 5 years, he has held the following positions (i) CEO of Grupo
Siciliano, a company that produces and sells of books and e-commerce; (ii) Superintendent
Officer for Grupo Papaiz, a company that manufactures padlocks, door locks and related
products; (iii) member of the Fiscal Council for Duke Energy International, Geracao
Paranapanema S.A., a company that generates hydroelectricity and trades energy;

(iv) member of the Board of Directors for Renova Energia S.A., a company that generates
renewable energy generation, especially wind energy; (v) Managing Partner of OREA
Consultoria Empresarial, a company that provides consulting services for business
management and corporate governance; (vi) President of the Sao Isidoro Foundation, a
non-profit organization; (vii) member of the Company’s Fiscal Council; and (viii) member of
the Fiscal Council for Construtora Tenda S.A., a publicly-held company that develops and build
real estate projects. Construtora Tenda S.A. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
therefore, part of the same economic group.

Adriano Rudek de Moura. In the past 5 years he has held following positions (i) Administrative
and Chief Financial Officer, and currently holds the position of Administrative, Finance and
Investor Relations Vice-President of Electrolux do Brasil S.A., a company that produces and
sells home appliances, also holding the position of Chief Financial Officer of Electrolux for
Latin America; (ii) member of the Board of Directors of CTI - Compafia Tecno Industrial S.A.,
located in Chile, which produces and sells home appliances; (iii) member of the Company’s
Fiscal Council; and (iv) member of the Fiscal Council for Construtora Tenda S.A., a
publicly-held company that develops and build real estate projects. Construtora Tenda S.A. is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and therefore, part of the same economic group.

Luis Fernando Brum de Melo. In the past 5 years he has held following positions: (i)
Institutional Relation Manager and Executive Manager for Third-party Asset Management -
VITER at Caixa Econ6mica Federal, a public bank focusing on management of third parties
assets; and (ii) member of the Board of Directors for ljui Energia S.A., an Alupar Investment
group company, responsible for implementing the Sao José Hydroelectric Plant (UHE) on the
ljui River in the Northeastern region of Rio Grande do Sul State; (iii) member of the Board of
Directors of Foz do Rio Claro Energia S.A.; and (iv) member of the Company’s Fiscal Council.
None of the companies above if part of Company’s economic group.

Alternate Members

Marcello Mascotto lannalfo. He is currently Administrative and Chief Financial Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors for Areva Transmissao e Distribuicao de Energia Ltda. in
Chile, Argentina, Colombia and Venezuela, a company that sells equipment for transmission
and distribution of electricity. In the past five years, he has held the following positions: (i)
CFO and member of the Board of Directors for Power Transmission Industries S.A., a company
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that manufactures speed reducer and couplings; (ii) CFO for Termomecanica Sao Paulo S.A., a
company that transforms non-ferrous metals; (iii) CFO for Trip Linhas Aéreas, an aviation
company; (iv) CFO of the El Tejar Ltd group, an agricultural company; (v) alternate member of
the Company’s Fiscal Council; and (vi) alternate member of the Fiscal Council for Construtora
Tenda S.A. and Alphaville Urbanismo S.A. Construtora Tenda S.A. and Alphaville Urbanismo
S.A. are subsidiaries of the Company and therefore, part of the same economic group.

Marcelo Martins Louro. He began his career at Arthur Andersen in the auditing and consulting
areas and is currently Investor Relations Officer at T4F Entretenimento S.A., an entertainment
company, and alternate member of the Fiscal Council of Alphaville Urbanismo S.A.. In the past
5 years, he has served in the following positions: (i) CFO of Alphaville Urbanismo S.A.; (ii)
Planning and Control Officer of Construtora Tenda S.A.; and (iii) CFO of Scalina S.A., a textile
company. Construtora Tenda S.A. and Alphaville Urbanismo S.A. are subsidiaries of the
Company and therefore, part of the same economic group.

Laiza Fabiola Martins de Santa Rosa. In the past 5 years she has held the following positions:
(i) Coordinator of Principal Empreendimentos Imobilidrios, a company the provides collections
and mortgage renegotiation services for Caixa Econémica Federal, CDHU and COHAB; (ii)
Banking Technician, Commercial Relations Manager, Structured Operations Analyst and,
currently, Senior Desk Operator of Third Parties Assets at Caixa Econ6mica Federal, , a public
bank focusing on management of third parties assets None of the companies above is part of
Company’s economic group.
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b) Civil and administrative convictions (including criminal) involving the
management and members of Fiscal Council:

Mr. Olavo Fortes Campos Rodrigues Junior declared, for all purposes that, in the last 5
years, he was not subject to the effects of any criminal conviction, civil conviction or
administrative sentence from CVM or any judicial or administrative conviction in res judicata,
with the effect of suspending or disabling himself from the exercise of any professional or
commercial activity.

Mr. Adriano Rudek de Moura declared, for all purposes that, in the last 5 years, he was not
subject to the effects of any criminal conviction, civil conviction or administrative sentence
from CVM or any judicial or administrative conviction in res judicata, with the effect of
suspending or disabling himself from the exercise of any professional or commercial activity.

Mr. Luis Fernando Brum de Melo declared, for all purposes that, in the last 5 years, he was
not subject to the effects of any criminal conviction, civil conviction or administrative
sentence from CVM or any judicial or administrative conviction in res judicata, with the effect
of suspending or disabling himself from the exercise of any professional or commercial
activity.

Mr. Marcello Mascotto lannalfo declared, for all purposes that, in the last 5 years, he was
not subject to the effects of any criminal conviction, civil conviction or administrative
sentence from CVM or any judicial or administrative conviction in res judicata, with the effect
of suspending or disabling himself from the exercise of any professional or commercial
activity.

Mr. Marcelo Martins Louro declared, for all purposes that, in the last 5 years, he was not
subject to the effects of any criminal conviction, civil conviction or administrative sentence
from CVM or any judicial or administrative conviction in res judicata, with the effect of
suspending or disabling himself from the exercise of any professional or commercial activity.

Ms. Laiza Fabiola Martins de Santa Rosa declared, for all purposes that, in the last 5
years, he was not subject to the effects of any criminal conviction, civil conviction or
administrative sentence from CVM or any judicial or administrative conviction in res judicata,
with the effect of suspending or disabling himself from the exercise of any professional or
commercial activity.

12.9. Marital or family relations to the second degree existing between:
a) the company’s management:

There are no marital or family relations to the second degree existing between any of the
candidates to the Fiscal Council among themselves or the Company’s management.

Furthermore, as established by the Company’s Ethics Code, it is not allowed to hire immediate
family members of any employee and/or management (such as mother, father, brothers,
daughters or sons), nor spouses, cousins, aunts, uncles and nephews.
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Stable relationships between employees and/or management are also prohibited.

b) (i) Company’s management and (ii) management of Company’s direct and
indirect controlled companies

There are no marital or family relations to second degree existing between any of the
candidates to the Fiscal Council and management of the Company’s direct and indirect
subsidiaries.

Furthermore, as established by the Company’s Ethics Code, it is not allowed to hire immediate
family members of any employee and/or management (such as mother, father, brothers,
daughters or sons), nor spouses, cousins, aunts, uncles and nephews.

Stable relationships between employees and/or management of the Company and its direct
and indirect subsidiaries are also prohibited.

c) (i) the company’s management or that of its direct or indirect subsidiaries and
(ii) the company’s direct or indirect controllers

There are no marital or family relations to second degree existing between any of the
candidates to the Fiscal Council and management of the Company’s direct and indirect
controllers.

d) (i) company management and (ii) management of the company’s direct or
indirect controllers

There are no marital or family relations to second degree existing between any of the
candidates to the Fiscal Council and management of the Company’s direct and indirect
subsidiaries.
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12.10. Subordination relations, services provider or control maintained, in the last 3 fiscal years, between the candidates
to the Fiscal Council and:

a) the company’s direct and indirect subsidias (including

. . 55,516 54,376

Superfund) for non-landfill open sites
155,617 157,436
Less obligation classified as current 11,328 14,802
Long-term remedial liability $ 144,289 $ 142,634

Anticipated payments (based on current estimated costs) and anticipated timing of necessary regulatory approvals to commence work on
remedial activities for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31,

2005 $ 11,328
2006 11,351
2007 16,970
2008 16,490
2009 12,185
Thereafter 133,535
Undiscounted remedial liabilities 201,859
Less: Discount (46,242)
Present value of remedial liabilities $ 155,617
]

The anticipated payments for Long-term Maintenance range from $4.5 million to $6.9 million per year over the next five years. Spending
on One-Time Projects for the next five years ranges from $1.1 million to $8.2 million per year with an average expected payment of $5.0 million
per year. Legal and Superfund liabilities payments are expected to be between $1.7 million and $2.8 million per year for the next five years with
the exception of 2009 where spending is anticipated to be $6.4 million primarily because of one case. These estimates are managed on a daily
basis, reviewed at least quarterly, and adjusted as additional information becomes available.
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The changes to remedial liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

Changes in
Estimate Currency
Charged to Translation,
December 31, Statement of Other Changes Reclassifications December 31,
2003 Accretion Operations in Estimate and Other Payments 2004

Remedial liabilities for

landfill sites $ 5,525 $ 225 $ (420) $ $ 140 $ 485) % 4,985
Remedial liabilities for

discontinued facilities

not now used in the

active conduct of the

Company's business 97,535 4,390 (841) 392 196 (6,556) 95,116

Remedial liabilities

(including Superfund)

for non-landfill open

sites 54,376 2,417 (29) 765 (2,013) 55,516

Total $ 157,436 $ 7,032 § (1,290) $ 392 $ 1,101 $ 9,054) $ 155,617
I S I

The changes to remedial liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2003 are as follows (in thousands):

Purchase
Accounting
Cumulative Adjustment
Effect of Due to
Changes in Change in
Accounting Accounting Accretion Currency
for Asset for Asset Other Purchase and Other Translation,
December 31, Retirement Retirement Accounting Chargesto  Reclassifications December 31,
2002 Obligations Obligations Adjustments Expense and Other Payments 2003

Remedial liabilities

for landfill sites $ 4,519 $ $ $ 662 $ 230 $ 358 $ (244) $ 5,525
Remedial liabilities

for discontinued

facilities not now

used in the active

conduct of the

Company's business 104,899 537 (16,363) 6,003 3,804 2,228 (3,573) 97,535
Remedial liabilities

(including Superfund)

for non-landfill open

sites 34,428 (16) 18,059 2,347 978 (1,420) 54,376
Total $ 143846 $ 537 $ (16,379) $ 24724 $ 6,381 $ 3,564 $ (5,237)$ 157,436

Estimation of Certain Preacquisition Contingencies SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies," requires that an estimated loss from a
loss contingency be accrued and recorded as a liability if it is both probable and estimable, but the Statement does not permit a company
acquiring assets to record as part of the purchase price those assumed liabilities which are not both probable and estimable. As described in
Note 11, "Legal Proceedings," under the headings "Ville Mercier Legal Proceedings" and
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"Marine Shale Processors," as of December 31, 2002 the Company was unable to estimate the amount of potential remedial liabilities in
connection with the facility and sites which are the subject of these proceedings, but, as part of the integration plan of the CSD acquisition, the
Company committed to obtaining the data required so that the Company could record such potential liabilities as adjustments to the purchase
price. Sufficient additional information on these proceedings was obtained prior to the first anniversary to allow the Company to record these
potential liabilities as adjustments to the purchase price for the CSD assets in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States. Accordingly, additional discounted environmental liabilities were recorded as part of the purchase price in the quarter ended
September 30, 2003. At December 31, 2004, the Company had recorded reserves of $13.7 million and $10.6 million relating to Marine Shale
Processors and the Ville Mercier Legal Proceedings, respectively.

Remedial liabilities, including Superfund liabilities As described in the tables above under "Reserves for remedial obligations," the
Company had as of December 31, 2004 a total of $155.6 million of estimated liabilities for remediation of environmental contamination, of
which $5.0 million related to the Company's landfills and $150.6 million related to non-landfill facilities (including Superfund sites owned by
third parties). The Company periodically evaluates potential remedial liabilities at sites that it owns or operates or to which the Company or the
Sellers of the CSD assets (or the respective predecessors of the Company or the Sellers) transported or disposed of waste, including 56
Superfund sites as of December 31, 2004. The Company periodically reviews and evaluates sites requiring remediation, including Superfund
sites, giving consideration to the nature (i.e., owner, operator, arranger, transporter or generator) and the extent (i.e., amount and nature of waste
hauled to the location, number of years of site operations or other relevant factors) of the Company's (or the Sellers') alleged connection with the
site, the extent (if any) to which the Company believes it may have an obligation to the Sellers to indemnify cleanup costs in connection with the
site, the regulatory context surrounding the site, the accuracy and strength of evidence connecting the Company (or the Sellers) to the location,
the number, connection and financial ability of other named and unnamed PRPs and the nature and estimated cost of the likely remedy. Where
the Company concludes that it is probable that a liability has been incurred, provision is made, based upon management's judgment and prior
experience, for the Company's best estimate of the liability.

Remediation liabilities are inherently difficult to estimate. Estimating remedial liabilities requires that the existing environmental
contamination be understood. There is a risk that the actual quantities of contaminates differ from the results of the site investigation, and there
is a risk that contaminants exist that have not been identified by the site investigation. In addition, the amount of remedial liabilities recorded is
dependent on the remedial method selected. There is a risk that funds will be expended on a remedial solution that is not successful, which could
result in the additional incremental costs of an alternative solution. Such estimates, which are subject to change, are subsequently revised if and
when additional information becomes available.

In connection with the Company's acquisition of the CSD assets, the Company performed extensive due diligence, including hiring
third-party engineers and attorneys to estimate accurately the aggregate liability for remedial liabilities to which the Company became
potentially liable as a result of the acquisition. Those remedial liabilities relate to the active and discontinued hazardous waste treatment and
disposal facilities which the Company acquired as part of the CSD assets and 35 Superfund sites owned by third parties for which the Company
agreed to indemnify certain remedial
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liabilities owed or potentially owed by the Sellers and payable to governmental entities. In the case of each such facility and site, the Company's
estimate of remediation liabilities involved an analysis of such factors as: (i) the nature and extent of environmental contamination (if any),

(i) the terms of applicable permits and agreements with regulatory authorities as to cleanup procedures and whether modifications to such
permits and agreements will likely need to be negotiated, (iii) the cost of performing anticipated cleanup activities based upon current
technology, and (iv) in the case of Superfund and other sites where other parties will also be responsible for a portion of the cleanup costs, the
likely allocation of such costs and the ability of such other parties to pay their share. Based upon the Company's analysis of each of the above
factors in light of currently available facts and legal interpretations, existing technology, and presently enacted laws and regulations, the
Company estimates that its aggregate liabilities as of December 31, 2004 (as calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States) for future remediation relating to all of its owned or leased facilities and the Superfund sites for which the
Company has current or potential liability is approximately $155.6 million. The Company also estimates that it is "reasonably possible" as that
term is defined in SFAS No. 5 ("more than remote but less than likely"), that the amount of such total liabilities could be up to $22.3 million
greater than such $155.6 million. Future changes in either available technology or applicable laws or regulations could affect such estimates of
environmental liabilities. Since the Company's satisfaction of the liabilities will occur over many years and in some cases over periods of

30 years or more, the Company cannot now reasonably predict the nature or extent of future changes in either available technology or applicable
laws or regulations and the impact that those changes, if any, might have on the current estimates of environmental liabilities.

The following tables show, respectively, (i) the amounts of such estimated liabilities associated with the types of facilities and sites
involved and (ii) the amounts of such estimated liabilities associated with each facility or site which represents at least 5% of the total and with
all other facilities and sites as a group.

Estimates Based on Type of Facility or Site (dollars in thousands):

Discounted
Discounted Reasonably
Remedial % of Possible
Type of Facility or Site Liability Total Additional Losses
Facilities now used in active conduct of the Company's business (14 facilities) $ 38,490 24.7% $ 7,534
Discontinued CSD facilities not now used in active conduct of the Company's
business but acquired because assumption of remedial liabilities for such
facilities was part of the purchase price for CSD assets (18 facilities) 94,939 61.0 11,471
Superfund sites owned by third parties on which wastes generated or shipped
by the Sellers (or their predecessors) are present (19 sites) 20,180 13.0 1,863
Sites for which the Company had liabilities prior to the acquisition of CSD
assets (3 Superfund sites and 6 other sites) 2,008 1.3 1,475
Total $ 155,617 100.0% $ 22,343
I I
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Estimates Based on Amount of Potential Liability (dollars in thousands):

Discounted
Reasonably
Discounted Possible
Remedial % of Additional
Location Type of Facility or Site Liability Total Losses
Baton Rouge, LA Closed incinerator and landfill $ 38,552 24.8% $ 5,391
Bridgeport, NJ Closed incinerator 27,657 17.8 3,345
Marine Shale Processors Potential third party Superfund site 13,739 8.8 1,379
Mercier, Quebec Open incineration facility and legal
proceedings 11,325 7.3 1,163
Roebuck, SC Closed incinerator 10,438 6.7 832
Various All other incinerators, landfills, wastewater
treatment facilities and service centers
(35 facilities) 47,271 30.4 9,556
Various All other Superfund sites (each representing
less than 5% of total liabilities) owned by third
parties on which wastes generated or shipped
by either the Company or the Sellers (or their
predecessors) are present (21 sites) 6,635 4.2 677
Total $ 155,617 100.0% $ 22,343

Revisions to remedial reserve requirements may result in upward or downward adjustments to income from operations in any given period.
The Company believes that its extensive experience in the environmental services business, as well as its involvement with a large number of
sites, provides a reasonable basis for estimating its aggregate liability. It is reasonably possible that legal, technological, regulatory or
enforcement developments, the results of environmental studies or other factors could necessitate the recording of additional liabilities and/or the
revision of currently recorded liabilities that could be material. The impact of such future events cannot be estimated at the current time.
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(14) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash equivalents approximate fair value. The fair value of the
marketable securities, which consist of auction rate securities, is par value, at which they trade. The fair value of the Senior Secured Notes is
based on quoted market price. The Company borrowings at variable interest rates approximate fair value because the interest rates are based on
floating rates identified by reference to market rates. The fair values of the Company's Subordinated Loans could not be determined, since there

was no active market in these securities. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments are
as follows (in thousands):

Carrying Fair
Amount Value
December 31, 2004
Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,081 § 31,081
Marketable securities 16,800 16,800
Senior Secured Notes 150,000 159,516
December 31, 2003
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,331 $ 6,331
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 88,817 88,817
Subordinated Loans for which no quoted market prices were available 40,000
Borrowings at variable rates 142,500 142,500

See Notes 4, 7 and 10 for further discussion on restricted cash and cash equivalents.

(15) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases. The Company leases facilities, service centers and personal property under certain operating leases. Some of these lease
agreements contain an escalation clause for increased taxes and operating expenses and are renewable at the option of the Company. The
Company also leases certain equipment under capital lease obligations, which consists primarily of rolling stock and laboratory equipment.
Lease terms range from two to seven years. The following is a summary of future minimum
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payments under capital and operating leases that have initial or remaining noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year at December 31, 2004
(in thousands):

Total Total
Capital Operating
Year Leases Leases
2005 $ 1,872 $ 9,104
2006 1,707 5,955
2007 1,178 4,024
2008 817 2,896
2009 138 2,251
Thereafter 10 1,297
Total minimum lease payments 5722 $ 25,527
Less: imputed interest at interest rates ranging from 1.67% to 35.9% 715
Present value of future minimum lease payments $ 5,007
I
Total capital lease obligations $ 5,007
Less: current portion of capital lease obligations 1,522
Long-term capital lease obligations $ 3,485
I

During the years 2004, 2003 and 2002, rent expense was approximately $32.3 million, $30.0 million, and $17.9 million, respectively.

Other Contingencies. The Company is subject to various regulatory requirements, including the procurement of requisite licenses and
permits at its facilities. These licenses and permits, without which the Company's operations would be adversely affected, are subject to periodic
renewal. The Company anticipates that, once a license or permit is issued with respect to a facility, the license or permit will be renewed at the
end of its term if the facility's operations are in compliance with the applicable regulatory requirements.

Under the Company's insurance programs, coverage is obtained for catastrophic exposures, as well as those risks required to be insured by
law or contract. It is the policy of the Company to retain a significant portion of certain expected losses related primarily to workers'
compensation, health insurance, comprehensive general, environmental impairment and vehicle liability. Provisions for losses expected under
these programs are recorded based upon the Company's estimates of the aggregate liability for claims. The deductible per occurrence for the
workers' compensation, general liability and vehicle liability is $0.5 million. The deductible per occurrence for the environmental impairments is
$1.0 million. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had accrued $4.4 million and $4.4 million as restated, respectively, for its
self-insurance liabilities. Actual expenditures in future periods can differ materially from accruals based on estimates.

Gain Contingency. 1In 2003, the Company filed an insurance claim in the amount of $4.5 million for reimbursement of costs incurred and
lost profits relating to a fire that occurred at a then CSD-owned facility that the Company acquired as part of the acquisition of the CSD assets
from Safety-Kleen Corp. The Company recorded $1.2 million as a receivable for out-of-pocket costs, and the Company determined that the
$3.3 million of the claim related to lost profits was a gain contingency.
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As of December 31, 2004, the Company had $1.2 million recorded as a receivable for out-of-pocket costs. The Company will record the portion
of the claim that represents lost profits as a component of other income if or when a settlement is reached with the insurance company.

(16) INCOME TAXES

The domestic and foreign components of income (loss) before provision for income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle are as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

(Restated) (Restated)
2004 2003 2002
Domestic $ (4,906) $ (27,602) $ (31,854)
Foreign 13,549 15,390 7,194
Total $ 8,643 $ (12,212) ' $ (24,660)

The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Current:

Federal $ (124) $ $ (545)

State 50 185 610

Foreign 5,944 5,701 2,047
Total 5,870 5,386 2,112
Deferred

Federal 488

State 564

Foreign 173 (564) 623
Total 173 (564) 1,675
Net provision for income taxes $ 6,043 § 5322 § 3,787
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The effective income tax rate varies from the amount computed using the statutory federal income tax rate as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

(Restated) (Restated)
2004 2003 2002

Book income at statutory rate $ 2939 §$ 4,152) $ (8,384)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit (304) 148 556
Foreign rate differential 1,349 330 202
Foreign income inclusion 4,529 3,378 2,446
Adjustment of prior year's estimated attributes 645 (362) (456)
Change in federal valuation allowance 1,034 5,632 8,934
Other 609 348 489
Tax credits, net (4,758)
Net provision for income taxes. $ 6,043 $ 5322 % 3,787

]

The components of the total net deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows (in thousands):

Deferred tax assets:
Workers compensation accrual $
Provision for doubtful accounts
Closure, post-closure and remedial liabilities
Accrued expenses
Accrued compensation
Net operating loss carryforwards
Tax credit carryforwards

Total deferred tax asset

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment
Permits and customer databases
Miscellaneous

Total deferred tax liability

Total net deferred tax asset before valuation allowance

Less valuation allowance

Net deferred tax asset $

(Restated)
2004 2003
1,753 $ 1,775
1,144 1,228
45,072 47,771
2,250 1,497
10 446
17,661 23,706
12,525 1,660
80,415 78,083
(11,198) (14,951)
(28,623) (20,384)
(204) (3,139)
(40,025) (38,474)
40,390 39,609
(39,714) (32,837)
676 $ 6,772

The Company has U.S. federal net operating loss carryovers of approximately $45.2 million at December 31, 2004 which begin to expire in
2012. The Company has federal tax credit carryovers of approximately $1.4 million at December 31, 2004 which begin to expire in 2007 and

foreign tax credit carryovers of approximately $11.1 million which begin to expire in 2012.
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In the first quarter of 2004, the Company recorded a benefit of approximately $0.1 million as the result of a favorable resolution of a federal
alternative minimum tax net operating loss carryback claim.

In the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a benefit of approximately $0.7 million as a result of the favorable resolution of a
federal alternative minimum tax net operating loss carryback claim.

In the third quarter of 2002, the Company established a $16.9 million valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets recorded in connection
with the acquisition of the CSD assets. The valuation allowance was subsequently reduced to $4.4 million in 2003 as a result of adjustments to
the deferred tax assets recorded in the acquisition. In the third quarter of 2002, the Company established a valuation allowance against its
existing net deferred tax assets position of $1.1 million in recognition of the difficulty posed in projecting future profits in view of the
acquisition. All reductions to the valuation allowance associated with the CSD acquisition in the future will be recorded as a decrease to
acquisition-related intangible assets, rather than a tax provision benefit as the net deferred tax assets were fully reserved at the time of the related
business combination.

The Company provides for U.S. taxes on all of its foreign earnings as the foreign earnings are not considered to be permanently invested
outside the U.S.

The Company maintains a full valuation allowance against its U.S. deferred tax assets, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes," which requires that a valuation allowance be established or maintained when it is "more likely
than not" that all or a portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the "Act") was enacted on October 24, 2004. The Act makes a number of changes to the income
tax laws such as a new reduction for qualifying domestic production activities and the ability to repatriate permanent reinvested foreign earnings
at an effective tax rate of 5.25%. The Company is currently reviewing the provisions of the Act and its impact cannot be quantified at this time;
however, it is not anticipated that the Act will have a material impact on the Company's income tax provision.
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(17) EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The following is a reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share computations (in thousands except for per share amounts):

Year Ended 2004
Loss Shares Loss
(Numerator) (Denominator) Per Share
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 2,600
Redemption of Series C Preferred Stock, dividends on Series B and C
Preferred Stocks and accretion on Series C Preferred Stock (11,798)
Basic and diluted loss available to common shareholders before cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle (9,198) 14,099 $ (0.65)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax 14,099
Basic and diluted loss attributable to common shareholders $ (9,198) 14,099 $ (0.65)
.| ]
Year Ended 2003
(Restated) (Restated)
Loss Shares Loss
(Numerator) (Denominator) Per Share
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ (17,534)
Dividends on Series B and C Preferred Stocks and accretion on Series C
Preferred Stock 3,287
Basic and diluted loss available to common shareholders before cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle (20,821) 13,553 $ (1.54)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax (66) 13,553
Basic and diluted loss attributable to common shareholders $ (20,887) 13,553 $ (1.54)
]
Year Ended 2002
(Restated) (Restated)
Loss Shares Loss
(Numerator) (Denominator) Per Share
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ (28,447)
Dividends on Series B and C Preferred Stocks and accretion on Series C
Preferred Stock 1,291
Basic and diluted loss available to common shareholders before cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle (29,738) 12,189 $ (2.44)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax 12,189
Basic and diluted loss attributable to common shareholders $ (29,738) 12,189 $ (2.44)

Because the effects would be anti-dilutive for the periods presented, the above computation of diluted income (loss) per share excludes the
following: (i) for the year ended December 31, 2004, the effect of 2.8 million warrants outstanding issued on June 30, 2004 relating to the
redemption of the
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Series C Preferred Stock; (ii) the assumed conversion of the Series C Preferred Stock into 3.3 million and 2.4 million shares of common stock
for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively; (iii) the assumed exercise of the warrants issued in conjunction with the

$35.0 million of Subordinated Notes in 2001 into 1.2 million shares of common stock for the year ended December 31, 2002; (iv) the assumed
exercise of 1.6 million, 1.8 million and 1.2 million stock options for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively; and

(v) the assumed conversion of the Series B Preferred Stock into 0.2 million common shares for the year ended December 31, 2004 and into
0.3 million common shares for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.

(18) REDEEMABLE SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK

Prior to June 30, 2004, the Company had outstanding 25,000 shares of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value ("Series C
Preferred Stock"). The Series C Preferred Stock was entitled to receive dividends at an annual rate of 6.0% (such dividends were paid in cash
through March 2003 and thereafter accrued and compounded through the redemption date). The Company issued the Series C Preferred Stock
for $25.0 million on September 10, 2002, and incurred $2.9 million of issuance costs. The Company determined that the Series C Preferred
Stock should be recorded on the Company's financial statements as though the Series C Preferred Stock consisted of two components, namely:
(1) non-convertible redeemable preferred stock (the "Host Contract") with a 6.0% annual dividend and (ii) an embedded derivative (the
"Embedded Derivative") which reflected the right of the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock to convert into the Company's common stock on
the terms set forth in the Series C Preferred Stock. The Series C Preferred Stock reported on the Company's consolidated balance sheet consisted
only of the value of the Host Contract (less the issuance costs) plus the amount of accretion in the value of the Host Contract which had been
recorded through the balance sheet date with regard to the discount which was originally recorded for the Host Contract, plus the amount of
accretion for issuance costs and accrued dividends. Such discount and issuance costs were being accreted over the life of the Series C Preferred
Stock, with such accretion being recorded as a reduction in additional paid-in-capital. During the period from January 1 through June 30, 2004,
the Company recorded accretion on the discount and issuance costs of the Series C Preferred Stock of $0.7 million. For the six-month period
ended December 31, 2004, no accretion was recorded because of the redemption of the Series C Preferred Stock on June 30, 2004. For the year
ended December 31, 2003, the amount of accretion recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital was $1.3 million. For the year ended
December 31, 2002, the Company recorded in Other Long-term Liabilities the fair value of the Embedded Derivative and periodically marked
that value to market. As of December 31, 2003, the market value of the embedded derivative was determined to be $9.6 million, and the
Company recorded $0.4 million of Other Expense during 2003 to adjust the carrying value of the Embedded Derivative to fair value. As noted
below, on June 30, 2004 the Company redeemed the Series C Preferred Stock. At that time, the market value of the Embedded Derivative was
determined to be $11.2 million and the Company recorded other expense of $1.6 million through June 30, 2004 to reflect such adjustment.

145

144



Edgar Filing: Gafisa S.A. - Form 6-K/A

On June 30, 2004, the Company redeemed the Series C Preferred Stock for $25.0 million in cash and paid accrued dividends of
$2.0 million. The difference between the $25.0 million paid and the carrying amount of the Series C Preferred Stock of $17.2 million on
June 30, 2004 was charged to additional paid-in capital. In addition, the Company issued warrants to purchase 2.8 million shares of the
Company's common stock, and the Company paid $0.4 million of cash in lieu of warrants for certain other conversion rights of the holders of the
Series C Preferred Stock. The warrants issued are exercisable at $8.00 per common share and expire on September 10, 2009. The Company
settled the $11.2 million Embedded Derivative liability through the issuance of the 2.8 million warrants (which the Company valued using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model at $9.2 million) together with the $0.4 million of cash that was paid in lieu of warrants, which resulted in a
gain on the settlement of the Embedded Derivative of $1.6 million. The gain on the settlement of the Embedded Derivative was recorded as a
reduction to refinancing-related expenses. The value of the warrants issued of $9.2 million was credited to additional paid-in capital. Because of
the redemption of the Series C Preferred Stock on June 30, 2004, the Company will not be required to make mark-to-market adjustments to the
Company's reported income (loss) associated with the Embedded Derivative for any period subsequent to June 30, 2004.

(19) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(a) Limitations on Access to Public Capital Markets

As described in Note 3, "Acquisition," effective September 7, 2002, the Company purchased from Safety-Kleen Services, Inc. (the "Seller")
and certain of the Seller's domestic subsidiaries substantially all of the assets of the Chemical Services Division (the "CSD") of Safety-Kleen
Corp. ("Safety-Kleen"). Regulations of the SEC require the filing of audited financial statements of the acquired company if determined to be a
material acquisition. Safety-Kleen publicly disclosed that it had material deficiencies in many of its financial systems, processes and related
internal controls. The Seller agreed in the Acquisition Agreement to provide the Company audited balance sheets for the CSD as of the end of
each of the CSD's three fiscal years in the period ended August 31, 2001, and the Company filed these balance sheets as part of the Form 8-K
filed by the Company with the SEC on September 25, 2002. However, due to Safety-Kleen's material internal control deficiencies,
Safety-Kleen's auditors advised Safety-Kleen that they were not able to provide auditors' reports with respect to the CSD's statements of
operations and cash flows for such three fiscal years. Additionally, Safety-Kleen's pre-existing deficiencies in financial systems, processes, and
related internal controls led the Company to believe that the historical unaudited financial statements of the CSD may not be reliable or accurate.
The Company received a "no-action letter" from the SEC staff with respect to the Company's inability to file audited statements of operations
and cash flows for the CSD or a pro forma statement of operations based thereon. However, until the Company is able to file audited statements
of operations and cash flows reflecting combined operations following the Company's acquisition of the CSD assets for at least three years (or
such lesser period as the SEC staff may permit in the future), the Company will not be able to file registration statements for public securities
offerings (except for offerings involving employee benefit plans and secondary offerings by holders of warrants and other securities). This could
prevent the Company from being able to access the public capital markets until audited financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2005 are filed, but it does not prevent the Company from obtaining financing through other sources such as private equity or debt placements
and bank loans.

146

145



Edgar Filing: Gafisa S.A. - Form 6-K/A

(b) Stock Option Plans

In 1992 the Company adopted an equity incentive plan, which provides for a variety of incentive awards, including stock options ("1992
Plan"), and in 2000, the Company adopted a stock incentive plan, which provides for awards in the form of incentive stock options,
non-qualified stock options and restricted stock ("2000 Plan"). In 2002, the Company amended the 2000 Plan by increasing the awards that can
be issued under the 2000 Plan from 0.8 million shares to 1.5 million shares. As of December 31, 2004, all awards under the 1992 and 2000 Plans
were in the form of non-qualified stock options. These options generally become exercisable up to five years from the date of grant, subject to
certain employment requirements, and terminate ten years from the date of grant. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had reserved 207,581
shares of common stock for issuance under the 2000 Plan, exclusive of shares previously issued or reserved for options previously granted under
the 2000 Plan. The 1992 Plan expired on March 15, 2002, but there were outstanding on December 31, 2004 options for an aggregate of 401,265
shares which shall remain in effect until such options are either exercised or expire in accordance with their terms. In addition, on December 31,
2004, there were outstanding options for an aggregate of 31,750 shares under the Company's 1987 Equity Incentive Plan which had expired in
1997.

Under the terms of the 2000 Plan, as amended, options may be granted to purchase shares of common stock at an exercise price less than
the fair market value on the date of grant. No compensation expense related to stock option grants to employees was recorded in 2004, 2003 or
2002, as the option exercise prices were equal to, or greater than, the fair market value on the date of grant.

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company granted options to non-employees of the Company, and in accordance with SFAS No. 123
"Accounting for Stock Based Compensation," recorded expense of $35 thousand, $29 thousand and $166 thousand related to those options for
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Activity under the Plans for the three years ended December 31, 2004 is as follows:

Weighted
Number of Average
Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2001 1,526,882 $ 2.18
Granted at fair value 193,800 8.14
Forfeited (50,020) 3.08
Exercised (478,144) 2.06
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 1,192,518 3.17
Granted at fair value 967,042 12.54
Forfeited (154,685) 11.23
Exercised (246,965) 2.10
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 1,757,910 7.76
Granted at fair value 77,833 6.70
Forfeited (27,310) 8.61
Exercised (172,665) 2.26
Outstanding at December 31, 2004 1,635,768 $ 8.28
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Summarized information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2004 is as follows:

Exercisable
Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted

Number of Remaining Average Average

Range of Options Contractual Exercise Number of Exercise

Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Price Options Price

$1.44 1.75 17,000 2.76 $1.53 17,000 $1.53
1.81 101,415 3.32 1.81 101,415 1.81
1.88 2.06 110,900 4.06 1.98 90,600 1.97
2.13 242 139,778 3.05 2.22 102,778 2.24
2.50 100,650 5.15 2.50 59,950 2.50
2.61 2.88 14,000 2.06 2.65 13,000 2.63
3.26 3.86 106,800 6.99 3.38 50,000 3.36
5.73 6.46 94,300 8.00 6.05 39,300 6.25
7.52 8.08 21,833 5.25 7.85 6,000 7.89
9.07 9.91 95,667 7.78 9.56 32,778 9.65
10.37 10.78 119,000 7.20 10.55 39,000 10.57
11.22 11.70 20,000 7.86 11.58 15,000 11.70
12.98 694,425 8.14 12.98 139,685 12.98

Options exercisable at December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 were 706,506, 559,007, and 586,999, respectively. The weighted average
exercise prices for the exercisable options at December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 were $5.63, $2.88, and $2.39, respectively.

The fair value of each option granted during 2004, 2003, and 2002 is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing

model with the following assumptions:

2004 2003 2002
Dividend yield none none none
Expected volatility 85.0% 85.0% 88.2%
Risk-free interest rate 3.4% 3.0% 4.3%
Expected life 3.7 49 5.9
Weighted average fair value of options granted at fair value during:
2004 $ 5.16
2003 $ 855
2002 $ 598
|

There were no options granted at greater than fair value in the periods presented.
(c) Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In May of 1995, the Company's stockholders approved an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"), which is a qualified employee

stock purchase plan under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, through which employees of the Company are given

the opportunity to
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purchase shares of common stock. According to the ESPP, a total of one million shares of common stock have been reserved for offering to
employees, in quarterly offerings of 50,000 shares each plus any shares not issued in any previous quarter, commencing on July 1, 1995 and on
the first day of each quarter thereafter. As of December 31, 2004, an aggregate of 132,480 shares remained available for future issuance under
the ESPP. Employees who elect to participate in an offering may utilize up to 10% of their payroll for the purchase of common stock at 85% of
the closing price of the stock on the first day of such quarterly offering or, if lower, 85% of the closing price on the last day of the offering.
During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, monies were withheld from employees for the purchase of 64,760, 105,537, and
53,937, shares, respectively, of common stock under the ESPP. The weighted average per share fair value of the purchase rights granted under
the ESPP during 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $2.81, $1.93, and $2.61, respectively.

(d) Warrants

In connection with the issuance on April 30, 2001 of Subordinated Notes (that were repaid in September 2002), the Company issued
warrants to purchase 1,519,020 shares of common stock exercisable at $0.01 per share and expiring on April 30, 2008. The proceeds from the
issuance of the Subordinated Notes and warrants were allocated based on the relative fair value of the warrants and Subordinated Notes. During
the year ended December 31, 2002, warrants for 281,212 shares were exercised, 892 warrants were cancelled upon net exercise, and 1,236,916
warrants remained outstanding at December 31, 2002. During the year ended December 31, 2003, warrants for 1,236,010 shares were exercised,
906 warrants were cancelled upon net exercise, and no warrants remained outstanding at December 31, 2003.

As further described in Note 18, "Redeemable Series C Preferred Stock," on June 30, 2004, the Company issued warrants to purchase
2.8 million shares of the Company's common stock and the Company paid $0.4 million of cash in lieu of warrants for certain other conversion
rights of the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock. The warrants issued are exercisable at $8.00 per common share and expire on
September 10, 2009. As of December 31, 2004, there were 2,775,000 warrants outstanding. On February 11, 2005, warrants for 717,060 shares
were exercised in a cashless exercise that resulted in the issuance of 420,571 shares of common stock. In connection with the cashless exercise,
warrants for 296,489 shares were cancelled. As of February 11, 2005, warrants for 2,057,940 shares remained outstanding.

(e) Series B Preferred Stock

On February 16, 1993, the Company issued 112,000 shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value ("Series B Preferred
Stock"), for the acquisition of its Spring Grove facility. The liquidation value of each share of Series B Preferred Stock is the liquidation
preference of $50.00 plus unpaid dividends. Series B Preferred Stock may be converted by the holder into common stock at a conversion rate
which, as of December 31, 2004, was equal to $16.45 per share and is subject to customary antidilution adjustments. There is no expiration date
associated with the conversion option. The Company has the option to redeem the Series B Preferred Stock at the liquidation preference plus any
accrued dividends with no redemption premium. Each share of Series B Preferred Stock entitles its holder to receive a cumulative annual cash
dividend of $4.00 per share, or at the election of the Company, a common stock dividend of equivalent value. On October 19, 2004, 42,000
shares of
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Series B Preferred Stock were converted into 127,680 shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had 70,000 shares of
Series B Preferred Stock outstanding.

Dividends on the Series B Preferred Stock are payable on the 15" day of January, April, July and October, at the rate of $1.00 per share, per
quarter. Due to loan covenant restrictions, the Company paid the third and fourth quarter 2003 and the first and second quarter 2004 dividends in
equivalent value of common stock. Dividends for other quarters included in the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, were paid in
cash.

(20) RESTRUCTURING

For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of $750,000 related to the acquisition of the assets of
the CSD. The restructuring charge consisted of $250,000 for severance for individuals that were employees of the Company prior to the
acquisition, and $500,000 of costs associated with the decision to close parts of facilities and sales offices that were operated by the Company
prior to the acquisition and that became duplicative due to facilities and sales offices acquired as part of the CSD assets. The Company is in the
process of completing the restructuring. The following table summarizes the activity from the acquisition date through December 31, 2004
(dollars in thousands):

Severance Locations

Number of Number of

Employees Costs Locations Costs Total
Accrued Restructuring Costs 20 $ 250 9 $ 500 $ 750
Utilized from acquisition through December 31, 2002 (14) (183) @) (128) (311)
Balance December 31, 2002 6 67 2 372 439
Change in estimate (6) (67) 67 (124)
Utilized year ended December 31, 2003 (81) (81)
Balance December 31, 2003 2 234 234
Change in estimate 22) (22)
Utilized year ended December 31, 2004 2) 43) 43)
Balance December 31, 2004 $ $ 169 $ 169
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(21) LOSS ON REFINANCINGS

As further discussed in Notes 10 and 18, the Company previously had outstanding a $100.0 million three-year revolving credit facility (the
"Revolving Credit Facility"), $115.0 million of three-year non-amortizing term loans (the "Senior Loans"), $40.0 million of five-year
non-amortizing subordinated loans (the "Subordinated Loans"), Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value (the "Series C Preferred
Stock") and the related embedded derivative (the "Embedded Derivative") which reflected the right of the holders of the Series C Preferred
Stock to convert into the Company's common stock on the terms set forth in the Series C Preferred Stock. As described in Note 10, on June 30,
2004, the Company repaid the Revolving Credit Facility, the Senior Loans and the Subordinated Loans, redeemed the Series C Convertible
Preferred Stock and settled the related Embedded Derivative liability. The Company recorded refinancing expenses, net of $7.1 million during
the three-month period ended June 30, 2004. Such expenses consisted of write-off of deferred financing costs of $5.3 million, prepayment
penalties of $3.1 million and other expenses of $0.3 million. These expenses were partially offset by the gain on the settlement of the Embedded
Derivative of $1.6 million.

Prior to the purchase of the CSD assets as discussed in Notes 3, 4, and 11, the Company had outstanding prior to September 10, 2002,
$35.0 million of 16% Senior Subordinated Notes ("Subordinated Notes") and $9.6 million of 10.75% economic development revenue bonds
("Bonds"). The total cost of the extinguishment of that debt of approximately $24.7 million was recorded in 2002 and consisted of: (1) a "Make
Whole Amount" for the Subordinated Notes of approximately $17.0 million, (2) the defeasance costs on the Bonds of approximately
$3.1 million, and (3) the write-off of deferred financing costs for both the Subordinated Notes and the Bonds of approximately $4.6 million, of
which approximately $2.4 million represented a write-off of the then unamortized debt issue discount based on the fair value of warrants issued
in connection with the Subordinated Notes on April 30, 2001. The Company recorded this loss in the financial statements for the period ended
September 30, 2002. As described in Note 11 under "Litigation Involving Former Holders of Subordinated Notes," the Company has initiated
litigation against the former holders of the Subordinated Notes seeking to recover the "Make Whole Amount" as an unenforceable penalty under
Massachusetts case law.

(22) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
As part of the acquisition of the Canadian subsidiaries of the CSD from Safety-Kleen, the Company assumed responsibility for a defined

benefit plan that covers 31 active non-supervisory Canadian employees. The following table presents the net periodic pension cost for the years
ended December 31, (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Service cost $ 100 $ 80 $ 56
Interest cost 256 236 69
Expected return on fair value of assets (266) (285) (108)
Net amortization and deferral 57 (56)
Net periodic pension cost $ 90 $ 88 § 39)
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Weighted average assumptions used to determine net pension cost during the period:

Discount rate
Expected return on fair value of assets
Rate of compensation increase

rate-of-return-on-assets assumption remains unchanged.

2004 2003

2002

5.50% 5.75% 6.0%
7.00%  7.00% 7.0%
4.68% 4.17% 3.9%

The long-term rate-of-return-on-assets assumption was determined using a building-block method, which integrates historical inflation, real
risk-free rates and risk premiums for the different asset categories forming the plan fund. A weighted average of the above result and the
historical return of the plan's fund is then calculated. The current asset mix is assumed to remain constant and a 1% adjustment for investment
and custodial fees is taken into account. Unless the result so obtained is significantly different from the previous year assumption, the long-term

The accumulated benefit obligation was $5.0 million and $4.5 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The following table sets forth the changes in benefit obligations, plan assets and the net pension liability accrued on the Company's

consolidated balance sheets at December 31, (in thousands):

Change in benefit obligations:

Benefit obligation at the beginning of year
Service cost

Interest cost

Employee contributions

Actuarial loss

Benefits paid

Currency translation

Benefit obligation at end of year

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Employee contributions

Benefits paid

Currency translation

Fair value of plan assets at end of year

2004

2003

$ 4,505
100

256

29

42

(191)

351

$ 3,495
80

236

24

36

(161)

795

$ 5,092

2004

$ 4505

2003

$ 3,826
345

149

29

(191)

309

$ 2876
285

140

23

(161)

663

$ 4467

152
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2004 2003
Amount underfunded $ (625 $ (679
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 8 46
Unrecognized prior service cost
Currency translation 1
Pension liability accrued $ (616) $ (633)

Weighted average assumptions used to determine pension benefit obligations at year end:

2004 2003 2002

Discount rate 550% 5.75% 6.0%
Rate of compensation increase 4.68% 4.17% 3.9%

The Company's investment policy targets a 30% to 65% allocation to equity securities, a 25% to 55% allocation to debt securities, and a 0%
to 25% allocation to cash. The asset mix is frequently reviewed by the fund manager by examining the domestic and international
macroeconomic factors and relative valuation levels of equity versus fixed income markets as well as internal forecasts of interest rate trends.
The objective is to add value through longer-term asset mix positioning rather than short-term trading. The portfolio's volatility is kept to a
minimum by implementing only incremental asset mix changes. It is believed that this investment policy fits the long-term nature of pension
obligations.

The Company's weighted average asset allocations at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

2004 2003
Equity securities 51% 49%
Debt securities 39% 42%
Cash and cash equivalents 10% 9%
Total 100%  100%

The Company expects to contribute $161 thousand to this pension plan in 2005.

Benefit payments including those amounts to be paid out of corporate assets and reflecting future expected service as appropriate, are
expected to be paid as follows (in thousands):

2004
2005 $ 234
2006 236
2007 267
2008 275
2009 281
2010 2014 1,604

The Company has a profit-sharing plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code covering substantially all U.S. employees. The
plan allows employees to make contributions up to a specified percentage of their compensation. The Company makes discretionary partial
matching
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contributions dependent on meeting profit targets established annually by the Board of Directors. The Company recognized income of
$7 thousand for the plan in 2004 and expensed $438 thousand and $315 thousand for the plan in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

(23) SEGMENT REPORTING

Segment information has been prepared in accordance with SFAS No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information." The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.
Performance of the segments is evaluated on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is operating income before interest, taxes,
depreciation, amortization, restructuring, non-recurring severance charges, other non-recurring refinancing-related expenses, (gain) loss on
disposal of assets held for sale, other (income) expense, and loss of refinancings ("EBITDA Contribution"). Transactions between the segments
are accounted for at the Company's estimate of fair value based on similar transactions with outside customers. In general, SFAS No. 131
requires that business entities report selected information about operating segments in a manner consistent with that used for internal
management reporting.

The Company has two reportable segments: Technical Services and Site Services.

Technical Services include:

treatment and disposal of industrial wastes, which includes physical treatment, resource recovery and fuels blending,
incineration, landfills, wastewater treatment, lab chemical disposal and explosives management;

collection, transportation and logistics management;

categorization, specialized repackaging, treatment and disposal of laboratory chemicals and household hazardous wastes,
which are referred to as CleanPack® services; and

Apollo Onsite Services, which provide customized environmental programs at customer sites.

These services are provided through a network of service centers where a fleet of trucks, rail or other transport is dispatched to pick up
customers' waste either on a pre-determined schedule or on demand, and then to deliver waste to a permitted facility. From the service centers,
chemists can also be dispatched to a customer location for the collection of chemical waste for disposal.

Site Services provide highly skilled experts utilizing specialty equipment and resources to perform services, such as industrial maintenance,
surface remediation, groundwater restoration, site and facility decontamination, emergency response, site remediation, PCB disposal, oil
disposal, analytical testing services, information management services and personnel training. The Company offers outsourcing services for
customer environmental management programs as well, and provides analytical testing services, information management and personnel training
services.

The Company markets these services through its sales organizations and, in many instances, services in one area of the business support or
lead to work in other service lines. Expenses associated with the sales organizations are allocated based on external revenues by segment.
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The following table presents information used by management by reported segment. Revenues from Technical and Site Services consist
principally of external revenue from customers. Transactions between the segments are accounted for at the Company's estimate of fair value
based on similar transactions with outside customers. Corporate Items revenues consist of revenues for miscellaneous services that are not part
of a reportable segment. The Company does not allocate interest expense, income taxes, depreciation, amortization, accretion of environmental
liabilities, non-recurring severance charges, other non-recurring refinancing-related expenses, (gain) loss on disposal of assets held for sale,
other (income) expense, and loss on refinancings to segments. Certain reporting units have been reclassified to conform to the current year

presentation (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

(Restated) (Restated)
2004 2003 2002
Revenues:

Technical Services $ 444,617 $ 422,777  $ 220,085

Site Services 198,609 187,742 128,873

Corporate Items @) 450 1,175

Total 643,219 610,969 350,133
Cost of Revenues:

Technical Services 297,926 290,882 144,730

Site Services 159,042 148,196 101,773

Corporate Items 7,870 14,383 5,966

Total 464,838 453,461 252,469
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses:

Technical Services 48,748 48,585 26,627

Site Services 18,449 16,999 11,734

Corporate Items 36,440 41,472 23,157

Total 103,637 107,056 61,518
EBITDA.:

Technical Services 97,943 83,310 48,728

Site Services 21,118 22,547 15,366

Corporate Items (44,317) (55,405) (27,948)

Combined EBITDA Contribution 74,744 50,452 36,146
Reconciliation to Consolidated Statements of
Operations:

Depreciation and amortization 24,094 26,482 15,508

Accretion of environmental liabilities 10,394 11,114 1,199

Restructuring and non-recurring severance charges 25 1,250 750

Other non-recurring refinancing-related expenses 1,326

Gain on disposal of assets held for sale 479)

Other acquisition costs 5,406
Income from operations 39,384 11,606 13,283
Other (income) expense 1,345 94 (129)
Loss on refinancings 7,099 24,658
Interest expense, net 22,297 23,724 13,414
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 8643 $ (12,212)  $ (24,660)
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For the Year Ended December 31,
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Revenue, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets outside of the United States

For the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company derived approximately $557.8 million or 86.7% of revenues from customers located
in the United States and Puerto Rico, approximately $84.7 million or 13.2% of revenues from customers located in Canada, and less than 1.0%
of revenues from customers in Mexico. For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company derived approximately $540.7 million or 88.5% of
revenues from customers located in the United States and Puerto Rico, approximately $70.3 million or 11.5% of revenues from customers
located in Canada, and less than 1.0% of revenues from customers in Mexico. Prior to the acquisition of the CSD assets effective September 7,
2002, the Company derived substantially all of its revenues from environmental services provided to customers located in the United States and
Puerto Rico. Following the acquisition of the CSD assets, the Company derived approximately $32.6 million or 9.3% of 2002 revenues from
customers located in Canada.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had property, plant and equipment, net of depreciation and amortization of approximately
$180.5 million, and permits and other intangible assets of $99.5 million. Of these totals, approximately $23.5 million or 13.0% of long-lived
assets and $25.2 million or 25.3% of permits and other intangible assets were in Canada, with the balance being in the United States and Puerto
Rico (except for insignificant assets in Mexico).

The following table presents assets by reported segment and in the aggregate (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Property, plant & equipment, net
Technical Services $ 153,733  $ 138,467 $ 143,022
Site Services 10,475 12,215 16,911
Corporate or other assets 16,318 15,860 21,741

$ 180,526  $ 166,542 $ 181,674

Intangible assets:
Technical Services

Goodwill $ 18,884 $ 18,884 $ 18,884
Permits, net 77,419 76,214 90,381
Customer profile database, net 2,591 3,242 4,903

98,894 98,340 114,168

Site Services

Goodwill 148 148 148
Permits, net 433 329 364
Customer profile database, net 20 26 46
601 503 558
$ 99,495 $ 98,843 $ 114,726
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(24) QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

(in thousands except per share amounts)

2004
Revenues $ 142,757  $ 161,631 $ 162,650 $ 176,181
Cost of revenues 107,460 115,842 116,835 124,701
Income from operations 4,100 9,364 11,239 14,681
Other income (expense) 5,287 (6,635) (85) 88
(Loss) on refinancing (7,099)
Net income (loss) 2,817 (12,127) 4,441 7,469
Basic earnings (loss) per share 0.14 (1.63) 0.31 0.52
Diluted loss per share (0.08) (1.63) 0.25 0.42

(Restated)

Revised First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(in thousands except per share amounts)

2003
Revenues $ 142,305 $ 172,035 $ 151,085 $ 145,544
Cost of revenues 106,614 131,797 108,687 106,363
Income (loss) from operations (655) 280 6,456 5,525
Other income (expense) 17 162 8,755 (9,028)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of
income taxes 66
Net income (loss) (7,202) (6,799) 7,417 (11,016)
Basic earnings (loss) per share (0.60) (0.57) 0.48 (0.85)
Diluted loss per share (0.60) 0.57) (0.09) (0.85)

As further discussed in Note 2, "Restatement of Financial Statements" and in connection with the preparation of its financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company concluded that its previous methodology for estimating its self-insured workers compensation
and motor vehicle insurance claims resulted in an understatement of its self-insured liabilities. The correction of the errors resulted in a charge to
earnings in the fourth quarter of 2004 of $157 thousand or $(0.01) per basic and diluted share. The Company corrected the error for 2003 by
restating the fourth quarter, which resulted in an increase in the previously reported cost of revenues of $255 thousand or a decrease of $0.01 per
basic and diluted share.

As further discussed in Note 21, "Loss on Refinancings," in the second quarter of 2004, the Company refinanced its then outstanding debt,
redeemed its then outstanding Series C Preferred Stock and settled the related Embedded Derivative liability that resulted in net refinancing
costs of $7.1 million.

As further discussed in Note 18, "Redeemable Series C Preferred Stock," the Company had outstanding prior to June 30, 2004, 25,000
shares of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock which consisted of two components, namely, the Host Contract and an Embedded Derivative
which reflected the right of the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock to convert into the Company's common stock on the terms set forth in the
Series C Preferred Stock. The value of the Embedded Derivative was
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periodically marked to market which resulted in the inclusion of the following gains (losses) as a component of other income (expense):

Quarter Ended Amount

(in thousands)

2004
First $ 5,287
Second (6,877)
2003
First $ 17
Second 429
Third 8,748
Fourth 9,573)

Earnings per share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Due to this, the 2004 quarterly basic and diluted earnings
(loss) per share and the 2003 quarterly diluted loss per share do not equal the total computed for the year.

The Company revised results for the first quarter of 2003 to reflect an increase of $58 thousand in previously reported cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle, net of taxes. This change did not result in a change from previously reported basic and diluted loss per share of
$(0.60).

(25) GUARANTOR AND NON-GUARANTOR SUBSIDIARIES

As further described in Note 10, "Financing Arrangements," on June 30, 2004, $150.0 million of Senior Secured Notes were issued by the
parent company, Clean Harbors, Inc., and were guaranteed by all of the parent's material subsidiaries organized in the United States. The notes
are not guaranteed by the Company's Canadian and Mexican subsidiaries. The following presents condensed consolidating financial statements
for the parent company, the guarantor subsidiaries and the non-guarantor subsidiaries, respectively.

In addition, as part of the refinancing of the Company's debt, one of the parent's Canadian subsidiaries made a $91.7 million (U.S.)
investment in the preferred stock of one of the parent's domestic subsidiaries and issued, in partial payment for such investment, a promissory
note for $89.4 million (U.S.) payable to one of the parent's domestic subsidiaries. The dividend rate on such preferred stock is 11.125% per
annum and the interest rate on such promissory note is 11.0% per annum. The effect of this transaction was to increase stockholders' equity of a
U.S. guarantor subsidiary, to increase interest income of a U.S. guarantor subsidiary, to increase debt of a foreign non-guarantor subsidiary, and
to increase interest expense of a foreign non-guarantor subsidiary.
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Following is the condensed consolidating balance sheet at December 31, 2004 (in thousands):

Domestic Foreign
Clean U.S. Guarantor Non-Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 76 $ 20,984 $ $ 10,021 $ $ 31,081
Marketable securities 10,000 6,800 16,800
Accounts receivable, net 9 100,547 20,330 120,886
Unbilled accounts receivable 2,817 2,560 5,377
Intercompany receivables 17,139 8 6,050 (23,197)
Deferred costs 3,965 958 4,923
Prepaid expenses 2,951 9,957 499 13,407
Supplies inventories 9,656 662 10,318
Properties held for sale 8,849 8,849
Property, plant and
equipment, net 156,905 23,621 180,526
Deferred financing costs 8,935 15 8,950
Goodwill, net 19,032 19,032
Permits and other intangibles,
net 55,236 25,227 80,463
Investments in subsidiaries 133,504 44,385 91,654 (269,543)
Deferred tax asset 676 676
Intercompany note receivable 99,717 3,701 (103,418)
Other assets 1,560 1,854 3,414
Total assets $ 172,614 $ 540,410 $ 8 $ 187,828 $ (396,158) $ 504,702
Liabilities and Stockholders'
Equity:
Uncashed checks $ $ 4,769 $ $ 1,773 $ $ 6,542
Accounts payable 57,716 12,647 70,363
Accrued disposal costs 1,630 1,402 3,032
Deferred revenue 17,236 4,824 22,060
Other accrued expenses 8,675 28,890 3,489 41,054
Income taxes payable 1,078 310 914 2,302
Intercompany payables 23,197 (23,197)
Closure, post-closure and
remedial liabilities 166,211 15,057 181,268
Long-term obligations 148,122 148,122
Capital lease obligations 4,160 847 5,007
Other long-term liabilities 13,298 13,298
Intercompany note payable 3,701 99,717 (103,418)
Accrued pension cost 616 616
Total liabilities 161,576 304,119 154,584 (126,615) 493,664
Stockholders' Equity:
Series B convertible
preferred stock 1 1
Common stock 143 2,236 (2,236) 143
Additional paid-in capital 62,165 206,787 4,049 (210,836) 62,165
Accumulated other
comprehensive income 8,667 14,473 (1,632) (12,841) 8,667
Retained earnings (deficit) (59,938) 15,031 8 28,591 (43,630) (59,938)
Total stockholders'
equity 11,038 236,291 8 33,244 (269,543) 11,038
Total liabilities and stockholders'
equity $ 172,614 $ 540,410 $ 8 $ 187,828 $ (396,158) $ 504,702
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Domestic Foreign
Clean U.S. Guarantor Non-Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
I
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Following is the condensed consolidating balance sheet at December 31, 2003 (in thousands):

Domestic Foreign
Clean U.S. Guarantor Non-Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating (Restated)
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ $ 5313 $ 14 $ 1,004 $ $ 6,331
Accounts receivable, net 97,255 17,174 114,429
Unbilled accounts receivable 7,030 2,446 9,476
Intercompany receivables 2,056 305 213 (2,574)
Deferred costs 4,587 808 5,395
Prepaid expenses 1,597 6,699 286 8,582
Supplies inventories 8,522 496 9,018
Properties held for sale 12,690 12,690
Property, plant and equipment,
net 150,755 15,787 166,542
Restricted cash and cash
equivalents 88,817 88,817
Deferred financing costs 6,277 20 6,297
Goodwill, net 19,032 19,032
Permits and other intangibles,
net 58,840 20,971 79,811
Investments in subsidiaries 116,767 (116,767)
Intercompany note receivable 24,209 (24,209)
Deferred tax asset 6,772 6,772
Other assets 5,045 1,922 6,967
Total assets $ 215,514 $ 375,768 $ 319 $ 92,108 $ (143,550) $ 540,159
I
Liabilities, Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Stock
and Stockholders' Equity:
Uncashed checks $ $ 5,139 $ $ 844 $ $ 5,983
Revolving credit facility 33,493 1,798 35,291
Accounts payable 50,813 9,798 60,611
Accrued disposal costs 1,492 529 2,021
Deferred revenue 18,644 4,155 22,799
Other accrued expenses 1,710 29,250 17 2,880 33,857
Income taxes payable 203 221 2,199 2,623
Intercompany payables 2,574 (2,574)
Closure, post-closure and
remedial liabilities 169,191 13,940 183,131
Long-term obligations 147,209 147,209
Capital lease obligations 4,167 452 4,619
Other long-term liabilities 9,572 8,483 18,055
Intercompany note payable 24,209 (24,209)
Accrued pension cost 633 633
Total liabilities 192,187 305,700 17 45,711 (26,783) 516,832
Redeemable Series C Convertible
Preferred Stock 15,631 15,631
Stockholders' Equity:
Series B convertible
preferred stock 1 1
Common stock 139 300 (300) 139
Additional paid-in capital 63,642 90,413 24,987 (115,400) 63,642
Accumulated other
comprehensive income 6,452 6,452 (6,452) 6,452
Retained earnings (deficit) (62,538) (20,345) 2 14,958 5,385 (62,538)
Total stockholders'
equity 7,696 70,068 302 46,397 (116,767) 7,696
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Domestic Foreign
Clean U.S. Guarantor Non-Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating (Restated)
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
Total liabilities, redeemable
convertible preferred stock and
stockholders' equity $ 215,514 $ 375,768 $ 319 $ 92,108 $ (143,550) $ 540,159
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Following is the consolidating statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 (in thousands):

Domestic Foreign
Clean U.S. Guarantor Non-Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total

Revenues $ $ 530,124 $ 61 $ 129,056 $ (16,022) $ 643,219
Cost of revenues 395,727 12 85,072 (15,973) 464,838
Selling, general and
administrative expenses 35 82,980 43 21,500 49) 104,509
Accretion of environmental
liabilities 9,702 692 10,394
Depreciation and amortization 21,086 3,008 24,094
Income (loss) from operations 35) 20,629 6 18,784 39,384
Other income (expense) (1,590) 245 (1,345)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 35,761 7,843 (43,604)
(Loss) on refinancing (7,099) (7,099)
Intercompany dividend income
(expense) 5411 (5,411)
Intercompany interest income
(expense) 5,223 (5,223)
Interest (expense), net (23,475) 1,478 (300) (22,297)
Income (loss) before provision
for income taxes 3,562 35,418 6 18,672 (49,015) 8,643
Provision for income taxes 962 42 5,039 6,043
Net income (loss) $ 2,600 $ 35,376 $ 63 13,633 $ (49,015) $ 2,600

I

Following is the consolidating statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2003 (in thousands):
Domestic Foreign
Clean U.S. Guarantor Non-Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating (Restated)
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total

Revenues $ $ 509,266 $ 50 $ 116,393 $ (14,740) $ 610,969
Cost of revenues 393,334 8 74,804 (14,685) 453,461
Selling, general and
administrative expenses 314 86,852 54 21,265 (55) 108,430
Accretion of environmental
liabilities 10,558 556 11,114
Depreciation and amortization 22,401 4,081 26,482
Restructuring (124) (124)
Income (loss) from operations (314) (3,755) (12) 15,687 11,606
Other income (expense) 94) 94)
Equity in earnings of
subsidiaries 4,982 (4,982)
Interest (expense), net (22,167) (1,301) (256) (23,724)
Income (loss) before provision
for income taxes and cumulative
effect of change in accounting
principle (17,593) (5,056) (12) 15,431 (4,982) (12,212)
Provision for income taxes 7 182 “4) 5,137 5,322
Income (loss) before cumulative
effect of change in accounting
principle (17,600) (5,238) ) 10,294 (4,982) (17,534)
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle, net of tax 169 (103) 66
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Domestic Foreign
Clean U.S. Guarantor Non-Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating (Restated)
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
Net income (loss) $ (17,600) $ (5,407) $ ®)$ 10,397 $ (4,982) $ (17,600)
I
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Following is the consolidating statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002 (in thousands):

Revenues

Cost of revenues

Selling, general and
administrative expenses
Accretion of environmental
liabilities

Depreciation and amortization
Restructuring

Other acquisition costs

Income from operations
Other income (expense)
(Loss) on refinancing
Equity in earnings of
subsidiaries

Interest (expense), net

Income (loss) before provision
for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net income (loss)
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Domestic Foreign
Clean U.S. Guarantor Non-Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating (Restated)
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total

$ 317,311 $ 50 $ 35,926 $ (3,154) $ 350,133

232,835 3 22,738 (3,107) 252,469

166 56,335 47 5,017 (47) 61,518

1,147 52 1,199

14,621 887 15,508

750 750

5,406 5,406

(166) 6,217 7,232 13,283

129 129
(21,266) (3,392) (24,658)

6,037 (6,037)

(13,231) (182) [€))] (13,414)
(28,497) 2,643 7,231 (6,037) (24,660)

(50) 1,167 2,670 3,787

(28,447) $ 1,476 $ $ 4,561 $ (6,037) $ (28,447)
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Following is the condensed consolidating statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2004 (in thousands):

Net cash (used in)
provided by
operating activities $

Cash flows from investing
activities:
Additions to property, plant
and equipment
Cost of restricted investments
purchased
Proceeds from sales of
restricted investments
Purchases of marketable
securities
Sales of marketable securities
Proceeds from sale of fixed
assets
Increase in permits
Investment in subsidiaries

Net cash (used in)
provided by
investing activities

Cash flows from financing
activities:
Repayments on Senior Loans
Issuance of Senior Secured
Notes
Net repayments under
revolving credit facility
Redemption of Series C
Preferred Stock
Change in uncashed checks
Proceeds from exercise of
stock options
Dividend payments on
preferred stock
Deferred financing costs
incurred
Proceeds from employee
stock purchase plan
Payments of capital leases
Repayment of Subordinated
Loans
Intercompany note
Issuance of preferred stock
Debt extinguishment
payments
Cash paid in lieu of warrants

Net cash (used in)
provided by
financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Effect of exchange rate change
on cash

Foreign
Clean U.S. Guarantor Non-Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Total

30,062 $ 51,040 $ (14) $ 14,976 $ (43,604) $ 52,460
(21,017) (5,326) (26,343)
(4,390 (4,390)
93,207 93,207
(80,925) (9,800) (90,725)
70,925 3,000 73,925
2,184 2,184
(227) (227)

(35,761) (7,843) (90,320) 133,924
43,056 (33,703) (95,646) 133,924 47,631
(107,209) (107,209)
148,045 148,045
(33,492) (1,676) (35,168)
(25,000) (25,000)
(370) 789 419
386 386
(2,187) (2,187)
(10,289) (10,289)
487 487
(1,296) (180) (1,476)
(40,000) (40,000)

(90,320) 90,320

90,320 (90,320)
(3,420) (3,420)
(363) (363)
(73,042) (1,666) 89,253 (90,320) (75,775)
76 15,671 (14) 8,583 24,316
434 434
5,313 14 1,004 6,331
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Domestic Foreign
Clean U.S. Guarantor Non-Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
Cash and cash equivalents,
beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end
of year $ 76 $ 20,984 $ $ 10,021 $ $ 31,081
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Following is the condensed consolidating statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2003 (in thousands):

Domestic Foreign
Clean U.S. Guarantor Non-Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
Net cash (used in)
provided by operating
activities $ 19,279 $ 6,447 $ ®)$ 18,121 $ (4,982) $ 38,857
Cash flows from investing
activities:
Acquisition of CSD assets 7,890 7,890
Additions to property, plant
and equipment (32,186) (2,646) (34,832)
Cost of restricted investments
purchased (34,881) (34,881)
Investment in subsidiaries (4,982) 4,982
Proceeds from sales of
restricted investments 6,317 256 6,573
Proceeds from sale of fixed
assets 2,239 13 2,252
Net cash (used in)
provided by investing
activities (25,656) (29,691) (2,633) 4,982 (52,998)
Cash flows from financing
activities:
Repayments on Senior Loans (7,791) (7,791)
Net borrowings under
revolving credit facility 15,784 1,666 17,450
Intercompany notes 24,209 (24,209)
Change in uncashed checks (2,094) 782 (1,312)
Proceeds from exercise of
stock options 520 520
Dividend payments on
preferred stock (974) (974)
Deferred financing costs
incurred (1,704) (23) (1,727)
Proceeds from employee stock
purchase plan 542 542
Payments on capital leases (789) (50) (839)
Net cash (used in)
provided by financing
activities 6,377 21,326 (21,834) 5,869

Decrease in cash and cash
equivalents (1,918) (8) (6,346) (8,272)
Effect of exchange rate change on

cash 921 921

Cash and cash equivalents,

beginning of year 7,231 22 6,429 13,682

Cash and cash equivalents, end of

year $ $ 5313 § 143 1,004 $ $ 6,331
I
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Following is the condensed consolidating statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2002 (in thousands):

Net cash (used in)
provided by
operating activities

Cash flows from investing
activities:
Acquisition of CSD assets
Additions to property, plant
and equipment

Cost of restricted investments

purchased

Investment in subsidiaries
Proceeds from sales of
restricted investments
Proceeds from sale of fixed
assets

Net cash (used in)

provided by investing

activities

Cash flows from financing
activities:
Issuance of Senior Loans
Net borrowings under
revolving credit facility

Issuance of preferred stock and

embedded derivative
Issuance costs of preferred
stock

Payments on long-term
obligations

Change in uncashed checks
Proceeds from exercise of
stock options

Dividend payments on
preferred stock

Deferred financing costs
incurred

Proceeds from employee stock

purchase plan

Issuance of Subordinated
Loans

Repayment of Subordinated
Notes

Borrowings on Term Notes

Debt extinguishment payments

Net cash provided by

financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Effect of exchange rate change on

cash
Cash and cash equivalents,
beginning of year

Foreign
Clean U.S. Guarantor Non-Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Total

(13,421) $ 15,692 $ M|ms 9,416 $ (6,037) $ 5,649
(34,330) (7,415) (2,472) (44,217)
(11,981) (479) (12,460)
(60,256) (60,256)

(6,037) 6,037
792 792
402 402
(100,623) (18,202) (2,951) 6,037 (115,739)
115,000 115,000
17,709 17,709
25,000 25,000
(2.891) (2,891)
(21,424) (21,424)
3,049 3,049
982 982
(536) (536)
(8,222) (8,222)
274 274
40,000 40,000
(35,000) (35,000)
3,200 3,200
(20,048) (20,048)
114,044 3,049 117,093
539 (€9) 6,465 7,003
(36) (36)
6,692 23 6,715
$ 7,231 $ 22 % 6,429 $ $ 13,682
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Domestic Foreign
Clean U.S. Guarantor Non-Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Harbors, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Adjustments Total
Cash and cash equivalents, end of
year
I
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CLEAN HARBORS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE I1

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

For the Three Years Ended December 31, 2004

(in thousands)

Additions
Balance Charged to Deductions Balance
Beginning Operating From End of
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Of Period Expense Reserves(a) Period
2002 1,698 842 152 2,388
2003 2,388 2,439 1,255 3,572
2004 3,572 1,232 1,081 3,723
(@

Amounts deemed uncollectible, net of recoveries.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's management, including the Chief Executive Officer and its Chief
Financial Officer, management evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under
Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Based on that evaluation, the Company's Chief Executive
Officer and its Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at the reasonable
assurance level as of December 31, 2004 because of the material weakness discussed below. In light of the material weakness described below,
the Company performed additional analysis and other post-closing procedures to ensure its consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, management believes that the financial statements included in this
Form 10-K fairly present in all material respects the Company's financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as that term
is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's management, including the
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of its internal control over financial reporting

based on the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a
material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. As of December 31, 2004, the Company
did not maintain effective controls over the completeness and accuracy of its self-insured workers' compensation and motor vehicle liability
reserves and the associated provisions. Specifically, the Company did not have effective controls over estimating and monitoring self-insured
workers' compensation and motor vehicle reserves. This control deficiency resulted in the restatement of the Company's consolidated financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, the restatement of the quarterly data for the fourth quarter ended December 31,
2003, as well as an audit adjustment in the 2004 financial statements. Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a misstatement of
workers' compensation and motor vehicle liability reserves and the associated provisions that would result in a material misstatement to annual
or interim financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, management determined that this control deficiency
constituted a material weakness as of December 31, 2004. Because of this material weakness, management has concluded that the Company did

not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 based on the criteria in the Internal Control-Integrated
Framework.

Management's assessment of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except as otherwise discussed herein, there have not been any changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting, as such
term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act during the Company's fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2004 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Remediation of Material Control Weaknesses

In order to remediate the control weakness in the Company's internal control over financial reporting described above, the Company is now
using an actuarial-based method for estimating its reserves for self-insured workers' compensation and motor vehicle liability reserves.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

The Company's management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that the Company's
disclosure controls and procedures or the Company's internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Further, the design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations of controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART III

Except for the information set forth below under Item 12 with respect to securities authorized for issuance under the registrant's equity
compensation plans, the information called for by Item 10 (Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant), Item 11 (Executive
Compensation), Item 12 (Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters), Item 13
(Certain Relationships and Related Transactions), and Item 14 (Principal Accountant Fees and Services) is incorporated herein by reference to
the registrant's definitive proxy statement for its 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which definitive proxy statement was filed with the
Commission on April 15, 2005.

For the purpose of calculating the aggregate market value of the voting stock of the registrant held by nonaffiliates as shown on the cover
page of this report, it has been assumed that the directors and executive officers of the registrant, as will be set forth in the Company's definitive
proxy statement for its 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, are the only affiliates of the registrant. However, this should not be deemed to
constitute an admission that all of such persons are, in fact, affiliates or that there are not other persons who may be deemed affiliates of the
registrant.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

In addition to the information about the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related stockholder matters
which is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement for the Company's 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
the following table includes information as of December 31, 2004 regarding shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the
Company's equity compensation plans. The Company's stockholders previously approved each of the plans.

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under

Number of securities to equity compensation

be issued upon exercise Weighted-average exercise plans (excluding

of outstanding options, price of outstanding options, securities reflected in
Plan Category warrants and rights(a) warrants and rights(b) column (a))(c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders(1) 1,635,768 $ 8.28 207,581

ey
Includes (i) the Company's 1987 Equity Incentive Plan (the "1987 Plan") which expired in 1997, but under which there were
outstanding options on December 31, 2004 for an aggregate of 31,750 shares, (ii) the Company's 1992 Equity Incentive Plan (the
"1992 Plan") which expired in 2002, but under which there were outstanding options on December 31, 2004 for an aggregate of
401,265 shares, and (iii) the Company's 2000 Equity Incentive Plan under which there were outstanding options on December 31,
2004 for an aggregate of 1,202,753 shares and 207,581 shares were available for grant of future options.

In addition, in May of 1995, the Company's stockholders approved an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"), which is a qualified
employee stock purchase plan under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, through which the Company's employees
were given the opportunity to purchase shares of common stock at 85% of the lower of the market price at the beginning and end of each
quarter. On December 31, 2004, there were 132,480 shares reserved for future issuance under the ESSP.

Note 22 to the financial statements appearing in Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K presents further information about the plans
summarized above.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents Filed as a Part of this Report

1.  Financial Statements:
Report of Independent Auditors
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2004
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2004
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2004
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2.  Financial Statement Schedule:

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2004
All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, not required, or because the required information is included in the

financial statements or notes thereto.

Exhibits:

Exhibits to this annual report on Form 10-K have been included only with the copies of the Form 10-K filed with the Securities and

Page

87
89
91
92
94
96
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Exchange Commission. Upon request to the Company and payment of a reasonable fee, copies of the individual exhibits will be furnished. The
Company undertakes to furnish to the Commission upon request copies of instruments (in addition to the exhibits listed below) relating to the
Company's acquisitions and long-term debt.

Item No. Description Location

2.1 Acquisition Agreement by and between Safety-Kleen Services, Inc., as Seller, and (1)
Clean Harbors, Inc., as Purchaser, dated as of February 22, 2002

2.2 First Amendment to Acquisition Agreement by and between Safety-Kleen 2)
Services, Inc., as Seller, and Clean Harbors, Inc., as Purchaser, dated as of
March 8, 2002

2.3 Second Amendment to Acquisition Agreement by and between Safety-Kleen 3)
Services, Inc. as Seller, and Clean Harbors, Inc. as Purchaser, dated as of
April 30, 2002

2.4 Third Amendment to Acquisition Agreement by and between Safety-Kleen 4)
Services, Inc., as Seller, and Clean Harbors, Inc., as Purchaser, dated as of
September 6, 2002

2.5 Fourth Amendment to Acquisition Agreement by and between Safety-Kleen (5)
Services, Inc., as Seller and Clean Harbors, Inc., as Purchaser, dated as of July 14,
2003

3.1 Restated Articles of Organization of Clean Harbors, Inc. and amendments thereto (6)

3.2 Certificate of Vote of Directors Establishing a Series of a Class of Stock (Series B @)
Convertible Preferred Stock)

34A Amended and Restated By-Laws of Clean Harbors, Inc. ®)
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Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 30, 2004 by and among Credit
Suisse First Boston as Administrative Agent under the LC Facility, Fleet Capital
Corporation as Administrative Agent and Sole Arranger under the Revolving
Facility, Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P. as Syndication Agent under the LC
Facility, Credit Suisse First Boston as Documentation Agent under the LC
Facility, Credit Suisse First Boston and Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P. as
Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Lead Bookrunners under the LC Facility, the other
financial institutions party thereto from time to time as Lenders, Clean Harbors,
Inc. and the subsidiaries of Clean Harbors, Inc. party thereto as Borrowers and the
Guarantors named therein as Guarantors

Amendment No. 1 to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of July 20, 2004 by
and among Credit Suisse First Boston as Administrative Agent under the LC
Facility, Fleet Capital Corporation as Administrative Agent and Sole Arranger
under the Revolving Facility, Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P. as Syndication
Agent under the LC Facility, Credit Suisse First Boston as Documentation Agent
under the LC Facility, Credit Suisse First Boston and Goldman Sachs Credit
Partners L.P. as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Lead Bookrunners under the LC
Facility, the other financial institutions party thereto from time to time as Lenders,
Clean Harbors, Inc. and the subsidiaries of Clean Harbors, Inc. party thereto as
Borrowers and the Guarantors named therein as Guarantors

Security Agreement dated as of June 30, 2004 among Clean Harbors, Inc., various
subsidiaries of Clean Harbors, Inc., U.S. Bank National Association as trustee for
the Second Lien Note Creditors and Credit Suisse First Boston as Collateral
Agent and LC Facility Administrative Agent

Purchase Agreement dated as of June 17, 2004 by and among Credit Suisse First
Boston LLC, Goldman, Sachs & Co., and Clean Harbors, Inc. and the subsidiaries
of Clean Harbors, Inc. party thereto

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 30, 2004 by and among Credit
Suisse First Boston LLC, Goldman Sachs & Co., and Clean Harbors, Inc. and the
subsidiaries of Clean Harbors, Inc. party thereto

Indenture dated as of June 30, 2004 by and among Clean Harbors, Inc., the
Guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association as Trustee

Stock Purchase Agreement among Clean Harbors, Inc., Southdown
Environmental Treatment Systems, Inc. and Southdown, Inc. dated as of June 23,
1992

Stock Purchase Agreement among Clean Harbors, Inc., Southdown
Environmental Treatment Systems, Inc. and Southdown, Inc. dated as of
February 16, 1993

Clean Harbors, Inc. 1992 Equity Incentive Plan

Asset Purchase Agreement among Clean Harbors of Chicago, Inc., Clean
Harbors, Inc., CWM Chemical Services, Inc. and Chemical Waste Management,
Inc. dated as of January 30, 1995

Asset Purchase Agreement among Clean Harbors Technology Corporation, Clean
Harbors Inc. and Ecova Corporation dated as of March 31, 1995

Disposal Services Agreement by and between Chemical Waste Management, Inc.
and its subsidiary and affiliated companies and Clean Harbors Environmental
Services, Inc. and its affiliated companies dated as of October 31, 1995
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Clean Harbors, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan

Standard form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for employees

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for employees who are principal
executive officers

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for non-employee directors
Key Employee Retention Plan

Master Waste Disposal Agreement dated as of September 10, 2002 by and
between Safety-Kleen Services, Inc., and Clean Harbors Environmental Services,
Inc.

Bill of Sale and Assignment dated as of September 10, 2002 by Safety-Kleen
Services, Inc. and its Subsidiaries named therein, as Sellers, and Clean Harbors,
Inc., as Purchaser, and its Subsidiaries named therein, as Purchasing Subs
Assumption Agreement made as of September 10, 2002 by Clean Harbors, Inc. in
favor of Safety-Kleen Services, Inc. and its Subsidiaries named therein

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant expiring September 10, 2009
Investors Rights Agreement among Clean Harbors, Inc. and the initial holders of
Common Stock Purchase Warrants expiring September 10, 2009, dated as of
June 30, 2004

Subsidiaries

Consent of Independent Accountants

Power of Attorney for John D. Barr, John P. DeVillars, John F. Kaslow, Daniel J.
McCarthy, John T. Preston, Andrea Robertson, Thomas J. Shields and Lorne R.
Waxlax

Rule 13a-14a/15d-14(a) Certifications

Section 1350 Certifications

)

@

3

C)

&)

Q)

O]

®

®

Incorporated by reference to the similarly numbered exhibit to the Company's Form 8-K filed on February 27, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to the similarly numbered exhibit to the Company's Form 10-K Annual Report for the Year ended

December 31, 2001.

(14)
Filed herewith
Filed herewith

Filed herewith

15)
)

)

)

©
Filed herewith

Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith

Filed herewith
Filed herewith

Incorporated by reference to the similarly numbered exhibit to the Company's Form 10-Q Quarterly Report for the Quarterly Period
ended March 31, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to the similarly numbered exhibit to the Company's Form 8-K dated September 10, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to the similarly numbered exhibit to the Company's Form 10-Q Quarterly Report for the Quarterly Period
ended June 30, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Form S-1 Registration Statement (No. 33-17565).

Incorporated by reference to the similarly numbered exhibit to the Company's Form 10-K Annual Report for the Year ended

December 31, 1992.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4A to the Company's Form 10-K Annual Report for the Fiscal Year Ended February 28, 1991.

Incorporated by reference to the similarly numbered exhibit to the Company's Form 10-Q Quarterly Report for the Quarterly Period
ended June 30, 2004.
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Incorporated by reference to the similarly numbered exhibit to the Company's Form 10-K Annual Report for the Year ended
December 31, 1993.

Incorporated by reference to the similarly numbered exhibit to the Company's Form 10-K Annual Report for the Year ended
December 31, 1994.

Incorporated by reference to the similarly numbered exhibit to the Company's Form 10-Q Quarterly Report for the Quarterly Period
Ended June 30, 1995.

Incorporated by reference to the similarly numbered exhibit to the Company's Form 10-K Annual Report for the Year ended
December 31, 1995.

Incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 28, 2000.

Incorporated by reference to the similarly numbered exhibit to the Company's Form 10-Q Quarterly Report for the Quarterly Period
ended March 31, 1999.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this amended
annual report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on March 31, 2005.

CLEAN HARBORS, INC.

By: /s/ ALAN S. MCKIM

Alan S. McKim

Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this amended annual report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ ALAN S. MCKIM
Chairman Of The Board Of Directors, President and

Chief Executive Officer

April 29, 2005
Alan S. McKim

/s/ MARK S. BURGESS

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer April 29, 2005
Mark S. Burgess
/s/ CARL D. PASCHETAG
Treasurer, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer April 29, 2005
Carl D. Paschetag
k
Director April 29, 2005
John D. Barr
%k
Director April 29, 2005
John P. Devillars
&
Director April 29, 2005
John F. Kaslow
%
Director April 29, 2005
Daniel J. McCarthy
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John T. Preston

Director

Andrea Robertson

Director

Thomas J. Shields

Director

Lorne R. Waxlax

*By: /s/ ALAN S. MCKIM

Director

Alan S. McKim
Attorney-In-Fact
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April 29, 2005

April 29, 2005

April 29, 2005

April 29, 2005
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